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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHE

Dear Shareholders:

For the past few decades, the state has been strongly enhancing
environmental protection awareness, improving ecological conditions, and
encouraging the industry development through various policies
stimulations. By such continuous efforts, China achieved significant and
remarkable accomplishments in air quality, water quality, soil conservation,
waste management, and various forms of resource utilisation. In line with
the national promotion of *“dual carbon,” the upcoming trend in
environmental protection industries will not only be the conversion from
asset-based approach to technological innovation, but also requiring of
how to integrate green and low-carbon emission concepts, so as to
facilitate carbon reduction, pollution control, and enhance sustainability.

The Group was fortune that we were able to explore and explore to the
new energy materials business 2 years ago. Our subsidiary, Shenzhen
Huamingsheng, commenced operations during the Year, where it also
established an associate, Hantang Minsheng, with an upstream supplier in
July 2023. Particularly, the establishment of Hantang Mingsheng recorded
a gain of approximately HK$52,946,000 as a result of injection of
patented technologies into Hantang Mingsheng by Shenzhen
Huamingsheng. Hantang Mingsheng was under setup stage and it is
anticipated to commence operations in the year ending 31 March 2025.
Upon Hantang Mingsheng’s commencing business, the Group’s positioning
in anode materials industry will be further being improved, and also build-
up a steady supply in the core raw materials supply. In addition to
continuous global demand in new energy for clean and energy
efficiencies, we remain confidence of our development in anode materials
market even though there would be new comers and drop in material
costs in the industry.

BAIRR

BTER BFBEZRBRRA  RARGR
REH NEERGELEBERXER BB
WEH TREEZREE KE - LERF E
MEEMEBEANERNBEF T ENGEZE
R - BEEBRRER iR BER  REREERRK
MERBEZTNMEERANEESEMN T AER
A alF - BE 2K S BRI SR
AR MR EOREE - FE )5 0 38 58 A £
BER -

REBBEZRWMERREZMERM B ER - &
PR BRARIRYZERBRAFERAEE
WR2023F7 A BB BRI & A RERE
AR e REE  ARRIIZERBRZEERBEA
ERBEM ZEABARLELERED
52,946,000/ 7 < EERAB ERA K IEER - 78
SR E E2025F3A31H I FERKEE - &
EHBRER AEELEGEMETENMA
BISEI#E —FRA - R IR %0 R R
PREIBTEMRE BT BERYERER KA
FEERNBET I EaBMHETEET
BT ES  MERATE TR RADAY
BBMETSNERTRED



Looking ahead, the Group will continue to stay at post for strengthening
the overall operational efficiency, while actively exploring capturing
business opportunities in the coming year. The Group remains steadfast in
its commitment to its long-term business plan in Hong Kong and the PRC,
with a strong focus on sustainable development of the Group and creating
values to our shareholders.

We would like to take this opportunity to convey our gratitude to all staff

members for their unwavering commitment, dedication, and valuable
contribution. We would also like to extend the heartfelt appreciation to
our business partners and shareholders for their unfailing support. With
confidence, we look forward to the Group’s prospects and its ability to

accomplish exceptional milestones in the years to come.

Zhu Yongjun
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENmKR D

The Group is principally engaged in (i) provision of foundation works, civil
engineering contractual service and general building works (the
“Construction Business”); and (ii) environmental protection projects
including kitchen waste treatment related business, development and
management of environmental protection industrial park and new energy
materials in Mainland China (the “Environmental Protection Business”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

1 Construction Business
During the Year, revenue generated from construction segment was
approximately HK$511.3 million, representing an increase of 16.7%
from approximately HK$438.2 million for FY2023. The increase was
mainly attributable to the increase of the number of sizable projects
undertaken by the Group during the Year.

The overall gross profit margin of the construction business
decreased to approximately 4.0% (FY2023: 5.0%). Such decrease
was due to delay in progress for a particular project and overall
lower gross margin for newly awarded projects.

Revenue from this segment is generated from both public and
private sector projects with approximately 86.4% of the segment
revenue contributed by the foundation projects in public sectors. Out
of the total segment revenue of HK$511.3 million, the key
contributors was foundation project in Mei Tung Estate contributing
approximately HK$424.9 million during the Year.

AEBEETZREONVEEHLETE TATEAD
RER—BREFTE(ZEER]): Ri)ETEH
NEIRRIAE - BREEFNREEEEER
MEREEBRARIFZBERFERDE (REE
%) e

¥ )]

I BERER
RAEE BEEHI>BEEHNBADNE
511,300,000 JT ' 20238 B F & %
438,200,000/ 70 1N16.7% - :ZIBINE S
EHRAFERNRNEERBH KNEIEE &
B 1% hnFT K -

BEXEBMNEREENETREN40%
(20238 LFE : 5.0% ) ° &% NB& Ty A
THENMESTERFTEREINERE
F R EAKPTE ©

o BHRAREAFLEEE EH 4
86.4%FE ANEMEIEE - BH U A
511,300,000/ TH - EZH R B ERTLE
HEIEE - RAF E H B 49424,900,0007%8
=



The Group has completed a total of 7 projects in FY2024 (FY2023:
4 projects) and secured 7 new projects (FY2023: 2 new projects)
during the Year with aggregated contract value of approximately
HK$313.8 million (FY2023: approximately HK$957.3 million). All new
projects secured during the Year had commenced construction, and
3 out of 7 new projects was completed during the Year. As at
31 March 2024, 5 projects were in progress (FY2023: 2 projects in
progress). Details of the completed projects and the projects in

progress are set out as follows:

20245 FH AIXEE(ER)ARAA

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HE):

ERENHRAN

R2024 B [ - A& B & 2L 5wk 7E 18
B (0238 BREE : 4EAER) » MR KE
EEE7E 8B (20238 B EE : 2@
A #) 48 {8 #) /313,800,000 7T
(20238 R & £ : #9957,300,0007 7T ) ° Fff
ERAFEENEBHNFHEECEH T K7E
FHEEH MEERAEEET - 1R2024
F3H318 A51E £ # 18 B (202381 B &

B 2AERZERB) ExKEE RERR
BHFEBEHINMT

Completed projects THIEHB
Name of project Location Sector Main category of work
IEEH & Hh B L ITEREEHE
1 Wang Chiu Road Project Wang Chiu Road Phase 1, Foundation Construction of Bored Pile, SHP,
Kowloon Bay ELS and Pile Cap Works
LREIEE NEERREH Hh B B FLIE - SHP - 298 (A 38 X 7 A
MEBEIRERET
2 Mount Parker Road 2-16 Mount Parker Road, Foundation Site Formation Works
Project North point
R ILEEE b A4 L E2-165% & AR TR TIR
3 Chong San Road Project 3W, Building 6W and Foundation Construction of SHP
Chong San Road
A% 3% 18 B Bl ¥ BE3W K 6W K 12 b SHP#E T
4 Hung To Road Project 33 Hung To Road Foundation Construction of Bored Pile exclude
GIFW
S IE B % [El 3357 Hh & BIE(TBERS T
B8 b T
E5 Kai Tak Development Kai Tak, Kowloon Foundation Construction of Mini-pile and
Project Shear Pile
REERER NBERE Hh B MEBE R EET
6 Fanling Bypass Eastern Fanling Bypass Eastern Foundation Construction of Mini-pile and
Section Project Section (Shung Him Tong Shear Pile
to Kau Lung Hang)
MEHEERER TR MEZEERR (ZERER Hh B MELRE RIS T
BESL)
7 Lamma Power Station Lamma Island Foundation Construction of Interlock Pipe Pile
Extension project and Sheet Pile
MY REREZIER EYS Hh B Bt 5H B MR B e T

7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Projects in Progress

##EH

Name of project Location Sector Main category of work
IEB & Hh Bh s ITEEEHH
1 Mei Tung Estate Project Mei Tung Estate (Older Foundation Construction of Bored Pile, Site
Part),180 Tung Tau Formation, ELS and Pile Cap
Tsuen Road, Kowloon Works
City
ERIPIE A HE I 2R B8 A 2818055 & EBILE MR TE - BHE
ERB(REHNS) KA 38 X LA R B TE TR T
2 Hospital Road Project 7 Hospital Road Foundation Construction of Bored Pile, Site
Formation and Pile Cap Works
BftEEE EPTiE75% 3 E AL R TEURBEIR
Jte T
i3 Shek Li Street Project Shek Li Street Foundation Construction of ELS and Pile Cap
Works
AREIE B AR & ZHE Kk AE X E R EE TR T
4 Kwun Tong Action Area Kwun Tong Foundation Construction of Mini-piles
Project
BiErTERIER g Hh E MELHE b T
5 Ngau Tau Kok Project No. 45-79, Ting Fu Street, Foundation Construction of Bored Pile,
Ngau Tau Kok Excavation, Lateral Supports and
Pile Cap Works
4SEAIER 458 A F B 1545-79%% Hh E BELE - B  AI2 R ARIER

Project newly secured by the Group during the Year.

Environmental Protection Business

The Environmental Protection Business involves:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

kitchen waste treatment related business;

industrial park; and

new energy materials.

development and management of environmental protection

Ti#EET
# AEBRANFEHFELNEAR o

Il RIRER
RIRERH K

(i) BENREEMEBEES:

(i) FAHREREERFRIEE:R

(iiiy  FrEEIRMEL o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the Year, the Group’s revenue from the Environmental
Protection Business increased by approximately 9.3% to
approximately HK$117.0 million (FY2023: approximately HK$107.0
million). Discussion and analysis on the business performances are
set out below.

1. Kitchen waste treatment related business
Revenue generated from kitchen waste treatment related
business comprises (i) construction revenue from BOT projects
under construction; and (ii) income from operating plants
including government subsidy for kitchen waste treatment and
sale of by-products including used-cooking oil produced during
the process of kitchen waste treatment.

During the Year, revenue generated from kitchen waste
treatment amounted to approximately HK$74.3 million
(FY2023: approximately HK$107.0 million). Such decrease was
mainly attributable to the construction revenue of Xuancheng
Plant.

Set out below are the developments of each of the kitchen
waste plants of the Group during the Year:

(i) Hefei Plant
Hefei Feifan Bio Technology Co., Ltd.* (& EIE L AW
AR AT (“Hefei Plant”) was 60%-owned by the
Group and is operated under the BOT model with a
planned capacity of 200 tons per day.

G BESEY

RAEE  AEERBIRRERH WA E
HN#99.3% Z #9117,000,0005% 7T (202387 I¢
& [Z : 49107,000,0007 JT) ° ¥ 7% K IBH
SRR MER T e

1. EEFNREEHEMER
BRI IREEEBAEREENBA
B 1E()3E B £ #BOTIE B My 2 £ K
A Ry £ ZBEEHRA (B1E
BEIEERFNRAEE#EEIARER
NREEREBABPIELIERNBRE
BERBHAEESRE) -

RAFEE - BRI E £ IR
A 7 #974,300,00058 7T (202387 B 4
€ : #9107,000,0005 7T) » A @R 4
DEZREERBEMNIRIKE -

TXEINAKEE EE KA A
RAFEHER

(i) ABHEEHA
BREIELEDREARR A
([EREBEDHASEEES
60%HE %5 LABOTHE R & & -
st 3R 32 2 A S K200MF o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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(i)

As disclosed in the 2022 and 2023 annual reports, the
Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
dated 21 February 2022 for acquisition for the
remaining 40% equity interests in Hefei Plant at a
consideration of RMB38.5 million (approximately
HK$43.75 million) from the non-controlling
shareholders, and such acquisition was completed during
the Year, and Hefei Plant became wholly-owned by the
Group as at 31 March 2024.

The capacity of Hefei Plant was around 200 tons per day
in March 2024.

Xuancheng Plant

Xuancheng Xichong Biological Technology Co., Ltd.* (&
T PR A W R B R A 8]) (“Xuancheng Plant”) is a
limited liability company established in the PRC and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The total
planned capacity of Xuancheng Plant is 300 tons per day
upon completion of its construction which will be
carried out in 2 phases. The service concession
agreement was entered with Xuancheng Urban
Management and Law Enforcement* & 3 T 5 T & 2 4%
A% B for a period of 30 years under BOT model in
August 2021.

Construction of Phase 1 of Xuancheng Plant was
principally completed during the year ended 31 March
2023.

During the Year, Xuancheng Plant was granted for
commencement for trial commercial operation.

The treatment volume of Xuancheng Plant gradually
increased to 100 tons per day in March 2024.

(i)

Q020224 K20234F & 3R AT
WEE - AEET A HEA2022
F2ANBMEERZE - AW
R RWESEEEHT
40%KkE- REAEARK
38,500,0007T ( #943,750,000
BIL)  ZBRBERAFE T
BX » 1 2024543 H31H & BB
BHEEEKBAEBEZER
",ﬁ— °

1R2024F38 - AR IE B W E
B 24 /5 R200H -

EWIEH

MR EDRIEERA A
(TEIEE J) AR R B
ERAR W AAEENEE
MEBARE - ERELE W
BEMAFEREEAT X
300M8  #§ 2283 B & © 722021
F8H - LABOTHR = E15 4} 1 4K
MEBIRANERR LK
EREWE - REI30EF -

EHRERIHIEERER
2023438 31B EFEKRH5E
;320

RAFE - EWIAREERRA
AEEET

T8 B A5 IR 2 10202443
A& Z=&KX1000 -
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(iv)

20245 3 RIXEEBE(EZER)ERAF

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Dunhua Plant

The Company entered into an investment cooperative
agreement with the People’s Municipal Government of
Dunhua, lJilin province, the PRC in August 2021 in
relation to the Group’s proposed investment in a kitchen
waste treatment project with a planned capacity of 210
tons per day located in Dunhua. As such, Jilin Yisheng
Environmental Protection Technology Co. Ltd* (& # &
EFERRFRFEMER A R) (formerly known as “lilin
Wanding Yisheng Environmental Protection Technology
Co., Lid.* (EMABREARREHLERARF)") (“Dunhua
Plant”), a limited liability company wholly-owned by the
Group was established.

In June 2022, Dunhua Plant was granted an exclusive
concession right (BOT model) by Dunhua Municipal People’s
Government to operate a kitchen waste plant with capacity
of 200 tons per day for a term of 30 years. The municipal
government has been processing the land expropriation and
therefore Dunhua Plant has not commenced any business or
construction as at 31 March 2024.

Guoyang Plant

Yisheng (Guoyang) Environmental Protection Technology
Co. Ltd* (EACARK)RERMAR QA (“Guoyang
Plant”) is a limited liability company established in the PRC
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The planned
capacity of Guoyang Plant is 126 tons per day, and the
relevant operation concession period of the project is 25
years. The service concession agreement for Guoyang Plant
was entered in March 2022.

(1)

(iv)

BB R A

HKIEEH

ANR A A20214F8 8 E R B &
HEZITARBFRI S — 17
BEEGIEHZ NABRAEASE
B E MR BUE T &R A
REBIEE - %8B WA EE
BEAER2I0ME - B &
MEBERREMBRA A
(AR AEENEESLEARR
BEAERAQADIHLE
Bl - B—HBAAEEZ2EHE
EHRBRAR)BE ST -

2022567 + (L IH B E =
tm ARBAE TERIFTE
(BOTRR) r K& —ARES
& & R200W8 /) & & 57 3% 1B
B ' & HI304F o 12024F3H
318 MBI —EEEE i
B TE - ABILIEE HR
F IR (E ] E RS @k -

0 H H

BEACAB RRERMERA
A (REZEE 1) R B KL
MBERAREREAEENEE
MEBAR - REBEEE SR
BERBTXR1260E - JHEBHE
BN AT IS B R255F < RIS TR
B R R R N2022
FIARKA -

1"
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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(v)

During the Year, Guoyang Plant entered into the
agreement with relevant Municipal Ministry of Natural
Resources and obtained the land use right for
construction site. As of 31 March 2024, and up to the
date of this report, Guoyang Plant has not commenced
any business or construction.

Hanzhong Plant

Hanzhong Yisheng Biological Technology Co. Ltd* (&
MEAEYEKERAF) (“Hanzhong Plant”) is an
80%-owned subsidiary of the Group and the other 20%
shareholder is Hanzhong Urban Construction Investment
Development Co., Ltd.* (ZER M MEXKERZEFR
2 |]) (“Hanzhong USID”). Since the establishment of
Hanzhong Plant, the Group has been negotiating with the
municipal government of Hanzhong on service concession
arrangement and site selection.

However, it came to the attention to the Group that
during the year ended 31 March 2023, a district level
Urban Management and Law Enforcement (“UMALE")
under the Hanzhong municipal government, unilaterally
signed the concession arrangement with other enterprise
for processing the kitchen waste for that particular
district.

As of the date of this report, no consensus has been
reached among the Hanzhong bureaus including the city
level National Development and Reform Commission,
USID, UMALE, etc. regarding the above matter.

As of 31 March 2024, Hanzhong Plant has yet to
commence any business or construction.

(v)

RAEE  AKBER EEEN
BARAERBEI Lz AR
2% FA b B 4 Hb {F A #E o 5722024
FIANB R BEAHKEH
Hi - RI5IEE MAFRERE
SRR o

JE I H
ERTEHAEEDEEERA A
(ZREEDAAEEES
80% KIFT B A Al - HIN20% A%
RAEZFMBME REEHR
BHRAR(DERHREE]) - B
ERTEERKSIAK  REE—
B EE R BT R RS
BELZHERIBUEE -

M NREEFEREE2023
FIANBLEFE EF MK
FETEENHTEEREGET
BEER ([WER]) 8 7 me
S—hEEFIEFIRCEER
B REZEMNERFNER -

BERREAS ZPHER
R ETPRERBERERE
ABPY i AR Bt b st B IR — B
BR

B £2024F3A318 ' £ R 1A
B ARRRBEMERLSER -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Hancheng Plant

Hancheng Plant Hancheng Jiemu Environmental
Technology Co. Ltd* (BB ZBRREBFLBREE R F)
(“Hancheng Plant”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, and was granted an exclusive concession right by
Hancheng Federation of Supply and Marketing
Cooperatives* (“Hancheng FSMC") (823 1 it $ & 1E B¢
& ) in May 2018 for operating a kitchen waste plant
with capacity of 20,000 tons per annum for a term of
30 years.

As disclosed in the 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 annual
reports, certain design deficiencies were found in
respect of the waste-water system of Hancheng Plant
which have not been clearly illustrated in the
environmental assessment report where such deficiencies
may result in the malfunction of Hancheng Plant’s
operation as well as imposition of penalty for output of
polluted water. During FY2020, the Group received
several reminders from the Hancheng FSMC urging for
resumption of construction of Hancheng Plant; on the
other hand the Hancheng Municipal Ministry of Natural
Resources also issued an administrative penalty notice
alleging Hancheng Plant for occupying certain collective
land. According to such notice, the ministry’s penalties
included: (i) returning such occupied collective land; (ii)
confiscate any building and facilities on such occupied
collective land; and (iii) payment of penalty of
approximately RMB260,000. As such, the entire
construction of Hancheng Plant has been pending since
FY2020 until the above matters are resolved. The Group
has put forward to the Hancheng FSMC for the
modification of the Hancheng Plant design and possible
solutions to the above-mentioned land issue but no
agreement was reached and therefore the construction
of Hancheng Plant was pending.

(vi)

BB R A

ZHIE B

BHRBRARMEAREER
A ([8HIEE ) AXEENE
&Mt 8 QA WR201845A4
B MRS (EE A ([38
WALEAE D R T BREFTEE
oKL EREEATTF
20,000 M) & BRI IBE &
HA304F -

B 2020204 ~ 20214F * 20224F
N2023F FHATHRTE - KM%
REMIBE BEKEERSGNE
TR ETHERPE - MiE — T RA
W8 B IRF A E R EM
MR AR - HESIF AW
BEEAEEEEREHERS
K M 3 5 FAY AT BE M o 722020
MIEE - 2N & B U 2 72 5
SHAT B &0 (R - ESRIRTE
BMIEEMER: Z—HH
BT ERBERIPINEHITE
EIBEA - BEREEERE
TEBEMELT - RIEZR
M ERMESRERENS
EFTEEBATA LM (iR U
WG A EEAA i EMEM
BFEREM  RINZHHOAR
#260,000 T K &I 5k ° E It * B
20208 BRE [ DA K - B2 IE B
BEEZZ—EBmMAR  HE
L EBRESHE R  AEEE
) B2 {68 AL B 1S 2R R 4 1R
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A BEfRR T R - W RERK
A% - WEHIEE M LA
I'_‘E o
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Subsequently, the Group and Hancheng FSMC reached an
understanding and proposed, among others, to terminate
the development of Hancheng Plant. During the year
ended 31 March 2022, the Hancheng FSMC submitted
the relevant documentations of Hancheng Plant to Audit
Bureau, and the Group and the Hancheng FSMC shall
negotiate and reach a clearance arrangement once such
audit is completed. Such audit is yet to complete as at
31 March 2024 and up to the date of this report.

On top of attempting to negotiate with the Hancheng
FSMC and Hancheng municipal government, during the
Year the Group also put forward such matter to The
Standing Committee of the Shaanxi Provincial People’s
Congress and Shaanxi Provincial People’s Government
with an aim to resolving the matter the soonest.

As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024, impairment loss
of approximately RMB1,797,000 was recognised having
considered the long-negotiation processing time with
Hancheng authorities.
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2.

Development and management of environmental
protection industrial park
1 Yixing Plant

20245 FH AIXEE(ER)ARAA

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2.

Yisheng (Yixing) Environmental Technology Limited* &
F(FE)RERIMAR2AE (“Yixing Plant”) is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group for investment in a

production and research and development base project
of multiple effect membraned Distillation (V-MEMD)

technology in Yixing.

Pursuant to the cooperation

agreement between the Group and China Yixing

Environmental Science and Technology Industrial Park
Management Committee (F R EHRRARBF TEERE
IZ EE) entered on 12 April 2022, the project is
divided into 3 phases with a total project investment of

approximately US$160 million. The investment amount

of phase 1 is approximately US$40 million.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, Yixing Plant
obtained its land use right. During the Year, Yixing Plant

obtained formal construction permit,
Yixing Plant commenced the construction.

2024, Yixing Plant entered into a syndicated

and therefore
In February
loan

agreement for a facility amount of RMB100 million and
final maturity date will be 96 months after the date of

the agreement.

Yixing Plant will be primarily constructed for rental

purposes and therefore the land use right was classified

as investment properties at 31
March 2023.

March 2024 and 31

H#ERERE

BB R am M o AT

RIRT¥EE

Fuy

£ H
BER(BE)RBEREMERA
A([EREE] AXEENE
EWiE AR FEHEETEE
Ko Bt 8 % 3k R 2% 8 (V-MEMD )
R EMIBEERE - BREAR
SEHEPRTEIRREHE T
EEEZE 2202264712
Hil M HME e 2B D
BRI -HMIEBEREBRN A
160,000,000 JT ° 5 1H3 /9 1%
& 58 %9 /340,000,000 7T ©

I

® B £2023%F3AH31H Ik F
E-ERBEERB LER
BRAFEE BEREHEEER
JREREIE  BikFRSA
M T o R2024F27 - BEH A
B 7 A R #100,000,0007T £
BB IREE R MR &K

2HI R & 15 B & m96(E
HER-
HFEFABRBTIEFEHEER

% A A ER2024F
3A318 &2023%3A318 5
HAEREWME -

15



16

NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE T wmk o

Xi‘an Plant

The Group entered into a joint venture agreement in
November 2021, pursuant to which the Group and
other 2 investors agreed to establish Yisheng Zhihui
Technology Industrial Development (Xi'an) Limited* &t
BEMREZRZR(AR)BRAQA ("Yisheng zhihui”),
with a registered capital of US$10.0 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$77.90 million) which shall be
contributed by the parties in cash. Upon establishment
of Yisheng Zhihui, it will be owned as to 62.5% by the
Group.

The principal activities of Yisheng Zhihui include sales,
manufacturing and research and development of
environmental protection equipment, park management
services. To carry out the aforesaid business purpose, it
is intended that Yisheng Zhihui shall participate in the
bidding of a land parcel located in the Xi‘an National
Hi-tech Industries Development Zone, of Xi‘an, Shaanxi,
the PRC (“the Land Parcel”).

Within 10 days after the successful bidding of the Land
Parcel by Yisheng Zhihui, the other 2 investors may elect
to exercise the call option to acquire a total of 29.16%
equity interests in Yisheng Zhihui from the Group.
Should both investors choose to exercise such call
option, the equity interest held by the Group in Yisheng
Zhihui will decrease to 33.34%.

As at 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this report,
the Land Parcel has not yet been put to auction and the
Group therefore did not make any capital contribution
to Yisheng Zhihui.
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3. New energy materials

(1)

Shenzhen Huamingsheng — 51% owned subsidiary

The Group entered into the joint venture agreement in
relation to the formation of Shenzhen Huamingsheng
Technology Limited* & JII T % AR B &t L B R 2 7]
(“Shenzhen Huamingsheng”) with Shanghai Bakusi
Superconducting New Materials Co., Ltd* (/B EH#B
BHHME AR AT (“Shanghai Bakusi”) in November
2022. The principal activities of Shenzhen Huamingsheng
includes production of graphite-based related anode
materials. Both parties agreed to establish Shenzhen
Huamingsheng with a registered capital of RMB68.6
million. Upon establishment of Shenzhen Huamingsheng,
it will be owned as to 51% and 49% by the Group and
Shanghai Bakusi, respectively; Shenzhen Huamingsheng
will be a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

Pursuant to the joint venture agreement, Shenzhen
Huamingsheng should have a registered capital of
RMB68.6 million to be contributed by the parties in
cash, among which the Group should contribute
RMB34.986 million and Shanghai should
contribute RMB33.614 million within 18 months upon
the completion of the business registration of the

Bakusi

establishment of Shenzhen Huamingsheng. Furthermore,
it is also agreed that within 18 months after completion
of the business registration of the establishment of
Shenzhen Huamingsheng and completion of the
valuation on the Patented Technologies owned by
Shanghai Bakusi, Shenzhen Huamingsheng shall acquire
the Patented Technologies from Shanghai Bakusi at a
price not exceeding RMB33.614 million.
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(1)

The Group contributed its share of capital contribution
to Shenzhen Huamingsheng in full by cash. During the
Year, the Group and Shanghai Bakusi entered into a
supplemental agreement pursuant to which that the
capital contribution of RMB33.61 million to be made by
Shanghai Bakusi is no longer be required to be
contributed in cash. Shanghai Bakusi shall contribute its
capital by injecting the Patented Technologies into
Shenzhen Huamingsheng. Such injection of Patented
Technologies was completed during the Year and the
registered capital of Shenzhen Huamingsheng was
contributed in full, and details of which are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 30 November
2023.

Shenzhen Huamingsheng has a planned annual
production capacity of 2,000 tons.

Shenzhen Huamingsheng started its trial production in
June 2023 and generated revenue of approximately
HK$42.6 million (FY2023: approximately HK$1.97
million) during the Year.

Hantang Mingsheng — 30% associate

In July 2023, Shenzhen Huamingsheng and Shanxi
Hantang Senyuan Development Group Co., Ltd.* BR7g
EZERREBEERZREEEREMA QA ("Hantang
Senyuan”) entered into a joint venture agreement
pursuant to which Shenzhen Huamingsheng and
Hantang Senyuan agreed to establish a joint venture
company with a registered capital of RMB350.0 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$381.3 million). Such
joint venture company, Xi'an Hantang Mingsheng
Technology Co., Ltd* AL EEBPBEEBR QA
(“Hantang Mingsheng”), is owned as to 30% and 70%
by Shenzhen Huamingsheng and Hantang Senyuan,
respectively, details of which are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 11 July 2023.

Hantang Senyuan contributed its share of capital
contribution to Hantang Mingsheng by cash in full.

(i)
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Pursuant to such joint venture agreement, Shenzhen
Huamingsheng should make its capital contribution to
Hantang Mingsheng of RMB105.0 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$114.4 million), either in cash or by
transfer of the Patented Technologies, to Hantang
Mingsheng at its sole discretion. In March 2024,
Shenzhen Huamingsheng determined to make its capital
contribution by way of the Patented Technologies into
Hantang Mingsheng. Such injection of Patented
Technologies was completed and the registered capital
of Hantang Mingsheng was contributed in full as of 31
March 2024, and details of which are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 28 March 2024.

The above-mentioned injection of the Patented
Technologies into Hantang Mingsheng by Shenzhen
Huamingsheng resulted a non-cash gain of
approximately HK$52.9 million during the Year. Such
gain was calculated as the difference between the
contributed amount of RMB105.0 million, and carrying
values of the Patented Technologies of approximately
RMB36.2 million (approximately HK$39.3 million), and
then taking out the downstream effect of 30%
(attributable to Shenzhen Huamingsheng’s shareholding
in Hantang Mingsheng).

The Group accounted for Hantang Mingsheng as an
associate using equity-method accounting. As at 31
March 2024, Hantang Minsheng was under the setup
stage and yet to commence any business.

ERENHRAN
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Other on-going matters

1.

Clear Industry

References are made to the 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023
annual reports in respect of the Group’s prior acquisition of
51% equity interests in Clear Industry in November 2016 and
subsequent return of the same equity interests pursuant to the
settlement agreement dated 28 May 2020.

Pursuant to such settlement agreement, the parties agreed to
resolve the dispute by, among others, the Group to return all
its equity interests in Clear Industry as acquired in the prior
acquisition to Qinggin International Group Limited
("Qinggin”), while Qinggin shall return to the Group RMB36
million, being all cash consideration already paid by the Group
(the “Cash Refund”), in 5 installments, and dispose the
18,982,992 Company’s shares (being the consideration shares
issued by the Company to Qinggin as part of consideration of
the prior acquisition) and return the proceeds to the Group by
28 November 2021 (as supplemented by a supplemental
agreement dated 7 May 2021). During the year ended 31
March 2023, total outstanding Cash Refund was fully
received, and the Group was in the process of recovering
penalty charges and legal costs of approximately RMB898,000
from the guarantor to the said settlement agreement. During
the Year, the People Court ruled in favor for the Group and
judged the guarantor should pay the Group penalty charges of
approximately RMB140,000. During the Year, such penalty
charges were received by the Group.

1.
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In November 2023, the Group entered into an agreement with
an independent third party (the “agent”), pursuant to which
the consideration shares to be deposited into a securities
account maintained by such agent. Such agent will, within 12
months from the date of the appointment (or other dates as
agreed by both parties), to dispose the consideration shares to
any transferee(s) who is not the Group or any of their
respective connected persons, and arrange the relevant
proceeds to the bank account designated by the Group,
details of which are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 23 November 2023.

The consideration shares are yet to be disposed of as at the
date of this report as the Company aims to proceed with the
disposal when the market price of the Company’s share
reaches an optimal level. The Company shall further negotiate
with such agent with regard to the disposal period if
necessary, and is of the view that such postponement does
not have material adverse impact and is in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders.

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the carrying values
of the consideration shares were recorded under prepayments,
deposits and other receivables.

Other than the consideration shares yet to be disposed, the
on-going matter in respect of Clear Industry shall be
considered as closed.
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Vimab Holding AB (”“Vimab”)

References are made to the 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023
annual reports in respect of, among others, the prior
acquisition of entire equity interests in Vimab in May 2018,
the locked-up arrangement of the 19,488,428 consideration
shares (being the consideration shares issued by the Company
as part of consideration for the acquisition of Vimab) to the
vendors and the discontinuance of Vimab's operations as a
result of enforcement of pledged shares of Vimab by its
creditor.

Pursuant to the acquisition agreement entered in May 2018,
19,488,428 consideration shares issued by the Company to the
vendors were lock-up and should be released upon fulfilment
of certain financial benchmarks (including the audited EBITDA)
by the Vimab Group for each of the financial years ended 31
December 2018 and 2019.

Since Vimab ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company upon
enforcement of the Pledge as stated above, the Company was
unable to conduct audit on the Vimab Group to ascertain the
audited EBITDA for 2018 and 2019. Therefore, the Company
attempted to negotiate with the relevant parties to the
acquisition agreement to resolve the matter.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Seller A to the
acquisition agreement was in the course of liquidation process
and a bankruptcy trustee was appointed. In August 2023, the
Company was informed that such bankruptcy trustee had
entered into an agreement with Seller B to the acquisition
agreement, pursuant to which, among others, the bankruptcy
trustee transferred its interests in 9,744,214 Locked-Up Shares
under the name of Seller A to Seller B to settle the
indebtedness owed by Seller A to Seller B. Together with the
9,744,214 Locked-Up Shares originally owned by Seller B prior
to the above transfer, Seller B is the sole beneficial owner of
all 19,488,428 Locked-Up Shares issued under the acquisition
agreement. As such, as at 31 March 2024 and up to the date
of this report the Company is only in negotiation with Seller B
to the acquisition agreement to resolve the matter.

Vimab Holding AB ([ Vimab /)
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Significant Event after the reporting period

1. Liquidation of Yisheng Zhihui
Subsequent to the reporting period, the shareholders to Yisheng
Zhihui resolved to commence a voluntary liquidation in relation to
Yisheng Zhihui and such liquidation is yet to complete up to the
date of this report.

The applicable percentage ratios defined under rule 14.04(9) of the
Listing Rules in respect of Yisheng Zhihui are less than 5%. It is
expected such liquidation would have no material impact to the
Group, and upon completion of liquidation of Yisheng Zhihui, the
Group's obligation under the joint venture agreement shall be
discharged entirely.

2.  Acquisition of Shanxi Tianhe Bio-Technology Co., Ltd* L7
XHEYEFEFR AL (“Shanxi Tianhe”)
In February 2024, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with independent third parties pursuant to which the
Group acquire 60% equity interest in Shanxi Tianhe from such
independent third parties at a consideration of RMB500,000. Shanxi
Tianhe will be engaged in the business of harmless treatment for
dead animals within Shanxi province.

The formal registration of transfer was completed in May 2024.

No announcement was made as the applicable percentage ratios
under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules in respect of the transaction
contemplated did not exceed 5%.

Outlook

For the past few decades, the state has been strongly enhancing
environmental protection awareness, improving ecological conditions, and
encouraging the industry development through various policies
stimulations. By such continuous efforts, China achieved significant and
remarkable accomplishments in air quality, water quality, soil conservation,
waste management, and various forms of resource utilisation. In line with
promotion of “dual the upcoming trend in

environmental protection industries will not only be the conversion from

the national carbon,”
asset-based approach to technological innovation, but also requiring of
how to integrate green and low-carbon emission concepts, so as to
facilitate carbon reduction, pollution control, and enhance sustainability.
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In the anode materials industry, apart from the expansion of production
capacity by major suppliers, there has been a continuous influx of
numerous new suppliers. Additionally, the decline in raw material prices
has led to intense competition in the market for anode materials.

To maintain a competitive advantage, manufacturers will strengthen their
own technologies and improve products quality. On the other hand, with
the continuous increase in environmental protection awareness, energy
efficiencies and risk factors, upcoming global demand for new energy
would continue to rise; thus, despite of facing challenges overall industry
still be a promising future.

Our Group explored and entered into the new energy materials business 2
years ago, and have been proactively strengthening our position through
cooperations with upstream and downstream business partners and local
governments. In addition, on top of continuing exploration of new
projects, we started to install equipment for photovoltaic and energy
storage our existing production facilities and plants, as well as digging the
possible internal-generated carbon assets development.

Construction sector in Hong Kong are facing challenges throughout the
Year. Due to the keen competition in the construction industry in Hong
Kong and increase in material and labour costs, the profitability of
construction projects are eroded during the Year. Looking ahead, the
Board remains prudently optimistic about the prospectus of the foundation
industry in Hong Kong as a result of long-term housing development in
Hong Kong.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results of the Group

During the Year, revenue of the Group increased by approximately 15.2%
to approximately HK$628.2 million (FY2023: HK$545.2 million), which was
due to the increase in both Construction Business, and Environmental
Further discussion and analysis on the financial
performance of each business segment of the Group is set out in the
section headed “Business Review” above.

Protection Business.

Profit for the Year attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$2.9 million as compared to loss attributable to owners
of approximately HK$20.8 million for the prior year.

Basic earnings per share was HK0.18 cents as compared to loss per share
of HK1.70 cents for the prior year.

Diluted earnings per share was HKO0.18 cents as compared to loss per
share of HK1.70 cents for the prior year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other income and gains, net

Other income and gains, net, increased from approximately HK$38.2
million to HK$81.7 million.
represented

In the prior year, the amount mainly
(i) compensation of approximately HK$14.9 million
(approximately RMB13.1 million) for release of guaranteed fertilizer
revenue from Hefei Plant, government grant of approximately
HK$3,028,000 (approximately RMB2,635,000) as investment incentive for
Yixing Plant, and receipt of Employment Support Scheme under Anti-
epidemic Fund of approximately HK$3,806,000. During the Year, other
income and gains was mainly generated from (i) gain of approximately
HK$52.9 million arising from capital injection into Hantang Minsheng by
way of Patented Technologies, (ii) change in fair values of approximately
HK$5.6 million in respect of Yixing Plant, and (iii) government grants of
approximately HK$8.5 million and HK$1.0 million as investment incentive
for Yixing Plant and Tianjin's business operation, respectively.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased slightly by 6% from approximately
HK$91.7 million in FY2023 to HK$97.2 million in FY2024. The increase in
administrative expenses was mainly resulted from: (i) full-year expenses for
Shenzhen Huamingsheng for FY2024 while on the other hand there was
only 4-months expenses (establishment in late-November 2022 up to
31 March 2023) for FY2023; (ii) increase in recognition of share option
expense of approximately HK$10.0 million (FY2023: HK$2.3 million) along
with the grant of share options granted in August 2023.

Finance costs

Finance costs of the Group increased by approximately 10.6% from
approximately HK$10.8 million for the prior year to approximately HK$12.0
million for the Year along with the decrease in the Group’s overall
borrowing level. The syndicated loan of RMB100 million for Yixing Plant in
February 2024, and actual drawdown was not significant as at 31 March
2024; as such, it does not incur significant finance cost for the current
Year.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$37.3 million (as at 31
HK$134.5 million).

March 2023: approximately
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The total leases liabilities, bonds,
convertible bonds, bank and other borrowings of the Group as at
31 March 2024 was approximately HK$199.3 million (as at 31 March
2023: approximately HK$203.0 million), and current ratio for the Year was

approximately 1.04 (as at 31 March 2023: approximately 1.33).

interest-bearing loans comprising

The Group’s borrowings and bank balances are principally denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (“RMB") and there may be significant
exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

The Group will continue to monitor and assess its liquidity by, among
others, seeking for new financing resources and/or reasonably control the
outflow and progress of each of its projects.

Gearing ratio
The gearing ratio as at 31 March 2024 was approximately 118.4% (as at
31 March 2023: approximately 121.5%).

The decrease in gearing ratio was mainly attributable to the increase in
overall Group's equity attributable to the shareholders during the Year.

The gearing ratio is calculated as the payables incurred not in the ordinary
course of business (excluding loan from a related companies/directors/
shareholders) divided by total equity attributable to the owners of the
Company as at the respective years.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 March 2024, the Group pledged certain assets including
property, plant and equipment with carrying values of approximately
HK$6,464,000 (as at 31 March 2023: approximately HK$35,255,000) and
investment properties with carrying values of approximately
HK$56,413,000 (as at 31 March 2023: nil), trade receivables and service
concession arrangements, as collateral to secure the facilities granted to
the Group.

The Group also guaranteed certain facilities through the pledge of equity
interests in subsidiaries of the Group.
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Foreign exchange exposure

Certain revenue-generating operations and assets and liabilities of the
Group are denominated in RMB and may expose the Group to the
fluctuation of Hong Kong dollars against RMB. The Group did not enter
into any hedging arrangement or derivative products. However, the Board
and management will continue to monitor the foreign currency exchange
exposure and will consider adopting certain hedging measures against the

currency risk when necessary.

Fund-raising activities in the past 12 months
During the Year, the fund-raising activities are as follows:

20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Date of Actual use of proceeds as at

announcement Fund raising activities Net proceeds Intended use of proceeds 31 March 2023
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13 September 2023,  Originally issue of convertible bonds with aggregate Approximately (i) approximately HK$30.0 (i) Except for approximately

5 October 2023
and 31 October
2023
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principal of approximately HK$29.99 million, and
issue of 57,636,000 new Shares at HK$0.53 per
Share. The subscription of shares was completed
on 5 October 2023. Convertible bonds were
reduced to approximately HK$20.0 million along
with the termination deed entered on 31
October 2023. Convertible bonds with principal
amount of approximately HK$10.00 million were
converted into shares in November 2023, and
remaining outstanding balances were redeemed
entirely.
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Capital commitments

As at 31

business.

March 2024,

the Group had capital

HK$40.45 million

#740,450,000% 7T

commitment of
approximately HK$126.0 million (as at 31 March 2023: HK$1.7 million) in
relation to the projects of the Group under the ordinary course of

million for the development HK$6.5 million applied in the

of the graphene-based purchase of relevant
related anode materials, and
possible construction of

production facility; and

equipment and facilities, the
rest of the net proceeds were
expected to be applied in the
year ending 31 March 2025;
(i) approximately HK$10.45
million as the general
working capital.

(ii) Fully applied as intended

(iii) Approximately HK$10.0
million for early redemption
on principal amount of
convertible bonds
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Human resources management

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 363 employees, including Directors
(as at 31 March 2023: 309 employees,
costs (including Directors’
million for the Year as compared to approximately HK$102.0 million for
FY2023. Remuneration was determined with reference to market norms
and individual employees’ performance, qualification and experience.

including Directors). Total staff
emoluments) were approximately HK$134.4

On top of basic salaries, bonuses may be paid by reference to the Group'’s
performance as well as individual’'s performance. Other staff benefits
include provision of retirement benefit, injury insurance and share options.

Significant investments held
During the Year, the Group did not hold any significant investment in
equity interest in any other company.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the Year.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had outstanding performance bonds for
construction contracts amounting to approximately HK$44.6 million (as at
31 March 2023: approximately HK$36.9 million).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

sold or

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors.

Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors, and all Directors
confirmed in writing that they have complied with the required standards
as set out in the Model Code regarding their securities transactions for the
Year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board believes that good corporate governance is one of the areas
leading to the success of the Company and balancing the interests of
customers and employees,
ongoing enhancement of the efficiency and effectiveness of such principles
and practices.

shareholders, and the Board is devoted to

The Company has adopted the compliance manual which sets out the
minimum standard of good practices concerning the general management
responsibilities of the Board with which the Company and the Directors
shall comply and which contains, among other things, the code provisions
of the corporate governance codes (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix C1
governance.

to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate

The Board considers that the Company has complied with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code during the Year.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board proposes not to recommend payment of a final dividend to the
shareholders for FY2024 (FY2023: nil).

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF THE
ANNUAL RESULTS

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established in compliance with Rules 3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing Rules
with written terms of reference. The latest terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

A summary of work of the Audit Committee during the Year is as
follows:

o met with the external auditors, reviewed and made recommendations
for the Board’'s approval on the annual and interim results and
reports of the Company;

o reviewed and approved audit fee;
. recommended the re-appointment of BDO Limited (“BDO") as
auditors, subject to the shareholders’ approval at the annual general

meeting; and

o reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems.
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EERGAREBAEBNEBEFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Yongjun, aged 57, was appointed as the Chairman of the Board
and an executive director of the Company on 24 May 2016. He is also a
member of the nomination committee of the Board.

Mr. Zhu is the Chairman and an executive director of China Water
Industry Group Limited (“China Water”) (a company listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) (the “Stock
Exchange”) (Stock Code: 1129) and an non-executive director of Affluent
Partners Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange) (Stock Code: 1466). He was an executive director of
EverChina Int’l Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange) (Stock Code: 202) from May 2008 to
February 2013 and the chairman of the board of Heilongjiang Interchina
Water Limited*
Treatment”) (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange) (Stock
Code: 600187), from January 2009 to May 2015. Mr. Zhu obtained his
undergraduate from Hunan University in 1989, and a Master’s degree of
business administration in Peking University in the People’s Republic of
China in 2005. He started his environmental protection career in 2001.

Treatment Co., ("Heilongjiang Interchina Water

Mr. Pan Yimin, aged 48, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 24 March 2021. He was the president of Tianjin Dongfang
Mingrui Investment Management Co., Ltd* since 2013 prior to joining the
Company. Mr. Pan was the vice president of Interchina (Tianjin) Water
Treatment Co., Ltd.* from April 2011 to March 2013, and a deputy
manager of Heilongjiang Interchina Water Treatment from April 2009 to
March 2011. Mr. Pan was appointed as the vice president of China Water
since March 2021 and is in charge of the financial department, general
department and risk control department. Mr. Pan obtained a bachelor’s
degree in Economics in 1998 from Jiangxi University of Finance and
Economics.

Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas, aged 46, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 31 August 2018. He joined the Company in
November 2015 and was appointed as the Company’'s company secretary
on 24 May 2016. Since year 2016, he is also the company secretary and
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lee is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He graduated from the University
of Oregon in the United States of America with a Bachelor of Science
degree in year 1999.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lin Jiakuang, aged 34, was appointed as a non-executive director of

the Company on 17 October 2023. Mr. Lin is the founder, sole
shareholder and director of TFREERCRINEBBFRAF, the

holding company of Yuan Heng Group International Co., Limited (“Yuan
Heng"”). Prior to this, Mr. Lin was the business manager of Shenzhen
Rongan Financing Guarantee Co., Ltd.* FIIB TR EERER A F from
November 2011 to June 2012, manager of Shenzhen Huihe Development
Co., Ltd.* FIEABEREBER AT from July 2012 to August 2013,
business manager of Shenzhen Qianhai Shanlin Asset Management Co.,
Ltd.* RIITHAIEEMNEEEIEER QA from May 2014 to July 2015 and
general manager Shenzhen Dingyifeng Assets Management Co., Ltd.* &
JHRFLELEEEERMBR AR from February 2017 to October 2018.
Mr.
(Independent Undergraduate Section) in 2014 from Zhongnan University of

Lin obtained a degree in Investment and Financial Management
Economics and Law.

Dr. Ge Xiaolin, aged 58, was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 2 July 2020. Dr. Ge is the chairman of Tianjin SOFIT Building
Materials Co., Ltd. Dr. Ge received a master's degree in 1990 and a
bachelor’s degree in 1988 in Hunan University, subsequently obtained his
Ph.D. degree in Beijing University in 2013, and postdoctoral researcher in
Applied Economics in Hunan University in 2010. Dr. Ge was the (Term 9th
to 10th) member of All-China Youth Association. Prior to founding his
own company, Dr. Ge worked in China Pinghe Import & Export Co., Ltd.
(as general manager), and Goalmark International Group (as vice general
manager and subsequent as general manager).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Du Yun, aged 42, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 1 September 2023. Ms. Du was the vice
president of HOPU lJinghua (Beijing) Investment Consultancy Co., Ltd.
("HOPU Investment”) from April 2018 to November 2023. Prior to this,
Ms. Du had served as the senior vice president in charge of the gas
business in Engie (China) Energy Technology Co., Ltd. (“Engie China”)
from September 2014 to April 2018. Ms. Du obtained the qualification
from the Chartered Financial Analyst Institute and is a chartered financial
analyst (CFA). Ms. Du obtained a bachelor's degree in Science in 2003
from Tongji University, and further obtained a master degree in Science at
Ecole Polytechnique in France.

EEREMREBAEBNBEEFS

EBITES

MRELE 345 0 W2023F 108178 Z T A
AARFRITES - MELEBTFTEEBEHRF
BRARI(TF)MZERAR LT EEEE (R
EEMBRAANARA M—BERES-EI
Z B BH2011E11 A E2012F68 ML E BT
FYRMETREERERDRIMNERLEE  H2012
FIAZE2013F8A  BHEFNEEEHEERA
AIMALIE 5 2014958 £2015F7 A » IR
NHREENEETEERATMESREE
AR 12017462 8 201845108 » ® B AR Y™
PREEETERMBBRAAIMNMBEIE Mk
ER2014F E R B B EBUE K EREERE L
BERBIYARIER)EA -

BEMSEL - 585 20207 A2BEZ T AR
RAIFRTEE - BT ARERFEHEEYN
BAERAFTMESE - 818 1+ %1990 %1988
FENBASESFBEBRBELIEMRE TSN
HER0BFELLTABEHFELEMRR
010F MBS B AENERSESE AR
BEBK -BETAFINIETEL2EASEHR S
L8 - ERIMERAR  BETEARBEFEAM
EHODERARETAKE IRTPHEBRKE
EERRETRIRLIE  REIBIB -

BIUFEBITES

HELL 425 R2023F9R1HEZTAARR
A B FEFITE S - 82018547 £20235F 11
A MHztAE#RZEQLR)REZHRNERA
AI(TE#ERE])MRIEE - I 281+ H20144F
98 201848 - L T HE A (P H) LR
BMBERAR([Engeh B NS RELE 8
BERAARE HATRBHeRmIMEaHBE
WMEER  WARFTESBA AN o 22172003
FHRABASNEEEBEL 24 WHELE
B B 2247 4 38 T 27 (Ecole Polytechnique)ER{5 38
B8 -

31



32

NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREMREBABNEEFS

Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian, aged 68, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 26 August 2014. He is the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Board and a member of
each of the audit committee and remuneration committee of the Board.

Mr.
London in August 1988. He is a member of the Law Society of Hong Kong
and has been a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong since November 1991 in

Lo was awarded a Bachelor of Laws degree by the University of

general legal practice. From December 1993 to the date of this annual
report, Mr. Lo has been a partner of Joseph C.T. Lee & Co. and engaged
in various fields of legal practice involving commercial and conveyancing
litigation, acquisition and sale of business and/or companies, company
liquidation, charity foundation works, formation of religious organisations,
family law, immigration law and employment law. He was an independent
Global Group Holdings Limited (a
company previously listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange,
(Stock Code: 2296) until the cancellation of listing of its shares on the
Stock Exchange with effect from 19 September 2023) from November
2019 to March 2024.

non-executive director of Huarchi

Dr.
executive director of the Company on 26 August 2014. He is the chairman

Tong Ka Lok, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-

of the audit committee of the Board and a member of each of the
nomination committee and remuneration committee of the Board.

Dr. Tong was awarded a Doctor of Public Health degree (epidemiology
and biostatistics) from the Macau University of Science and Technology in
August 2013. Dr. Tong is a founder and partner of Baker Tilly Macao
Certified Public Accountants which was established in October 2000. He is
an auditor registered at the Committee for the Registry of Auditors and
Accountants in Macau in January 2006. Besides his business establishment,
Dr. Tong was appointed as a member of the Nanjing Committee of
CPPCC* (FRIARBUA A E#ERAMZEE), and Vice President of the
Macau University of Science and Technology in 2012, and a University
Council Member in 2013.

BIRBEE 6857 MN2014F8A26B KL T A
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EAFHRA BEERT2ERNELHAE
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E HEESIF BYRHMAER REZE-
BRZENERE - B2019F11 7 £2024%3 A
BEEELRKEEERER AT (B RBAME
R EMHRA - BEAR 2296 EEHBED
2023F9 A 19H REUEER X T iz A 1E)
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BEE%EL 615 N2014F8F26B K LT A
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Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP, aged 75, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 26 August 2014.
He is the chairman of our the remuneration committee of the Board and
a member of each of the nomination committee and audit committee of
the Board.

Mr.
Concepts Foundation Limited (“NC Foundation”). Mr.

Choy joined the Group in January 2013 as a director of New
Choy has been
carrying out an independent non-executive role in NC Foundation, mainly
responsible for advising on corporate governance of NC Foundation. Mr.
Choy also acts as an independent non-executive director of Far East Hotels
and Entertainment Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 37)), AB Builders Group Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1615)) and WAC Holdings Limited (a company listed
on GEM (stock code: 8619)).

Mr. Choy holds a Diploma in Chinese Law awarded from the University of
East Asia (now known as the University of Macau) in October 1987 and a
Diploma in Political Science from the International Affairs College, Hong
Kong in July 1988.

He was the Chairman of the Sham Shui Po District Board from April 1991
to September 1994, a Hong Kong affairs adviser appointed by the Hong
Kong and Macao Affairs Office of the State Council and the Xinhua News
Agency from 1994 to 1997, the vice-chairman of the Occupational Safety
and Health Council of the Labour and Welfare Bureau from 2004 to
2010, a member of the Energy Advisory Committee of the Environment
Bureau from 2006 to 2012 and a member of the Consumer Council of the
Commerce and Economic Development Bureau from 2005 to 2011.

He was a member of the Guangzhou Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference (“CPPCC")* (Term 9th to 12th) (B A
REBCAHAEZEMTZEE). He was also elected as a vice president of
GMC Hong Kong Members Association in February 2012. He is the
Honorary Committee Member of The Chinese General Chamber of
Commerce, Hong Kong (“CGCC”) and was also the Chairman of
Member's Service Committee of CGCC.

*  For identification purpose only

EEREMREBAEBNBEEFS
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EEREMREBABNEEFS

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chu Shu Cheong, aged 63, is the founder of the Group and the
director of the Company’s major subsidiary, namely NC Foundation. He
possesses over 25 years of management experience in foundation, civil
engineering and building works of various nature.

Besides his business achievement, Mr. Chu was also appointed as the
honorary chairman of the China Star Light Charity Fund Association in
2000, a member of the Guangdong Province Committee of CPPCC (/R
ANRBURHE€ZBEBRAIETMZ EE) in October 2011 and a member
of the Guangzhou Committee of the CPPCC (B A RBUAH & EM ™
Z B€) in December 2011.

BREEE

SMBRE 635 AREEMABARKAAE
SHBAFAKEOEE  HREHAEE N
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B o
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The Board hereby presents the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year (the
"Consolidated Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

During the Year, the principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries comprise construction
works in Hong Kong and environmental protection business in the PRC.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities

of the Group during the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The revenue of the Group is wholly derived from the construction works
conducted in Hong Kong and environmental protection business in the
PRC. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year is set out in
note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

A review of the business of the Group for the Year, including the
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of
the Year and the likely future business development is set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 29
of this annual report. This discussion form part of the Report of Directors.
Further details relating to the Group’s
stakeholders and the Group’s environmental policies and performance can

relationships with its key
be found in the Company’s 2024 Environmental, Social and Governance
Report, which is published in electronic form only and available on the
Company's the
http://www.primeworld-china.com. If any shareholder wishes to receive a
printed copy of the Company’s 2024 Environmental,
Governance Report, such shareholder may submit his/her/its request to the
Company by post to our head office in Hong Kong at Office B, 3/F,
Kingston International Centre,
Kong or by email through
http://www.primeworld-china.com.

website at section of Investor Relations:

Social and

19 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong

the Company’s website at
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has adopted and

implemented environmental

protection

policies and procedures to enable it to commit to the long term
sustainability of the environment and communities in which it operates.
During the Year, the Group complied with the relevant environmental laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group’s business

where the Group is operating.

Details of the key laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group’s businesses, their key scope and our compliance measures are

outlined in the following table:

Laws and Regulations

ERR B

Key scope

TEME

RIEBRRERR
AEERBLET ZBRFREBE R -
ETHEBERAMELERETSERROR
e RAFERN  AREEH S KEERIELY

AEBEEBBEAZENBERRERLRD -

TREINBAEEEBEEATENTIEELR
RO -HEITERELRAEEGRE RN

% :

Compliance measures

BREE

Air Pollution Control (Non- road
Mobile Machinery) (Emission)
Regulation (Chapter 311Z of
the Laws of Hong Kong)

(ER)GAES GEERBEHHE
W) (BER) RO (FEEG
$E3112%)

Air Pollution Control
(Construction Dust)
Regulation (Chapter 311R of
the Laws of Hong Kong)

(ERERER GEETIRER)
RONEBEFIE311RE)

Contractor must not sell or lease, or cause
to be sold or leased, a regulated machine

for use in Hong Kong unless the machine is

approved or exempted.
RIERXZHRERMER ELERR A
AP TEHERHEZEMUAMESTE
28 - IS R B 6 ok i E 7 A A
EEABEA-

Contractor must not use or cause to be
used a regulated machine in any specified
activity unless the machine is approved or
exempted.

RIEXZHRERMER ESERR - T A
AP TS ERAEDPEALLHER
L

Contractor is required to take dust

reduction measures when construction work

is being carried out.

EEEAEN T RARIRUEG M ERE
% -

Applications for lease and use of regulated
machine have been made and approval
certificates for emission compliance were
obtained.
AEECHEHBRLERGHAXEEERM
WS TERBHAEEERRENFILE
=,

The relevant approval label has been
painted or securely fixed on the machine
and is displayed at a conspicuous position,
which is also properly maintained.
HEAZERBD RN RIZZ M E E R
o TREBOBERLERRRZBRE -

Compliance manual is in place for
operational staff.

EREBRIEABBRANARTM-

Regular briefing and training are conducted
to enhance their awareness on the
legislation.

FHBITENREN  REBREASEE
Bl &9 R %A ©
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Laws and Regulations

EREREB

Key scope

TEHE

Compliance measures

EREE

Noise Control Ordinance
(Chapter 400 of the Laws of

Controls construction noise ranges from: Compliance manual is in place for

operational staff.

Hong Kong)
(REEHHERINEBENE TBHRERS B ERERIEABERANGRFMW-
400%)
(@)  the use of powered mechanical Site supervisor is presented at the
equipment construction site.
(@ ERABBREEXSE IR R BB A B E MR -
(b)  the carrying out of certain noisy works Construction noise permit has been
in designated areas obtained.
(b)y HEHEFTHEANETRELSRSEIE CHEEERIFAE-

This law defines the environment as the
total body of all natural elements and
artificially transformed natural elements
affecting human existence and development
(including the atmosphere, water, seas,
land, minerals, forests, grasslands, wetlands,
wildlife, natural and human remains, nature
reserves, historic sites and scenic spots, and
urban and rural areas).

UEMAEIRE  BRRETEABEERFME
EHNEBERANNLCBATIRENBAR
EMMHEE BEXE K BT i IR
BoHRMKBR R THAEAY 8AE
P AXED - BEARER  BREZBE -
YT AR AT S e

The Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic
of China

The project companies of the Group prevent
pollution in accordance with the
requirements of the Environmental
Protection Law.

hEARLMBEIRE
R %

AEBTEERARRRREREEINE
KR HBRBIBERENBR -

The Law of the People’s
Republic of China on
Environmental Impact
Assessment

This law defines environmental impact
assessment as the analysis, estimation and
evaluation of possible environmental impacts
resulting from the implementation of a
planning and construction project and the
introduction of strategies and measures to
prevent and alleviate adverse environmental
impacts as well as tracking and monitoring
processes and systems.

WERAEIRIRZ EE  SEYREM

The project companies of the Group engage
independent third parties to prepare
environmental impact assessment reports/
competent government authorities to issue
environmental impact approvals.

PEARAMNERFAZE
FEE

AEBTEERARZABYLE=TTHRE

RIRE A EMGE AT AR R R (T
A7 - FRRT - REBEHRERETR
SRR 0 B SR O R 1T IR MBS Y
Jr BB o

REPEFERE BHEEMRPIHAR
BEEHNE -
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Laws and Regulations

ERR B

Key scope

FTEHE

Compliance measures

EREE

The Water Pollution Prevention
Law of the People’s Republic
of China

This law applies to the prevention and
control of pollution of rivers, lakes, canals,
drainage, reservoirs and other surface water
bodies and groundwater within the People’s
Republic of China.

SARB RN E AR EXMBIES AT
A M B BB KE SR KR A
R K EBE 5 8 -

The prevention and control of water
pollution shall focus on prevention while
combining prevention, control and
comprehensive management. Priority shall
be given to the protection of the sources of
drinking water. Industrial and urban
pollution shall be strictly controlled.
Pollution of agricultural bases shall be
prevented and controlled. The construction
of ecological management projects shall be
encouraged. Pollution of water bodies and
damages to the ecosystem shall be
prevented, controlled and alleviated.
KBRREERFEG RE - A&EE -
e eErRA - BERERBKKR &
BEGI TR MEERTR HERE
HIRSH  BEREEEARRIBTIRER &
By ~ 22 i A0 R A K BR 35 05 2R R0 AR RE AR -

AR EMBIKERBRE

Administrative Measures for
Pollutant Discharge Licensing
(for Trial Implementation)

This law applies to the application, approval
and enforcement of pollutant discharge
licenses as well as the governance and
punishments in relation thereto.
PEORFFRAI B RS - A2 E - BUITIAREREE)S
SRR EEMESIEIT A BAKRNR
7% o

The Ministry of Environmental Protection
develops and releases a category-based
administration catalogue of pollutant
discharge licensing for stationary pollution
sources stipulating the scope of the
pollutant discharge licensing system and
prescribed application time limit pursuant to
the law.

IR 35 IR & B0 AKO% il TE I A 5 [E FE )5 IR BE
VSRTAI D RE B AR FAREMABESETA]
B T8 ) &0 B AN BB SR AR o

5 R R B R BA (BAT)

The project companies of the Group prevent
water pollution in accordance with the
requirements of the Water Pollution
Prevention Law.

AEBTEIERRRLRRKISREAEDN
B BAHBRKFTENER -

The project companies of the Group applied
for pollutant discharge license(s) in
accordance with the requirements of the
measures.
AEBTBERAADKERBIVEEZ R 8
BT AT A8 o



Laws and Regulations

EREREB

Key scope

TEHE
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Compliance measures

B

The Opinion on the
Strengthening of the
Overhaul of Gutter Oil and
Management of Cooking
Wastes issued by the General
Office of the State Council

B 75 e 3% 2 68 B 170 0 54 3 05 e
BEEMEFREEVEENE
=

Enterprises and public institutions as well as
other producers and operators (hereinafter
referred to as “pollutant discharging
entities”) that are included in the category-
based administration catalogue of pollutant
discharge licensing for stationary pollution
sources shall apply for and obtain a
pollutant discharge license within the
prescribed time limit. Pollutant discharging
entities not included in the category-based
administration catalogue of pollutant
discharge licensing for stationary pollution
sources currently do not need to apply for a
pollutant discharge license.

MABEE R RFREETHAI D AEEZHN
EFESUMEMEELEE (AT EHE
[HE5 BAL)) SRR E B8 R 8 55 I B
JHOSETAIRE  RMARBE )T RIRPESAT
ADHRERABNESEN AT HE
BESRTAIEE -

To effectively eliminate the use of gutter oil
in the food industry and strengthen food
safety and public health, 7 opinions on
further strengthening of the overhaul of
gutter oil and management of cooking
wastes have been issued with the consent
of the State Council.
RAEBEREHBDRERHE  ER
BERR2MARBRIEBREE KHK
Bt R 2 - BEdE — 25 0ok b B m B M B
BEWEETFRK7TARR -

The project companies of the Group have
implemented the tasks required by the
opinion in collaboration with the competent
authorities (i.e. municipal environmental
hygiene departments).

AERETEBERQRILEAEZERMABIME
REMBFDEFEZLPERNEAETI(E-
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Laws and Regulations

ERR B

Key scope

FTEHE

Compliance measures

EREE

Measures for the
Administration of Concession
for Infrastructure and Public
Utilities

Concession activities in energy,
transportation, water conservancy,
environmental protection, municipal
engineering, and other infrastructure and
public utilities fields within the territory of
the PRC shall be governed by these
Measures. Implement these Measures for
purposes of encouraging and directing social
investors’ participation in the construction
and operation of infrastructure and public
utilities, improving the quality and efficiency
of public services, protecting the lawful
rights and interests of concessionaires,
protecting public interest and public
security.

REARAMEFRANER  Z@EH - K
Pl -RERE TRIBEEMRRMENAR
FERBNFILEEY  ERAMRE i
TARPENS B Gt & & AR AR
BN AR EXEERES B AARS
BEMWE  REFTREES EZ#D R
EHERARMENAHT R -

ERRENLOAERRFES
B IR A

General Office of the State
Council forwards the
National Development and
Reform Commission and the
Ministry of Finance’s
“Guiding Opinions on
Standardising the

Standardising implementation of the new
mechanism for government and social
capital cooperation, fully leverage of market
mechanisms, and encourage for private
investment. Curb on implicit debt of local
governments, and improve operational
standards in infrastructure and public utility
Implementation of the New  project construction and operation.
Mechanism for Government
and Social Capital
Cooperation
B A REERIRERN
2E HHBCARREE
BT M4t & & AN A R
WIESER)

REEMBN ML EERGER#EE - =
DEETSHEER HEREAREEM -
BORBHIFIEMTBRNEBEES &5
RERMEM AR EXEEEZREEKTE
Focus on user-pay projects, and adopt
service concession arrangements model for
all projects. Private enterprises shall be
participated in priority, and cleared defined
responsibilities.

RECRENEIER  230EE KRR
rEEHGEEDN  BLERBREGESH
AEREEST -

The Measures are the basis and references
for those key terms and conditions of the
Group's service concession arrangements.

AEEO AT EEE DR BIRR RGNS
B E R IEERBERZZE -

The Measures are the basis and references
for those key terms and conditions of the
Group’s upcoming new projects under
service concession arrangements.

AEEBRFNGFEEEBEREEE
BRI AF G AL B B VAR RIE R 2 E -



COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The principal activities of the Group comprise construction works and
environmental protection. Sufficient resources have been allocated to
ensure the on-going compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
During the Year, the Board is
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group’s business where the Group is operating.

not aware of any incidence of

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The business operations and results may be affected by various factors,
some of which are external causes and some are inherent to the business.
The principal risks and uncertainties are summarised below:

1. Outbreak of pandemic disease
For the past 3 years, the COVID-19 and
measures, among others, city lockdown, shut-down of restaurants
and schools resulting from the quarantine arrangements, travel
restrictions etc., adversely impacted our businesses in Hong Kong
and Mainland China.

relevant draconian

While certain of our employees were infected and subsequently
recovered, we did manage and maintain our businesses and
operations. However, another vast outbreak of such similar virus,
even following governmental guidance and taking safety measures,
still may affect our business and may result from suspension of
operations.

2, Extreme weather condition
For the past years, “very hot weather
warning” were imposed several times in Hong Kong and Mainland
China.
construction projects directly, and may also lead to continuous

extreme weather and
Such weather conditions not only result delay in our
disruptions in

increase our costs and safety of our staff for the operations of our
entire business units.

logistics and transportations arrangement which

3. Market conditions
The number of construction projects awarded to the Group depends
highly on the market conditions in the construction
including shortage of skilled labour, availability of new projects in
private sector, Government’'s spending on
approval for funding proposals for public work contracts. If there is
any deterioration in any of these factors, the operating results of

industry,

infrastructure and

construction segment will be adversely affected.
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1. KRTERRE
BE =4 COVID-190A & [A I8 B 22 HE K Bk
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BEW - EREERARER HAEERE
BRPBEAMEEREXTHZE -

BERMBOEIIRALHIREE B
BFDENEREBLE - AM > WER
URTB/BRARREREE - AERFERER
RSl AR L 21656 - 17 7] 62 52 & T A
MER WAIEEHEBER-
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AAKIBEHRRIRES] c ZERAMAS
EEESRBRMOEEEELEH  MAgk
FE R ET YR B BE - 1 3G AN A AR
WHERMBEEEFKEMNEEETLSE -
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Keen competition

The competition of construction industry has become more intense
as there will be a foreseeable reduction of number of construction
projects available for tendering. To increase the chance of success in
winning the tender bidding, the Group may have to lower its profit
margin, which may impact its profit for the coming year.

For the last year, there has been also increase in supply in anode
materials and therefore resulted in overall pricing competition. As
such, our gross profit may be trimmed or even losing some
customers.

Cost of construction materials and graphene

The increase in cost of construction materials will lower the profit
margin of the Group’s construction and new energy materials
businesses. Failure to accurately estimate and control the costs of
the Group’s projects and productions may adversely affect the
Group's financial performance.

Shortage of labor and increasing labor costs

For the past few years, the population and workforce in Hong Kong
has been shrinking. As such, we may require to increase our staff
costs so as to attract the talent as well as maintaining our human
resources. Any failure may cause the Group not to proceed for
projects tendering.

Regulatory environment

Our business is subject to the environmental regulations issued by
the Hong Kong Government and national policies of Mainland
China. Such regulations may be revised from time to time and any
changes to such regulations may increase our cost and burden in
complying with them. The Group is also required to maintain certain
registration. In order to renew and maintain these registrations, the
Group is required to comply with certain criteria set by the relevant
governmental departments and authorities. Any suspension of or a
failure to maintain or renew the Group’s registrations could
adversely affect the Group’s business.

Policy change
China’s
companies’ costs of pollution by imposing penalties ranging from
fines to restriction or even suspension of production. Personnel from
protection administrative departments of the
government shall also be faced with demotion, dismiss or forced

“Environmental Protection Law” significantly increases

environmental

resignation from their current position for failure to enforce
pollution-related regulations, and it also stipulates that violation of
the Law may constitute a criminal offence.

ARE R
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The central government has been sending inspection teams to
polluted provinces and holding local officials accountable for failure
to prevent and control in the
enterprises’ shutdown for the lack of environmental protection
facilities.

pollution, which may resulting

More fierce laws and policies to be imposed as well as more
frequent inspection by the central government against the violation
of environmental Our
operations may be materially affected should we fail to comply with
the relevant environmental protection rulings and regulations.

protection rulings from time to time.

9. Technological obsolescence

Our competitive advantage in the environmental industry and new
energy material business relies on our technological capabilities to
ensure safety, maintain efficiency of production and keep operating
costs at a relatively low level. However, as the laws, regulations,
government policies and industry standards may impose more
stringent requirements on our existing or future projects, we may
fail to improve our technology to adapt to such changes. Moreover,
the production techniques of our competitors may improve at a
faster pace so that their costs may be reduced to a lower level
significantly or their productivity may become significantly higher
than ours.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY PARTIES

The success of the Group also depends on the support from key parties
which comprise customers, suppliers, employees and shareholders.

Customers

The Group's principal customers comprise the government and private
developers. The Group has well established operational and industry
experience in foundation, civil engineering and general building work,
which enables the Group to complete all our projects on schedule.
Recognition from our sound track records, the Group has secured various
sizeable new projects from public and private sectors. Our reputation and
high standard of quality work enable the Group and the customers to
achieve their profitability and sustainable growth.

Suppliers

Good relationship with suppliers constitutes one of the essential elements
of the Group’s success. To achieve positive business growth, the Group
maintains close relationship with its suppliers in order to create a win-win
situation so that suppliers and the Group can have a vertical cooperation
for reaching both of the business goals.
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EFgWmE
Employees

The Group focuses on the talents of our employees as our most valuable
asset and provides a harmonious and professional working environment
with a variety of training programmes to our employees for career
advancement. The key objective of our human resource management is to
recognise and
remuneration packages and
appraisal system with appropriate incentives,
opportunity.

reward performing staff by providing competitive
implementing an effective performance
namely equal promotion

Shareholders

The principal goal of the Group is to maximise the return to the
shareholders of the Company. The Group will focus on our core business
and explore attractive investment opportunities for achieving sustainable
profit growth and rewarding the shareholders with stable dividend payouts
taking into account the business development needs and financial health
of the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group's 5 largest customers accounted for approximately
85.33% (31 March 2023: 89.90%) of the total sales for the Year and sales
to the largest customer included therein amounted to approximately
67.64% (31 March 2023: 69.40%). Purchases from the Group’s 5 largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 37.66% (31 March 2023: 38.18%)
of the total purchases for the Year and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to approximately 10.51% (31 March
2023: 12.18%).

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the Directors, their close
nor any shareholders, who owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued voting shares, had any interests in any of the Group's

associates,

five largest customers or suppliers during the Year.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on pages 89 to 90 and accompanying notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Board does not recommend a payment of a final dividend to the
shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: nil).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

No charitable and other donations was made by the Group during the
Year (2023: nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the Year are
set out in note 32 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save as disclosed above and in this annual report, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that
require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during
the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the Year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company does not have reserves available for
distribution, subject to the compliance with the Companies Law, Chapter
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands
and Company’s articles of association (the *“Articles of Association”)
(31 March 2023: nil).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

No Director or any entity connected with a Director was materially
interested, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Year or the
end of the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the normal course
of business are provided under note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report. The Board confirmed that none of those
related party transactions constitute a connected transaction or a
continuing connected transaction as required to be disclosed under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

20245 3 AlxEEER)ERAT 45

REPORT OF DIRECTORS

R 3 4 §9 175 5%
BEXRAFRABRBEN  ARARKFE
P S 48 5T 7 BL A 45 5 4F 5 b 4877 4% 4 1T 5 % ok
TRERARARTROZME AR AL LA
16 & 3 A S TR 2 R B 4T IRAD 80 1 L 9 R
mE M -

k&
A o B G R 2 R
BB E -

o {53 ik i 6

MR2024F3A31H ARG EBBASEE AN
FENRERNAE(961F E3B AR Ki1E kB
D RAQNRABERMA((ASEZERRMA]) R
PR WA oK & (2023938318 : Z) -

HERRN G ER

g§§~tﬂ§aw§@2naamq:ﬁﬁ§
RAFE  ARAREEAHERHEBE -
o S B AR R L o

BEAEEE

4B T2 A RSB B BB 0K O BB S R
MEX REAR AR PR A RERS
HEHE -

EERXS  RHISHNER

REAFEAXNAFEFRE EFTRHEEFEFH
BENTMNEBMERARAXAEEAMEL
BIMFRIUHASEEBM S BEANEMRS
ZHACHTERIRMERBEEARER -

BB XX 5

7 IE % S 5B 12 o A 1T A0 BB 05 32 5 ¥ I
AERGANBREF T - EERRR - 23
BB T R TR L RAE AR RERT
BEOMER DR EMERS -

BERARRHR
ARALTAERRTAREARABRENHE
EREARERERHS -



46

NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

REPORT OF DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhu Yongjun (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Pan Yimin
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas

Non-executive Directors.

Mr. Sui Guangyi (Honorary Chairman)
(resigned on 28 February 2024)
Mr. Lin Jiakuang (appointed on 17 October 2023)
Dr. Ge Xiaolin
Dr. Zhang Lihui (resigned on 31 August 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Du Yun (appointed on 1 September 2023)
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian

Dr. Tong Ka Lok

Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP

Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive Directors has
entered into a service contract with the Company or a subsidiary of the
Company for an initial term of 3 vyears. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors has also entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial term of 2 years. The aforesaid service contracts may
be terminated by not less than 3 months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other. All Directors shall be subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at an annual general meeting at least once every
3 years.

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation. In accordance with Article 112 of the
Articles of Association, any director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy during the Year shall hold office until the first general meeting of
the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting.
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Dr. Ge Xiaolin, Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian and Mr. Choy Wai Shek,
Raymond, MH, JP shall retire from office by rotation at the AGM to be held
on 16 August 2024 in accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of
Association. Since each of Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian and Mr. Choy Wai
Shek, Raymond, MH, JP was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in August 2014 and has served on the Board for more than 9
years, the re-election of each of them will be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by shareholders at the AGM.

Further, as all of the independent non-executive Directors had served more
than 9 years on the board as at August 2023, the Company furthered
appointed a new independent non-executive Director, Ms. Du Yun on 31
August 2023 pursuant to code provision B.2.4(b) of Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules. Ms. Du Yun and Mr. Lin Jiakuang, who were appointed by
the Board on 1 September 2023 and 17 October 2023 respectively, shall
retire from office at the AGM. All of the retiring Directors, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company or any
of its subsidiaries within 1 year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Confirmation of Independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
which have been received by the Company. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in
accordance with the terms of the guidelines during the Year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group as at the date of this report are disclosed in the section headed
“Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management on pages
30 to 34 of this annual report. Save as disclosed in the aforesaid section,
the Directors (a) have not held other directorships in public companies, the
securities of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas, in the last 3 years; (b) do not hold any other positions in the
Group; and (c) do not have any other relationships with any Directors,
senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the
Company.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

There is no other information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND 5 HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The Directors’ emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to
the duties, responsibilities and performance of the Directors and the results
of the Group.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the 5 highest paid individuals are
set out in notes 10 and 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee was set up by the Board to develop the
Group’s emolument policy and structure for remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance of the directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests or Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” and in this annual report relating to the share option scheme
adopted by the Company, at no time during the Year was the Company,
its parent company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
an acquisition of shares in, or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Article 191 of the Articles of Association, the Directors,
Managing Directors, alternate Directors, auditors, secretary and other
officers for the time being of the Company acting in relation to any of the
affairs of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or may
incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective
offices. Such provision was in force during the Year and remained in force
as of the date of this report. In addition, the Company has also
maintained Directors and officers liability insurance during the Year.
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

Saved and except of interests in the Group, none of the Directors or
substantial shareholders of the Company or any of their respective
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may compete
with the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interests with
the Group during the Year.

5 YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last 5 financial years is set out on page 232. Such summary does not
form part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the written resolutions passed by the sole shareholder of the
Company on 26 August 2014, the Company had conditionally adopted a
share option scheme (the “2014 Share Option Scheme”),
terminated in the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
30 May 2023. In the said extraordinary general meeting, a new share
option scheme of the Company has been adopted (the “2023 Share

which was

Option Scheme”). The 2023 Share Option Scheme has a life of 10 years
from 30 May 2023.

PURPOSE OF THE SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The purpose of the 2014 Share Option Scheme was to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees
(full-time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisors, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or service
providers of the Group and to promote the success of the business of the
Group.

The purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme is to is to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions the Group’s Eligible Participants (as defined
below) who have had or may have made to the Group and will provide
the Eligible Participants a personal stake in the Company with the view to
(i) motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their performance
efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and (ii) attract and retain the
Eligible Participants whose contributions are/or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group.
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PARTICIPANTS UNDER THE SHARE OPTION
SCHEMES AND BASIS OF ELIGIBILITY

Under the 2014 Share Option Scheme, the Board may, at its absolute
discretion and on such terms as it may think fit, grant any employee
(full-time or part-time), director, consultant or advisor of the Group, or any
substantial shareholder of the Group, or any distributor, contractor,
supplier, agent, customer, business partner or service provider of the
Group, options to subscribe at a price calculated in accordance with
paragraph under “Principal Terms of Share Option Schemes” below for
such number of Shares as it may determine in accordance with the terms
of the 2014 Share Option Scheme.

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any option shall
be determined by the Board (or as the case may be, the independent
non-executive Directors) from time to time on the basis of his contribution
or potential contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

Under the 2023 Share Option Scheme, the Board may, at its absolute
discretion and on such terms as it may think fit, grant options to the
“Eligible Participants”, which include (i) “Employee Participants”, being any
Directors or any full-time or part-time employees of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries (including persons who are granted options under the
2023 Share Option Scheme as an inducement to enter into employment
contracts with the Group); and (ii) “Service Providers”, being independent
contractor, sub-contractor, supplier, agent, consultants and/or adviser who
provide service to the Group in specific projects or support the Group’s
principal businesses.

PRINCIPAL TERMS OF THE SHARE OPTION
SCHEMES

The principal terms of the 2014 Share Option Scheme are summarised as
follows:

The 2014 Share Option Scheme was adopted for a period of 10 years
commencing from 26 August 2014, in the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 30 May 2023,
wherein the 2023 Share Option Scheme was adopted.

and was terminated

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option
granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and 2023 Share Option
Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and notified to a
participant and shall be at least the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day;
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(i) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and

(iii)  the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of the option.
Under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and the 2023 Share Option
Scheme, an offer for the grant of options must be accepted within 30
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount
payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of
the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.

Under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and the 2023 Share Option
Scheme, the period within which a share option may be exercised will be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion but no share option
may be exercised later than 10 years from the date of its grant.

Under the 2023 Share Option Scheme, subject to the Board exercising its
discretion to shorten the vesting period in accordance with the scheme
rules, all options granted will be subject to a minimum vesting period of
12 months.

As at the date of this report, the total number of Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2023 Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes and awards to be
granted under any other share award schemes of the Company is
151,289,413 Shares.

On 19 April 2021, the Company granted 46,492,000 share options to
certain Directors, employees, and a consultant to subscribe for ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company under the
2014 Share Option Scheme. The exercise price of each option is HK$0.42
per share. 16,892,000 options were vested immediately on such date of
grant; 14,800,000 options were vested during 1 year after such date of
grant, and the remaining 14,800,000 options will be vested during 2 years
after such date of grant. The validity period for the 1st and 2nd batch of
options are 2 years from their respective vesting dates; and the validity
period for the 3rd batch of options is 1 year from the vesting date.
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On 13 December 2022, the Company granted 10,800,000 share options to
certain Director and employees under the 2014 Share Option Scheme. The
exercise price is HK$0.50 per share. 2,700,000 options will be vested and
exercisable immediately on the date of grant. The other 8,100,000 options
will be subject to fulfillment of various performance targets in relation to
the Group within the time periods as determined by the Board and
specified in the respective letters of grant to the corresponding grantee.
Out of these 8,100,000 options, 6,700,000 options will be vested subject
to the respective dates of achieving the relevant performance targets for
such grantees but in any case not later than 31 December 2023; the
remaining 1,400,000 options will be vested subject to the respective dates
of achieving the relevant performance targets for such grantees but in any
case not later than 31 July 2024.

On 17 August 2023, the Company granted 135,500,000 share options to
certain Directors, employees and consultants under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme. The exercise price is HK$0.65 per share. 48,084,000 options (1st
Batch) will be vested and become exercisable from the 1st anniversary of
such date of grant. 43,708,000 options (2nd Batch) will be vested subject
to the relevant grantee has fulfilled his/her performance target, but in any
case not later than 31 December 2024. The other 43,708,000 options (3rd
Batch) will be vested subject to the relevant grantee has fulfilled his/her
performance target, but in any case not later than 31 December 2025. All
options are exercisable for from respective vesting dates.

Save for aforesaid, the Company did not grant any share option during
the Year.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
options granted to any participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and/or 2023
Share Option Scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Any further grant of options in
excess of such limit must be separately approved by the shareholders of
the Company in general meeting with such grantee and his associates
abstaining from voting.
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Any grant of an option to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective associates) must be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who is the grantee of the option).

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder of the Company
or an independent non-executive Director (or any of their respective
associates) will result in the total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted to
such person under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and/or 2023 Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Company
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) and awards to be
granted under any other share award schemes of the Company in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue; and

(ii)

having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the shares
at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million,

such further grant of options is required to be approved by shareholders
of the Company at a general meeting of the Company, with voting to be
taken by way of poll.
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Details of movement of the share options granted under the 2014 Share 1R {E20144F i A% #E 51 8 K 20234F §# f A 51 81 1%
Option Scheme and 2023 Share Option Scheme during the Year are set HEBEBREARNFEENEHFBEHMNOT -
out as follows:

Number of options

BRENE
Closing
price of
Fair value  the Share
of option at before
Exercisable Exercise date of the date of Outstanding Outstanding
Participants Date of grant Vesting period period price grant grant  at 1.4.2023 Granted  Exercised Lapsed at 31.3.2024
R PR #2023 20245
BEMER  BHEN 4R18 3A318
2mE RiHaH BEH fTEH fTEE EATE RHBHE HRITE ERH BiTfE EXH HRITE
HK$ HKS HK$
ET ET &
Directors
i
Mr. Zhu Yongjun 17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary ~ 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.34 0.64 — 500,000 — — 500,000
REBLEAE of date of grant 16.8.2027
ERBEHABIAFERE
Mr. Pan Yimin 19.4.2021 19.4.2022-18.4.2024 19.4.2022- 0.42 0.22 0.34 1,500,000 — - — 1,500,000
BHREEE 18.4.2024
19.4.2023-18.4.2024 19.4.2023- 0.42 0.24 0.34 1,500,000 e — — 1,500,000
18.4.2024
13.12.2022 Vest upon date of grant 13.12.2022- 0.50 0.19 0.50 1,100,000 — — — 1,100,000
12.12.2024
ERREAHER
17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary 17.8.2024~ 0.65 0.34 0.64 — 1,532,000 — — 1,532,000
of date of grant 16.8.2027
ERREBIASRR
17.8.2023 Note 1 0.65 0.36 0.64 — 1,484,000 - — 1,484,000
Bt &1
17.8.2023 Note 2 0.65 0.41 0.64 — 1,484,000 - — 1,484,000
Wi &2
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas 19.4.2021 Vest upon date of grant 19.4.2021- 0.42 0.18 0.34 2,000,000 — (2,000,000) — —
FHAXE 18.4.2023
EREHAHEE
19.4.2022-18.4.2024 19.4.2022- 0.42 0.22 0.34 1,500,000 — — — 1,500,000
18.4.2024
19.4.2023-18.4.2024 19.4.2023- 0.42 0.24 0.34 1,500,000 — — — 1,500,000
18.4.2024
17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.34 0.64 — 1,532,000 — — 1,532,000
of date of grant 16.8.2027
ERREBIASRR
17.8.2023 Note 1 0.65 0.36 0.64 — 1,484,000 — — 1,484,000
B &1
17.8.2023 Note 2 0.65 0.41 0.64 — 1,484,000 — — 1,484,000
B &2
Mr. Sui Guangyi (resigned 17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary ~ 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.34 0.64 — 500,000 — (500,000) —
on 28 February 2024) of date of grant 16.8.2027
T & 5 5 & (2024228 EREHEMBFEE
REE)
Dr. Ge Xiaolin 17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary ~ 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.34 0.64 — 500,000 — — 500,000
b1 2 5 of date of grant 16.8.2027
ERBLBEEFER
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu 19.4.2021 Vest upon date of grant 19.4.2021- 0.42 0.18 0.34 500,000 — — (500,000) —
3 bt 18.42023
ERERit AHRE
17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.34 0.64 — 500,000 — — 500,000
of date of grant 16.8.2027

ERRitAIAESE
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EEemE
Number of options
BREYE
Closing
price of
Fair value  the Share
of option at before
Exercisable Exercise date of the date of Outstanding Outstanding
Participants Date of grant Vesting period period price grant grant  at 1.4.2023 Granted  Exercised Lapsed at 31.3.2024
REH 341 #2023 #2024%
BHBER  BME® 4A18 3A318
sHE R BH RS T8 THE BAFE RHKHE HRTE 2R BT ER¥ HRTE
HK$ HKS HK$
ET ET BT
Dr. Tong Ka Lok 19.4.2021 Vest upon date of grant 19.4.2021- 0.42 0.18 0.34 500,000 — - (500,000) —
ERgEBL 18.4.2023
ERRHEHEE
17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary ~ 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.34 0.64 — 500,000 — — 500,000
of date of grant 16.8.2027
EREEBEEAFRR
Mr. Choy Wai Shek 17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary ~ 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.34 0.64 — 500,000 — — 500,000
Raymond of date of grant 16.8.2027
MH, JP ERRERIAFRR
BEREE
FREE
AF#t
Employees 19.4.2021 Vest upon date of grant 19.4.2021- 042 0.18 034 1,748,000 — (1,700,000) (48,000 —
&8 1842023
ERREEHEE
19.4.2022-18.4.2024 19.4.2022- 0.42 0.22 0.34 7,100,000 —  (4,490,000) (360,000) 2,250,000
18.4.2024
19.4.2023-18.4.2024 19.4.2023- 0.42 0.24 0.34 7,100,000 — (1,240,000) (360,000) 5,500,000
18.4.2024
13.12.2022 Vest upon date of grant 13.12.2022- 0.50 0.19 0.50 1,600,000 — — (200,000) 1,400,000
12.12.2024
EREHEHEE
13.12.2022 Note 3 0.50 0.25 0.50 5,900,000 — — (4,750,000 1,150,000
Fit &3
13.12.2022 Note 4 0.50 0.30 0.50 600,000 — — (300,000) 300,000
Hi 4
17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary ~ 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.34 0.64 — 38,104,000 — — 38,104,000
of date of grant 16.8.2027
ERBLBEEFTER
17.8.2023 Note 1 0.65 0.36 0.64 — 36,948,000 — — 36,948,000
Likal
17.8.2023 Note 2 0.65 0.41 0.64 — 36,948,000 — — 36,948,000

it 72
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Number of options

RENE
Closing
price of
Fair value  the Share
of option at before
Exercisable Exercise date of the date of Outstanding Outstanding
Participants Date of grant Vesting period period price grant grant at 1.4.2023 Granted  Exercised Lapsed at 31.3.2024
REH 34 #2023 #20244
BHMER  BHE® 4A18 3A318
s2HE ZHEHY REY friEs e #ATE RHBKTE i RATHE ERH 2T EX% K17
HKS HKS HKS
BT ET E
Consultants 19.4.2021 Vest upon date of grant, 19.4.2021- 0.42 0.18 0.34 500,000 — — (500,000) —
L] Note 5 18.4.2023
ERRIELBHEE WS
19.4.2022-18.4.2024 19.4.2022- 0.42 0.22 0.34 2,000,000 — (1,000,000) — 1,000,000
18.4.2024,
Note 5
Lok
19.4.2023-18.4.2024 19.4.2023- 042 024 034 2,000,000 - - — 2,000,000
18.4.2024,
Note 5
Wi &5
13.12.2022 Notes 3, 5 0.50 0.25 0.50 800,000 — — (800,000) —
&35
13.12.2022 Notes 4, 5 0.50 0.30 0.50 800,000 — — (400,000) 400,000
LiEZ ]
17.8.2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary ~ 17.8.2024- 0.65 0.35 0.64 — 3,916,000 — — 3,916,000
of date of grant 16.8.2027
ERBLAMEFRE
17.8.2023 Note 1 0.65 0.37 0.64 — 3,792,000 — — 3,792,000
it &1
17.8.2023 Note 2 0.65 0.41 0.64 — 3,792,000 — — 3,792,000
Bt 2
40,248,000 135,500,000 (10,430,000) (9,218,000) 156,100,000

Notes: Bt &

1. The options shall be vested in any case not later than 31 December 2024 with validity 1. i fx 1 1) 57 B A A SR 40 fo] 115 4B 702024512 A 31
period of 3 years from the respective vesting dates. H AR ASBEEE R BR3IF -

2, The exercise of the options is subject to Performance Targets that must be achieved 2. ERENITEZRRARANBERNEERIE -
by the grantees. The options shall be vested in any case not later than 0 AR 7 /Y B5 B HA R 3R 40 fo] 15 B 72025512 A 31
31 December 2025 with validity period of 3 years from the respective vesting H BHBASEHEHH®E3IF -
dates.

3. The exercise of the options is subject to Performance Targets that must be achieved 3. BRENTEXRNARAVEERNEEEIR -
by the grantees. The options shall be vested in any case not later than 31 8 IR 0 5% 8 B R AR 10 (] T 15 B 2023512 A31
December 2023 with validity period of 2 years from the respective vesting dates. H BRBASESEHHB2F -
The Performance Targets referred in notes 2 and 3 above include (i) fulfillment of X E2RIMIEMEEEERE  (VEEEEE
various performance targets in relation to the Group within the time periods as EHRBRAEXERAEEFRANSHEEEBZR 3
determined by the Board; or (ii) performance appraisal of the grantees, taking into (et RETFTEEMESEERTHARAETH
account certain qualitative and quantitative performance indicators. If () a EETZ - -WENEBRARGBEHANEERZE
grantee’s performance targets/appraisals result before a vesting period (the FEER(EBETIRDETRAR  AIZEARAE
“Performance Grading”) is graded as level A, the portion of options granted to BOZTPBRESNIEEEBERANZEEE : (i)
such grantee will be fully vested during the relevant vesting period; (ii) if the i e BT R AB - CHDR - — & H BAREE N8
Performance Grading is level B, C or D, a portion of the options will be vested BEBEAEE R e EETRERDR - B
during the relevant vesting period; and (iii) if the Performance Grading is below EAEMNERESXNEEGENNEE -
level D, no options will be vested during the relevant vesting period.

4. The exercise of the options is subject to certain conditions that must be achieved 4. BN ITE B R AR A BBZERNS TIHRY -

by the grantees. The options shall be vested in any case not later than 31 July
2024 with validity period of 2 years from the respective vesting dates.

2=

8 A% M 0 57 B H A AR 40 (] S 15 4B 7A202447 A 31
H BRHASEREERHB2F -



5. These are options previously granted to employees, but were re-appointed as
consultants upon their retirements during the Year.

6. The sublimit of the number of options that can be granted to the Service Provider
under the 2023 Share Option Scheme is 1% of the scheme limit, being
15,126,941.

7. As at the beginning of the Year, there are 151,289,413 options available for granted

under the 2023 Share Option Scheme (including 15,128,941 options available for
grant under the Service Provider sublimit). As at the end of the Year, there are
15,789,413 options available for granted under the 2023 Share Option Scheme
(including 3,628,941 options available for grant under the Service Provider
sublimit).

8. Other than the 2023 Share Option Scheme, the Company did not have any other
share option scheme and share award scheme as at 31 March 2024.

Apart from the aforesaid 2014 Share Option Scheme and the 2023 Share
Option Scheme, at no time during the Period and up to the date of this
report was any of the Company or any associated corporation a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate, and none of the Directors, or their spouses or children
under the age 18, had any right to subscribe for the shares in, or
debentures of, the Company, or had exercised any such rights.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests or Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meanings of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which any such
director or chief executive is taken or deemed to have under such
provision of the SFO) or which were required pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register of members of the Company, or
which were required, pursuant to standard of dealings by Directors as
referred to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

S

ESRRETHASNEY HEKRG RE
HFHESERE

M2024F3A318 AR ESRESTTHRAR
RAABRE AR EE (TEREEEFE
ST1E B AR EE GG EXVER) MR 7D - HER
MEREFTFHEBR(ESRBEKRD]) EFEFH
NEBEGOEXVEETRSD BBE NS AR AF K
BT ER RAR (BIEREFSF RIS KD
ERBRXTENBEBREERESITRABHEE
BB BBEENESIORE)  KBRIEFHF RS
B 5 35218 B R0 AR &) B B B RE A A A
HRKR  RBE ETARAIFTAE =R S AL

ARMEARRBI BN EE KRB MT

(i) Interests in the Company (i) REXLGHHEZ
Interests in ordinary shares % of the
REBERMES Total Total Company’s
interests in  interests in issued
Personal Family Corporate ordinary  underlying Aggregate voting
Name of directors interests interests interests shares shares interests shares
EAAT
ERTER
REERE  RERRS REER 84
ESnE i A2 RIE#ER AT ER HHBE NERSH HEZS 4B Et Bk
Mr. Zhu Yongjun 5,400,000 — 81,372,000 86,772,000 500,000 87,272,000 5.43%
KBBERE
Mr. Pan Yimin 500,000 == > 500,000 8,600,000 9,100,000 0.57%
EHR KL
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000 7,500,000 9,500,000 0.59%
=HeEE
Mr. Lin Jiakiang 159,724,000 — — 159,724,000 — 159,724,000 9.94%
MRETE
Dr. Ge Xiaolin 500,000 — — 500,000 500,000 1,000,000 0.06%
BEHE L
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu — — — — 500,000 500,000 0.03%
mEBEE
Dr. Tong Ka Lok 480,000 — — 480,000 500,000 980,000 0.06%
ERfEt
Mr. Choy Wai Shek Raymond 1,200,000 — — 1,200,000 500,000 1,700,000 0.11%
MH, JP
BEAKE

HEHE X FHL



(ii)

Note:

The 77,000,000 shares are beneficially held by Jumbo Grand Enterprise
Development Limited (“Jumbo Grand”) and 4,372,000 shares are
beneficially by Excellent Point Asia Limited (“Excellent Point”). Mr. Zhu
Yongjun owns 100% of the issued voting shares of Jumbo Grand and
Excellent Point. Mr. Zhu Yongjun is deemed or taken to be interested in all
the shares which are beneficially owned by Jumbo Grand for the purpose of
the SFO. Mr. Zhu Yongjun is the Chairman of the Board and an executive
Director of the Company.

The 159,724,000 shares are beneficially owned by Yuan Heng Group
International Co., Limited (“Yuan Heng”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of 7T
SHEERORIN)EEARAQA, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Lin
Jiakuang. Mr. Lin lJiakuang is deemed to be in all interested in all the
shares beneficially owned by Yuan Heng Group International Co., Limited
for the purpose of SFO. Mr. Lin Jiakuang is an non-executive Director of the
Company.

Interests in the associated corporation

(ii)
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577,000,000l fh AR X EHE B R A A
(T8 #2)) & Z 5 B - M %4,372,0008% A% 17 8 M
Excellent PointAsia Limited ([ Excellent Point |) & %
FE - KRBELLEHEEB % B RExcellent Point#)
100%EETAREERD - RBFH RBAEKAM
T ABEARABR AR EEREREREARN
FrERNTPERES KBELEARRAREES
FERNITES -

#%159,724, 000 B T T S B BB AR A A
(IE=DEREF EATTEEXEE(RIDEE
BERARZZENBRAR ZAFEANRELRESE
AR BEFRHBGHANE  AREXERS
RRLTZREBRERADESEANMAE KD
THA MG MERELELERRNRARFFNATES -

B 18 5t % [B] 59 1 2%

% of the issued
voting shares of

Name of directors/chief Name of associated No. of shares associate
executive corporation Capacity/Nature held corporation
HHEBEEE
ES BERITHAE BH BITRRRE
%2 B EE 2 By MHE % 3 8 B B3 898 7 b
Zhu Yongjun Jumbo Grand Interest in controlled 10,000 100%
corporation
KEE Sk REELEEER
Zhu Yongjun Excellent Point Interest in controlled 50,000 100%
corporation
KBEE Excellent Point A B
Lin Jiakuang Yuan Heng Interest in controlled 10,000 100%
corporation
MK E LT REEDEE R
Chu Shu Cheong Prosper Power Interest In controlled 75 75%
Group Ltd. corporation
("Prosper Power")
KB EREEABRAF REGDEE R

(r&gl)
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024 none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had any other interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Listing Rules relating to the required standard of dealings by the
directors to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Substantial Shareholder’s Interests and/or Short Position in
Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2024, the following
person (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) who had

interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the

Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or who is directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of any class of issued shares carrying rights to vote in all

circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group:

Br £ SCPTI% EE & Hb 0 PA2024F3A31H -
ARABEZERESTHRAEBRENADQA
HHAEZE (TERBLFRBEGKRIE
XVES) K E M B tn - MR K ESH P %
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A AN R R) R B 22 P A £ ) B A 4 2 sk
KE (REREESLRBEKIEREIEX
BEREFEXWRABEENEDIA
) RAREEF LR E3526 BT
A RZ G BT 46 & 50 it P9 B9 T f] A2 25 ok0%
B RBREEHREERIAETERN LT
R AE G AR B K 5 A BT (T ) H A 4

3L A
HEAR o

EEBRRNRAEAT RN RABEFEK GRS
RgiKAE

BEEHA R2024%638318 » TA AL (A 3E
ARREERZDITRAE) RARQARMD
BRMPHEEREES B ERIIEXVIEIE2R
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A ERI R

L (BT EE3)

BEREAA

Long positions in the shares of the Company RELGRAITFE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholdings in
Name of shareholders Capacity shares held the Company
XA RER
B R & 5 & HERKRGEE WMAE S
Yuan Heng (Note 1) Beneficial owner 159,724,000 9.94%
T F (FEsE1) EmEA A
TFEEER(CRYIDEEABR DA (Note 1) Interest in a controlled 159,724,000 9.94%
corporation
TFEEERCRYIDEBAR QA (FEE1) R EER
Mr. Lin Jiakuang (Note 1) Interest in a controlled 159,724,000 9.94%
corporation
MK E 5 & (F5E1) PR E R
Hong Kong Toprich Investment Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 156,740,000 9.76%
EEREREARQ A (HeE2) EmEA A
Jumbo Grand (Note 3) Beneficial owner 77,000,000 4.79%
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Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholdings in

Name of shareholders Capacity shares held the Company
HERATRED

B2 5% & 78 54 FERHBEE a5

Prosper Power (Note 4) Beneficial owner 76,500,000 4.76%

& B (M 514) EmEA A

Mr. Chu Shu Cheong (Note 4) Interest in a controlled 76,500,000 4.76%
corporation

KA S 5t A (H5E4) FEGEEE S

Kingston Finance Limited (Notes 4 and 5) Person having a security 76,500,000 4.76%
interest in shares

D F B BER DA (M 5F4%5) BEROEFRERNOAL

Ample Cheer Limited (Notes 4 and 5) Interest in a controlled 76,500,000 4.76%
corporation

Ample Cheer Limited (Ff 54 }5) R A B

Ms. Chu Yuet Wah (Notes 4 and 5) Interest in a controlled 76,500,000 4.76%

2 A2+ (M sE45)

Notes:

corporation
FEGEEE S

By &z -

The 159,724,000 shares are beneficially owned by Yuan Heng, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of 7T &8 ORYI) LE B R AR, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Lin
Jiakuang. Mr. Lin Jiakuang is deemed to be in all interested in all the shares
beneficially owned by Yuan Heng.

Hong Kong Toprich Investment Limited is indirectly wholly-owned by China
Investment Fund Company Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability with its shares listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 612).

Jumbo Grand is wholly-owned by Mr. Zhu Yongjun who is the Chairman of the
Board and an executive Director of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Zhu Yongjun is
deemed to be interested in the 77,000,000 shares held by Jumbo Grand for the
purpose of the SFO.

The 76,500,000 shares are beneficially owned by Prosper Power which is owned as
to 75% by Mr. Chu Shu Cheong. Mr. Chu Shu Cheong is deemed or taken to be
interested in all the shares which are beneficially owned by Prosper Power.
Mr. Chu Shu Cheong is also a director of Prosper Power.

The 76,500,000 shares are beneficially owned by Prosper Power and had been
pledged to Kingston Finance Limited as pledgee to secure a loan granted to
Prosper Power. Kingston Finance Limited is wholly-owned by Ample Cheer Limited,
which is in turn owned as to 80% by Best Forth Limited, which is wholly-owned
by Ms. Chu Yuet Wah. Accordingly, Ample Cheer Limited and Ms. Chu Yuet Wah
are deemed to be interested in all shares held by Kingston Finance Limited.

%159,724, 000k RN T F E=EE AT
¥ERRINEMBERABNZEZEMBAR %A
AEAMRKELE2ERE -MNRELERBERET
TEZBEANMARMTHEE 2 g -

EARERBERAFBTFEREESARAA
ME2EHF REARREFEEMARINAR
A BN B (RO 612)

BREABELLE (BARRESSEERNTE
F)2EREF-BAl RBSRHEKAMmS K
BEAEWHR AR BEREEAK77,000,0008% 8% 5+
BEHRER -

7%76,500,000R RN ERE=ES * MEBBR
BB EHBT5% e o KB 2R EWEAREE
REBEBENMERMNTEAEZ - KEE 5%
ENMBERNES -

7%76,500,000 B HEKEZES  XEHR T
SHLHBEAR DR (ERBAEA)  LREBERE
BRO—2ER - &5 L5522 F EAmple Cheer
LimitedZ & # A * ifiAmple Cheer Limited 852 A
# 4 + 2 & A HBest Forth Limited?# 580% 1
25 o E Itk © Ample Cheer Limited % 2= B ## 40 35 3
RAERS LM BHERABFAEERG S %
B o
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Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests or Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” and “Substantial Shareholder’s Interests and/or Short Position
in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company” above, as at 31 March
2024, no other person was individually and/or collectively entitled to
exercise or control the exercise of 5% or more of the voting power at
general meeting of the Company and was able, as a practical matter, to

direct or influence the management of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of the report, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules during the Year.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 13 August
2024 to 16 August 2024 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfers of shares will be registered. To determine the entitlement to
attend and vote at the AGM of the Company, all transfer document,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, No. 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 12 August 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” above, there is no other significant event after the Reporting
Period of the Group.

AUDITOR

BDO Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution to re-appoint BDO
Limited, the retiring auditor, as auditor of the Company is to be proposed
at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

By order of the Board
New Concepts Holdings Limited

Zhu Yongjun
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board believes that good corporate governance is one of the areas
leading to the success of the Company and balancing the interests of
shareholders, customers and employees, and the Board is devoted to
ongoing enhancement of the efficiency and effectiveness of such principles
and practices.

The Company has adopted the compliance manual which sets out the
minimum standard of good practices concerning the general management
responsibilities of the Board with which the Company and the Directors
shall comply and which contains, among other things, the code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance.

The Board considers that the Company has complied with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code during the Year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition and Responsibilities

As at 31 March 2024, the Board comprises 9 directors (“Directors”),
comprising 3 executive Directors, 2 non-executive Directors and 4
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the Board
throughout the Year is as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhu Yongjun (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Pan Yimin

Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Sui Guangyi (Honorary Chairman)
(resigned on 28 February 2024)
Mr. Lin Jiakuang (appointed on 17 October 2023)
Dr. Ge Xiaolin
Dr. Zhang Lihui (resigned on 31 August 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Du Yun (appointed on 1 September 2023)
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian

Dr. Tong Ka Lok

Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP

The biographical details and responsibilities of the Directors as well as the
senior management are set out in the section “Biographical Details of the
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 30 to 34.
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Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details of the
Directors and Senior Management” to this annual report, the Directors
have no other financial,
relationships with each other.

business, family or other material/relevant

The Board is accountable to shareholders for the Company’s performance
and activities. While the Board is primarily overseeing and managing the
Company’s affairs, the Chairman of the Board provides leadership to the
Board in carrying out its duties. The executive Directors and the senior
management of the Company are delegated with responsibilities in the
day-to-day management of the Company and make operational and
business decisions within the control of and delegation framework of the
Company. The independent non-executive Directors contribute valuable
views and proposals for the Board’s deliberation and decisions.

The Company has throughout the Year met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least 3 independent non-executive
Directors with at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting or related financial management expertise.

At all times during the Year, the independent non-executive Directors
represent at least one-third of the Board.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has submitted a written
statement to the Stock Exchange confirming their independence and has
undertaken to inform the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if there is
any subsequent change of circumstances which may affect their
independence prior to their respective appointment. The Company has also
received a written confirmation from each of the independent
non-executive Directors in respect of their independence for the Year. The
Board considers that all independent non-executive Directors are being
considered to be independent with reference to the factors stated in the
Listing Rules during the Year.

Other matters reserved for the Board include consideration of dividend
policy, approval of major investments, maintenance of an adequate system
of internal controls and review of the corporate governance practices of
the Group. Daily operations and administration are delegated to
management teams.
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Procedure for Seeking Independent Professional Advice by
Directors

The Company has agreed to provide separate independent professional
advice and sufficient resources to Directors and all Board Committees to
assist them to discharge their duties. The Company will consider to
develop a written procedure to enable Directors, and members of all
Board Committees upon reasonable request, to seek and be provided with
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the

Company's expense.

The Company has subscribed an insurance policy with an aim to indemnify
its Directors from any losses, damages, liabilities and expenses arising
from, including but not limited to, any proceedings brought against them
during the performance of their duties pursuant to their respective services
agreements entered into with the Company.

Board Meetings

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least 4 times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals, to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operational and financial performance of the Company. Other Board
meetings have been held during the Year for approving the acquisitions of
business,
change of Directors of the Company, etc. Such Board meetings involve the
active participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of Directors. The Directors make every effort
to contribute to the formulation of policy, decision-making and the

grant of share options, subscription and issue of shares and

development of the Group's business.

During the Year, a total of 7 Board meetings were held. Various meetings
of the
committee have also been held. The Chairman has had a meeting with
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of the executive

remuneration committee, nomination committee and audit

Directors and non-executive Directors.
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Directors’ Attendance at the Board/Board Committee/General
Meetings
Below are details of all Directors’ attendance at the Board and Board

EFREFEEHR EFFREEH RE
XELHHEE

RAFERTNESEER BEFLBEQ
BEREFAERERFIAENZBES

committee meetings, annual and extraordinary general meetings, held I3
during the Year: b 1IN
Number of Meetings Attended/Held
HE/ BTERRY
Audit  Nomination Remuneration Annual Extraordinary
Board Committee Committee Committee General General
Name of Director Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
EXE EKZEEE REFEEE HHZEsE BREAE ELE]
EERE L =ik ] L XE xXE
Executive Directors: HITEE -
Mr. Zhu Yongjun KEERAE 77 NAATEA 44 NATER 11 11
Mr. Pan Yimin BHEREHE 7T NATER NATER 204 1”n 7n
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas EHE%E 7 NATER NATER 1/4 11 11
Non-executive Directors: HHTEE -
Mr. Sui Guangyi (resigned on B8 B % 5t 4 (R20245F 47 NATRER  NATER  NATER 11 0N
28 February 2024) 2A28B & T)
Mr. Lin Jiakuang (appointed on MK E % & (R2023F 27 NATER  NATER  NATER  NATER  NATER
17 October 2023) 10R17REZ )
Dr. Ge Xiaolin BER#ET 717 N/A i A N/A T8 N/A i A Al 7
Dr. Zhang Lihui (resigned on R BE L (R20235F 27 NATEA  NATEE  NATER 0/1 11
31 August 2023) 8A31RET)

Independent Non-executive Directors: B F#/TE % :

Ms. Du Yun (appointed on =R+ (R20235F 47 NATER
1 September 2023) IR1REZRT)
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian BREBEE 717 33
Dr. Tong Ka Lok ERZft 17 33
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MK, Jp BERLE  4£25= 17 33
A P4+

Appropriate notices are given to all Directors in advance for attending
regular and other board or board committee meetings. Meeting agendas
and other relevant information are provided to the Directors in advance of
board or board committee meetings. All Directors are consulted to include
additional matters in the agenda for such meetings.

Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary
with a view to ensuring that board procedures, and all applicable rules
and regulations, are followed.

N/A i N/A i N/A i N/A T

4/4 4/4 " 7
4/4 4/4 7 1”7
4/4 4/4 n n

EREFCRHFEHNREMESEHEEE
EeeRAEREESEAAN SRFRERE
CHEEENCREZEREETZREEHAMNEX
REZ -2RESFCELNA  AREBIFRT
AEHEEERE -

EEPMRBARAMENELARERERYE
NHREESREFULAAEERRRRR DI

FET -



Both draft and final versions of the minutes will be sent to all Directors
for their comment and records. Minutes of board and board committee
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes are open
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable prior notice by any
Director.

All directors are also entitled to have access to board papers and related
materials. These papers and related materials are in a form and quality
sufficient to enable the board to make informed decisions on matters
placed before it. Queries raised by directors shall receive a prompt and full
response by the management.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal
The aforesaid service contracts may be terminated by not less than 3
month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, at each
annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the
time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting of the Company, at least once
every 3 years. Such retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election at the
annual general meeting.

The Board shall have power from time to time and at any time to appoint
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional
Director but so that the number of Directors so appointed shall not
exceed the maximum number determined from time to time by the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

Confirmation of Independence

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors
meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and are independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines
during the Year.
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Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors.

Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors, and all Directors
confirmed in writing that they have complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code regarding their securities transactions for the
Year.

Induction and Continuous Professional Trainings of Directors

Each of the appointed Directors, has received formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction and continuous professional training to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the

requirements of the Listing Rules and relevant statutory obligations.

The Directors have also been informed of the requirement under Code
Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code regarding continuous professional
development.

During the Year, there was one in-house training conducted covering the
topics of connected transactions, directors’ duties and responsibilities,
corporate governance practices, independence of
non-executive directors, disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules
and SFO.

independent
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All Directors have attended the continuous professional development MRAFE  2REFCHFEFHETELREE
training and below are details of all Directors’ attendance on training FX & 2EEENEFFES -
during the Year.

Attendance/Numbers of
in-house seminars

HE TR ERERE

Executive Directors: HITEE -
Mr. Zhu Yongjun KREE KA 1
Mr. Pan Yimin EHERA 1
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas THEEE 1
Non-executive Directors: HHNITESF -
Mr. Sui Guangyi (resigned on PS E 3 % A (7R20244F

28 February 2024) 2A288 B L) 1
Mr. Lin Jiakuang (appointed on MR E %k 4 (7R2023%5F

17 October 2023) 10178 B Z1E) 2
Dr. Ge Xiaolin BEgE L
Dr. Zhang Lihui (resigned on 9% 37 BB 1E £ (7R2023%F

31 August 2023) 8A31AET) =
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUIFHTEE
Ms. Du Yun (appointed on = 2+ (20235

1 September 2023) 9F1HEZ M) 2
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian BLERSE 1
Dr. Tong Ka Lok EEHEL 1
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, mH, Jp BERLE #5525 KFHT+ 1

BOARD COMMITTEES ESEEEE
Audit Committee BEREEE

The audit committee of the Company was established in compliance with ZAAGMNBZRZE S HER FmAEI21R
Rules 3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing Rules and with its written terms of 3.22{&f Y W EEZEMESRE - RFTNERX
reference. The latest terms of reference of the audit committee are ZE@ZMEBZEEE A R AR A K ATAH
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. BB o

The responsibility of the audit committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling BEZZEE€eNELNHPHESSEHMLEEAR
its audit duties through the review and supervision of the Company’s R A FEHR - BEKREIE & A e R A &
financial reporting, risk management and internal control principles and f2F ' BT HZEZBE  URRAESSREER
procedures, and to provide advice and comments to the Board. The N FF(E - ik 8 F B 62 4P 2B+ D & s AN A 7]
members meet regularly with the external auditor and/or the Company’s HESHEREAEESH  UEH BB RITHAR
senior management for the review, supervision and discussion of the GEIMBIIEHR EREERABELRRF UK
Company's financial reporting, risk management and internal control MREEEEEITHRIALRREEKANIPE
procedures and ensure that the management has discharged its duties to % %l & H) B 75 -

have an effective risk management and internal control systems.
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The composition of the audit committee throughout the Year is as
follows:

Dr. Tong Ka Lok (Chairman)
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP

None of the members of the audit committee is a former partner of the
Company’s existing auditing firm. Dr. Tong Ka Lok, who has appropriate
professional qualifications and experience in accounting matters,
appointed as the chairman of the audit committee.

was

During the Year, the audit committee held 3 meetings. Details of the
attendance of the members of the audit committee in the said meeting
are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance at Board/Board
Committee/General Meetings” above.

The summary of work of the audit committee during the Year is as
follows:

o met with the external auditors, reviewed and made recommendations
for the Board’s approval on the annual and interim reports of the
Company;

o reviewed and approved audit fee;

o recommended the re-appointment of BDO Limited as auditor, and

approval the remuneration and terms of engagement; and

J reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems including the internal audit function.

Remuneration Committee

The Board established the remuneration committee on 26 August 2014
with written terms of reference in compliance with the relevant CG Code.
The latest written terms of reference of the remuneration committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The remuneration committee is responsible for, inter alia, formulating and
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s emolument
policy and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing such policy. The Board expects the remuneration committee to
exercise independent judgment and ensures that executive Directors do not
participate in the determination of their own remuneration.
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The composition of the remuneration committee throughout the Year is as
follows:

Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP (Chairman)
Dr. Tong Ka Lok

Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian

Mr. Pan Yimin (appointed on 14 August 2023)

Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas (ceased on 14 August 2023)

During the Year, the remuneration committee held 4 meeting. Details of
the attendance of the members of the remuneration committee in the said
meeting are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance at
Board/Board Committee/General Meetings” above.

The summary of work of the remuneration committee during the Year is
as follows:

o reviewed and recommended to the Board on the Group’'s
remuneration policy and strategy;

o reviewed and recommended to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and senior management during
the Year;

non-executive Directors,

o assessed performance of executive directors and approving the terms
of executive directors’ service contract; and

o reviewed matters in relation to the share option scheme of the
Company.

Nomination Committee

The Board established the nomination committee on 26 August 2014 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the relevant CG Code. The
latest written terms of reference of the nomination committee are

available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the nomination committee include reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Directors, assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the
Board on appointment and re-appointment of Directors.
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The composition of the nomination committee throughout the Year is as
follows:

Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian (Chairman)
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, Raymond, MH, JP
Dr. Tong Ka Lok
Mr. Zhu Yongjun

During the Year, the nomination committee held 4 meeting. Details of the
attendance of the members of the nomination committee in the said
meeting are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance at
Board/Board Committee/General Meetings” above.

The summary of work of the nomination committee during the Year is as

follows:
. reviewed the existing Board’s structure, size and composition;
J reviewed and made recommendation on the appointment on

non-executive Directors;

o reviewed and assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; and
o made recommendation on the retiring Directors at the AGM of the

Company.

Board diversity policy

The Company recognises the benefits of having diversity in the
composition of the Board and adopted its own board diversity policy on
26 August 2014.

The Company noted that people from different backgrounds and with
different professional and life experience are likely to approach problems
in different ways and accordingly, members of the Board with diverse
backgrounds will bring different concerns and questions to the table, and
allow the Board to consider a wider range of options and solutions when
deciding on corporate issues and formulating policies for the Group. In
determining the Board’'s composition and selection of candidates to the
Board, factors including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, industry
knowledge and length of service will Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be

be considered. All

considered against the selection criteria, having regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board, the business model and specific needs of the
Group. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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The Board has consisted at least 1 female member where the Company
considered the overall Board composition (as well as relevant background
and expertise) and the business needs of the Group, it is of the view that
gender diversity of the Board is achieved at this stage.

The Company will continuously seek to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board by maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance and
recognising and embracing the benefits of diversity in the boardroom.
Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, with due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The following chart shows the diversity profile of the Board as at
31 March 2024:
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On the other hand, while the Group has always been committed to
providing open and equal employment opportunities and platforms and
regards the ability and qualifications of candidates as the most critical
assessment elements in the recruitment process. We also ensure that our
human resources management structure, such as remuneration levels,
training opportunities and employment prospects, are not affected by
gender to achieve gender equality.
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Since (i) certain main businesses of the Group including foundation, and
kitchen waste treatment, etc., the professionals who take relevant courses
are mainly male, and (ii) the front-line technical staff of the project
companies require high manual labour and shift work, as a result, the
applicants are mainly male, rather than the Group deliberately not hiring
female front-line technical staff. Details of the Group’s gender ratio are set
out in the Company’s ESG report for the Year published on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The nomination committee has monitored the implementation of the board
diversity policy since its adoption, and also reviewed it to ensure its
effectiveness and concluded that no revision to the policy is required at
the last nomination committee meeting held.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee was responsible to maintain the nomination
policy of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”) and review the same
regularly. The purpose of the Nomination Policy is to identify candidates
who are suitable to become a member of the Board and to make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of candidates nominated
for directorships. The Board shall be composed of members with balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to accomplish
the Group’s business development, strategies, operation, challenges and
opportunities. The core criteria for selection include gender, age, cultural
and education background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience, number of directorship in other
listed/public companies and in case of
Directors, the number of years they have already served. According to the
nomination procedure, the Nomination Committee is responsible for
identifying potential new Directors and recommends to the Board for
decision. The appointment shall be subject to the approval by the Board in

independent non-executive

accordance with the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association,
the Main Board Listing Rules and the Nomination Policy.

Corporate Governance Function

During the Year, the Board has reviewed the corporate governance
practices of the Company with reference to Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules. The summary of their work during the Year is as follows:

o developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

o reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the Group;

o reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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o developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees of the Group and the
Directors; and

o reviewed the Company’s compliance with CG Code and disclosure in
the corporate governance report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Emolument Policy

The remuneration policy of the Group is to ensure the fairness and
competitiveness of total remuneration. The emoluments of executive
Directors are determined based on the skills, knowledge, individual
performance as well as contributions, the scope of responsibility and
accountability of such Directors, taking into consideration the Company’s
performance and prevailing market conditions. The remuneration policy of
non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors is to
ensure that they are adequately compensated for their efforts and time
dedicated to the Company’s affairs including their participation in
respective Board committees. Their emoluments are determined with

reference to their skills, experience, knowledge, duties and market trends.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of the
Financial Statements for the Year which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group in accordance with the statutory
requirements and accounting standards and other financial disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules. The financial results of the Group are
announced in a timely manner in accordance with statutory and/or

regulatory requirements.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out in
the independent auditor’s report on pages 83 to 88.
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External Auditor's Remuneration

During the Year, the Group engaged BDO Limited as external auditor of
the Company. The fee in respect of audit services and non-audit services
provided by BDO Limited and its affiliates for the Year were as follows:

S BB 42 B4 B i BN

RAFE AKREZEEAEILGERREAMSE
BHARARBARBINBZEED - BELIE
EEGMEFEMARIALEBERANAK
FERHEERBRFEZRBOERNOT :

Nature of services Amount
R M E ok
HK$'000

TFHET

Audit services in relation to annual results BR2FEENEZRE 1,857
Non-audit services EBEZIRE 230

The audit committee has expressed its views to the Board that the level of
fees paid/payable to the Company to the Company’s external auditor for
annual audit services is reasonable. There has been no major disagreement
between the auditor and the management of the Company during the
Year.

Non-audit services
Company's
30 September 2023 amounting to HK$130,000 and independent assurance
report on calculations of discounted future estimated cash flows in

represent the agreed-upon procedures on the

interim financial information for the six-month ended

connection with the valuation of the patent technologies amounting to
HK$100,000.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Board has overall responsibility for the effective risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and committed to the maintenance
of good corporate governance, practices and procedures of the Group. The
Board also admitted the effectiveness of the existing risk management and
internal control systems during the Year. However, such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate risk of failure to achieve
business objective, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material Nevertheless, the
management is authorised to engage an external professional service

misstatement or loss.

provider to conduct review on the Group’s
recommendations for the improvement and strengthening of the risk

management and internal control systems during the Year.

policies and make
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Effectiveness

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating, determining,
establishing and maintaining an effective risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness to
safeguard the Company’s assets and the shareholders’ interests. During the
Year, the Board and the audit committee of the Company have conducted
a review on the effectiveness of Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The Board has overseen the management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems, and
has reviewed the effectiveness on the Group’s certain policies during the
Year.

The Board identified and evaluated the risks and analysed the core risks
within the Group to mitigate related risks arising from the existing
operations after evaluating its risk management and internal controls
systems.

The key risk management and internal control procedures of the Company
are as follows:

1. determine the scope, identify the risks and compile a list of such risks;

2. evaluate and prioritise the risks based on the possible financial loss
and impact on operating efficiency, sustainability and reputation;

3. identify the risk control measures against major risks, conduct internal
control assessments of the design and implementation of such
measures, and formulate measures to improve any defect;

4. review and evaluate the risk management and internal control systems
on an ongoing basis and ensure the constant improvement of the
risk management system; and

o

report the findings to the audit committee and the board of directors.

The Board confirmed that the Group’s risk management and internal
controls systems were acceptable and there was no material
non-compliance or failures issues located but various areas for
improvement have been identified during the Year. Certain remedial
measures have been and will be taken to strengthen the risk management

and internal control systems of the Group.

The Group reviewed the effectiveness of its risk management and internal
control systems at least annually. The Board and the audit committee also
considered that the key areas of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, including the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting are reasonably conducted and implemented.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLE-BLOWING
POLICY

The Group has established (i) policy and measures that promote and
support anti-corruption and bribery regulations; (ii)
whistle-blowing policy and measures for those who deal with the Group,
such as its employees, customers and suppliers to raise concerns, in
confidence and anonymity, with the audit committee about possible

laws and and

improprieties in any matter related to the Group. For further details of the
Group's anti-corruption and bribery policy, and whistleblowing policy and/
or measures, please refer to the Company’'s ESG report for the Year
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group has adopted and implemented its own disclosure policy aiming
to provide a general guide to the directors and senior management of the
Company in handling of confidential information and/or monitoring of
information disclosure pursuant to applicable laws and regulations in
compliance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO").

The disclosure policy provides the procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information by publication of the
announcement to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
on a timely basis to enable the public, namely shareholders, institutional
investors, potential investors and other stakeholders of the Company to
access the latest information of the Group, unless such information fall
within the safe harbours under the SFO.

Briefing and training on the implementation of the disclosure policy have
been provided to Directors and senior management of the Group.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding and
monitoring the Company in discharging its duties, certain responsibilities
are delegated to various board committees which have been established by
the Board to deal with different aspects of the Company’s affairs. Unless
otherwise specified in their respective written terms of reference as
approved by the Board, these board committees are governed by the
Company’s articles of association as well as the Board’s policies and
practices (in so far as the same are not in conflict with the provisions
contained in the articles of association).

With the establishment of the audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee, the independent non-executive Directors will
be able to effectively devote their time to perform the duties required by
the respective board committees.
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The Board has also delegated the responsibility of implementing its
strategies and the day-to-day operation to the management of the
Company under the leadership of the chief executive officer and executive
Directors. Clear guidance has been made as to the matters that should be
reserved to the Board for its decision which include matters on, inter alia,
capital, finance and financial reporting, internal controls, communication
with shareholders,

Board membership, delegation of authority and

corporate governance.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas undertook over 15 hours’
professional training to update his skill and knowledge in compliance with
the CG Code.

CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the Year, the amended and restated Articles of Association was
adopted by the shareholders of the Company in the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 30 May 2023. An up-to-date version of
the Articles of Association is on the respective websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

Save for the aforesaid, during the Year, there has been no changes in the
constitutional documents of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Way by Which Shareholders Can Convene Extraordinary
General Meeting (“EGM")/Put Forward Proposal

According to Article 64 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the requisition of
one or more shareholders of the Company holding, at the date of deposit
of the requisition, not less than one- tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition
shall be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary for the
purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

reasonable expenses incurred by the
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Article 113 of the Articles of Association provides that no person, other
than a retiring Director shall, unless recommended by the Board for
election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general
meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person
for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his
willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at
the registration office. The period for lodgment of the notices required
under this Article will commence no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election
and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting
and the minimum length of the period during which such notices to the
Company may be given will be at least 7 days.

Accordingly, if a shareholder of the Company wishes to propose a person
other than a retiring Director for election as a Director at the Company’s
general meeting, he/she should attend the following:

° Prepare a notice in writing of his/her intention to propose a person
for election as a Director.

o The person proposed for election as a Director shall also prepare a
notice in writing of his/her willingness to be elected.

o Such notices shall be lodged at the head office of the Company at
Office B, 3/F, Kingston International Centre, 19 Wang Chiu Road,
Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong or at the address of Tricor Investor
Services Limited, the Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer
office of the Company at 17th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, No.
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

J The period for lodgment of such notices will commence no earlier
than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than 7 days
prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum length
of the period during which such notices to the Company may be
given will be at least 7 days.

The relevant procedures are set out in the circular to the shareholders
which is sent together with this annual report and the Company’s website
at http://www.primeworld-china.com.

The Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns in writing to the
Board by addressing them to the Company at our head office in Hong
Kong at Office B, 3/F, Kingston International Centre, 19 Wang Chiu Road,
Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong or by email through the Company’s website at
http://www.primeworld-china.com.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company endeavors to maintain effective communications with the
shareholders and potential investors of the Company.

Save as mentioned under the sub-heading “The Procedures for Sending

Enquiries to the Board” above, in order to provide more relevant
information to our shareholders, the Company has published all corporate
information the Group on its
http://www.primeworld-china.com. It is a channel of the Company to
communicate with the shareholders and potential investors with our latest
corporate development. All

statutory announcement, circular, financial reports are available on the

about website at

our corporate communications, such as
website for easy access by the shareholders and potential investors. In
addition,
meeting so as to promote the development of the Company through
mutual and efficient communications.

the Company meets its shareholders at the annual general

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company aims to strike a balance between maintaining sufficient
capital to develop and operate the business of the Group and rewarding
the shareholders of the Company. According to the dividend policy of the
Company, in deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining
the dividend amount, the Company shall take into account, inter alia, the
following factors:

actual

— the Group’s operating results,

performance;

and expected financial

—  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each

of the members of the Group;

—  the level of the Group's debts to equity ratio, return on equity and
the relevant financial covenants;

— the Group’s expected working capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

requirements, capital

—  the Group’s liquidity position;

— general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business
and other internal and external factors that may have an impact on
the business or financial performance and position of the Group;
and

— any other factors that the Company may deem appropriate and
relevant.
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Such declaration and payment of the dividend by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Laws of the Cayman
Islands, any applicable laws, rule and regulations and the Articles of
Association of the Company. Any declaration and payment of future
dividend under the Dividend Policy are subject to the Board's
determination that the same would be in best interests of the Group and
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The forthcoming AGM of the Company is scheduled to be held on 16
August 2024. At the AGM, the chairman of the Board as well as
chairmen of the nomination committee, remuneration committee and audit
committee or, in their absence,
committees shall attend to answer questions from shareholders at the
annual general meeting. The representatives of the external auditor shall

other members of the respective

also present and available to answer questions at the meeting.
The notice of AGM and the necessary information on issues to be
considered in the AGM will be set out in the circular to be dispatched to

the shareholders of the Company in due course.

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

EEE - +852 2218 8288
{85H : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of New Concepts
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) set out on pages 89 to 231, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial

statements, including a summary of material

accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
("HKICPA")
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Financial

Institute of Certified Public Accountants and have been

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants” (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

18 M % B
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Impairment assessment of trade and retention receivables,
deposits and other receivables, contract assets, loan receivables
and receivables and contract assets under service concession
arrangements

Refer to notes 16(b), 16(c), 20(a), 21, 22, 23 of the consolidated financial
statements and material accounting policy information on note 4(g),

4(i)(ii).

As at 31
retention receivables, deposits and other receivables, contract assets, loan

March 2024, the aggregate carrying amount of trade and

receivables and receivables and contract assets under service concession
arrangements was HK$495,586,000 which represented approximately 45%
of the Group’s total assets. An impairment assessment is performed by
management at the end of the reporting period.

The impairment assessment is significant to our audit due to the
significance of the carrying amounts as a whole and significant estimates
involved in determining the future cash flows from such deposits and
receivables based on, among others, the ageing of these deposit and
and debtors’ past
repayment history and historical write-off experience.

receivable balances, customers’ creditworthiness,

Our response:

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of trade and
retention receivables, deposits and other receivables, contract assets, loan
receivables and receivables and contract assets under service concession
arrangements included:

o Assessing the methodologies and inputs adopted by the management
of the Group in estimating the expected credit loss (“ECL") of trade
and retention receivables, deposits and other receivables, contract
assets, loan receivables and receivables and contract assets under
service concession arrangements;

o Considering whether any debtor or group of debtors was experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments; and

o Reviewing subsequent settlements of the trade and retention

receivables, deposits and other receivables, contract assets, loan

receivables and
concession arrangements.

receivables and contract assets under service
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Assessment of non-cash gain on capital contribution by Patented
Technologies to an associate

Refer to notes 7, 17 and 18 of the consolidated financial statements and
material accounting policy information on note 4(b), 4(c) and 4(h).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into an
agreement with Shanxi Hantang Senyuan Development Group Co., Ltd.
("Hantang Senyuan”) to form an associate, Xi‘an Hantang Mingsheng
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Hantang Mingsheng”) by injection of Patented
Technologies which with the carrying value, of RMB36,173,000 (equivalent
to HK$39,318,000).

Since the fair value of the 30% interest in the associate is
RMB105,000,000, the difference of RMB68,827,000 is considered as a
non-cash gain. However, as the Group with 30% shareholding in the
associate, the transaction is considered as a downstream sale of assets
and 30% of the non-cash gain of RMB20,648,000 (equivalent to
HK$22,681,000) shall be eliminated. Therefore, the recognised non-cash
gain should be revised to RMB48,179,000 (equivalent to HK$52,946,000)

accordingly.

The non-cash gain on capital contribution by Patented Technologies to an
associate is significant to our audit due to the significance of the amount
and significant estimates involved in determining the discounted future
cash flows from such valuation of the fair value of the 30% interest in the
associate based on.

Our response:

Our audit procedures in relation to the assessment of non-cash gain on
capital contribution by Patented Technologies to an associate included:

o Discussing with management to understand the background and
business rationale of the transaction;

o Reviewing the relevant agreements, announcements and supporting
documents; and

o Assessing the key assumptions used in management’'s cash flow
projections for valuation fair value of the 30% interest in the
associate including, amongst others, expected future cash flows and
discount rates, with the assistance from our valuation specialists.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual

The directors are responsible for the other information.

report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit

information is materially inconsistent with the
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The audit committee of the Company (“Audit
Committee”) assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in this
regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

J identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

and where

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Chau Ka Kin

Practising Certificate No. P07445

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AeREaREMEERA X

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3H31H 1F F/Z

20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

2024 2023
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
M 5E F#T FET
Revenue A 7 628,236 545,189
Cost of sales 65 B A (567,145) (491,625)
Gross profit EH 61,091 53,564
Other income and gains, net E A RS FEE 7 81,744 38,163
Share of result of an associate DIEEE R A EE (116) =i
Expected credit loss on financial and CRERAENEENTEREE
contract assets 518 (1,805) (3,935)
Administrative expenses THRHAX (97,160) (91,677)
Finance costs B 75 i A 9 (11,970) (10,821)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRE AR R (B18) 8 31,784 (14,706)
Income tax credit/(expense) Frisfiile, (F%) 12 277 (4,016)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR EREH(EE) 32,061 (18,722)
Profit/(loss) for the year LT ALTREEERGEN
attributable to: (E518) :
Owners of the Company KAREEB A 2,863 (20,797)
Non-controlling interests FEVERR = 29,198 2,075
32,061 (18,722)
HK cents # Al HK cents &1l
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to A #H AEESR
the owners of the Company: B (B8 :
Basic HR 13 0.18 (1.70)
Diluted i 0.18 1.70)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEmkHEME2ERKR
For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#IT FHET
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FERigEH o (BE) 32,061 (18,722)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hba2mmi=x
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified WA E B AT EH D EEE
to profit or loss in subsequent periods: mAEMEE K
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BMENEEBHER Z58
operations (26,077) (16,536)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR £ A2 EWZEAE 5,984 (35,258)
Attributable to: SEBER
Owners of the Company ZIN/NESTE? =N (20,986) (33,480)
Non-controlling interests IR 26,970 (1,778)

5,984 (35,258)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBI &

As at 31 March 2024 120244 3H31H

20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B & FHET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EEBHEE
Property, plant and equipment LE 14 108,082 62,824
Investment properties REMHE 15 56,413 22,167
Operating concessions 0 R T R 16(a) 251,660 246,519
Other intangible assets EmEEEE 17 1,783 1,288
Receivables under service concession FRET I & e HEE SRR
arrangements 16(b) 51,143 53,221
Contract assets under service concession  fFHFEEELTHA N EE
arrangements 16(c) 40,329 42,466
Investment in an associate REEE A RIIRE 18 91,686 —
Loan receivables FE W E 3R 23 9,239 21,945
Prepayments, deposits and other BRHRE - ZE R
receivables H fth & W K1 22 131,321 198,170
Retention receivables FEURE & 21 11,022 10,499
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 752,678 659,099
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories A 19 8,915 8,067
Contract assets BHEE 20(a) 54,170 35,748
Trade and retention receivables B9RWRBBRERRES 21 110,960 92,431
Receivables under service concession FRT e & BE R IEUR
arrangements 16(b) 10,153 10,502
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE - Ze &k
receivables H & W R IR 22 99,963 72,792
Loan receivables ERER 23 29,876 19,817
Tax recoverable GRS QEIRREE| 33 =
Cash and cash equivalents HekReZEEY 25 37,321 134,540
Total current assets MEEELE 351,391 373,897
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENE
Contract liabilities AHaE 20(b) 9,430 716
Trade and retention payables ESEMNRBEBREMRE S 26 147,532 118,506
Other payables and accruals HEtENRIERETER 27 83,251 86,848
Lease liabilities HEa’ 35 5,402 5,058
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings & 2T R HEMEE 28 54,008 65,533
Bonds &5 29 37,761 —
Convertible bonds Al R E S 39 — 2,376
Tax payables B FIE — 1,173
Total current liabilities mEBEEE 337,384 280,210
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEEFE 14,007 93,687
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEHEBTHER
LIABILITIES 766,685 752,786
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBARRR

As at 31 March 2024 202443 /31H

2024 2023
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B3t FHET FB T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEHE
Amounts due to related parties FE AT BA B 75 3B 24 164,891 190,222
Retention payables ERRE S 26 12,254 4,412
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t /2 817 & H & 7% 28 98,226 101,457
Provision B 30 6,076 6,352
Bonds &% 29 — 20,000
Lease liabilities HEBR 35 3,855 8,551
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHEER 31 14,904 15,788
Total non-current liabilities B EERTE 300,206 346,782
Net assets BEFE 466,479 406,004
EQUITY ]
Equity attributable to owners of the BERARBIEE ANER
Company
Share capital fig 7R 32 160,613 150,719
Reserves & 34 238,638 208,658
399,251 359,377
Non-controlling interests FEVZE AR A 2 67,228 46,627
Total equity W AR 466,479 406,004
Zhu Yongjun Pan Yimin
RBE BEHR
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director

IRERATES HITES



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEREHR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1 F/Z

20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

Attributable to owners of the Company

GERARARAA
Share Share  Conversion  Exchange Non-
Share premium Merger option option  fluctuation  Accumulated controlling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
ERRED
RE BROEER  ANEE BRERE SHEHG fE  2iER @i FhRER  ERSE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAL TER TAL TER TARL TEx TARL Thx TARL
(note 34) (note 34) (note 34) (note 34)
(Wa3a)  (ase)  (Wase)  (RaE3e)
At 1 April 2022 R202%54A18 95,402 573,210 14,000 5579 624 6,764 (504,539) 191,040 48,405 239,445
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - (20,797) (20,797) 2,075 (18,722)
Other comprehensive income FREMBZENRS
for the year:
Exchange differences arising from BENAEBRELN
translation EXER — - - - - (12,683) — (12,683) (3,853) (16,536)
Total comprehensive income FRRENEEE
for the year — - — - - (12,683) (20,797) (33,480) (1,778) (35,258)
Issue of equity-settled share options BONRREENERE
(note 33) (i&33) - - - 2302 - - - 2302 - 2302
Issue of shares (note 32) BT M (H332) 55,017 143,238 - - - - - 198,255 = 198,255
Lapse of share options (note 33) BIRER M (M 33) - - - (266) - — 266 = = =
Issue of shares upon exercise of RBEREEETRAG
share options (note 33) (Wi3%33) 300 1,507 — (547) — - — 1,260 — 1,260
At 31 March 2023 H03F3531R 150719 717,95 14,000 7,068 624 (5919 (25070 359377 16627 406,004
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mMEEREPR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H it F/&

Attributable to owners of the Company

BERFATREA

Share Share  Conversion  Exchange Non-
Share premium Merger option option  fluctuation Accumulated controlling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity

ERKD
kx BRHBER  AtEE WRERE BSRERE fite  RstbR &y FEREZ  ELEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEL TER TEL TER TEL TER TEL TER TEL

(note 34) (note 34) (note 34) (note 34)

(Wit3e)  (W&ss)  (WaE3e)  (M&3e)

At 1 April 2023 1202354818 150,719 717,955 14,000 7,068 624 (5.919) (525,070) 359,377 46,627 406,004
Profit for the year ERET - - - - - - 2,863 2,863 29,198 32,061
Other comprehensive income FREMRZERE:

for the year:
Exchange differences arising from BENEZBRELH

translation EizE - - - - - (23,849) - (23,849) (2,228) (26,077)
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2ENEEE - — - — - (23,849) 2,863 (20,986) 26,970 5,984
Acquisition of non-controlling interests YU 312 IR g & (M 336)

(note 36) - - - - - 140 3,700 3,840 (45,687) (41,847)
Capital contribution from other EnFEREERRLE

shareholder of non-controlling (t3236)

interest (note 36) - - - - - - - - 39,318 39,318
Issue of equity-settled share options ~ EfTHEREERERE

(note 33) (W33) — — — 9,988 — - - 9,988 — 9,988
Issue of shares (note 32) B (&32) 5,764 24,512 - - - - - 30,276 - 30,276
Lapse of share options (note 33) BEREL R (M e33) - - - (368) - - 368 - - -
Equity component of convertible bonds R ERBTH T EREHRH

issued during the year (note 39) EaHs (WH39) - - - - 18,386 - - 18,386 - 18,386
Redemption of convertible bonds BRI AR E S (H:39)

(note 39) — — — — (9,193) — — (9,193) — (9,193)
Debt conversion rights exercised TR ERE (H30)

(note 39) 3,087 9,912 - — (9,817) — - 3,182 - 3,182
Issue of shares upon exercise of IRERERETRA

share options (note 33) (HHE33) 1,083 5,519 - (2,181) - - - 4,381 - 4,381
At 31 March 2024 #2024453R318 160,613 757,898 14,000 14,507 - (29,628) (518,139) 399,251 67,228 466,479




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F331H 1F F/Z

20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B & FHET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REEETHHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax BB ATRF(E1B) 31,784 (14,706)
Adjustments for: BLLATN ZIEIE L %
Finance costs B 5 B 7R 9 11,970 10,821
Bank interest income RITH B A 7 (142) (503)
Interest income from loan receivables FEUE FA B A 7 (1,809) (515)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE BWER
plant and equipment Bl 7 (367) —
Changes in fair value of investment WEMERNTEE
properties 15 (5,594) —
Share of result of an associate DIEEE QAR EE 116 —
Provision of major overhaul N R L] 30 777 730
Gain on a lease modification BHMBEE 2 K 7 (69) =
Depreciation e 24,154 20,936
Amortisation of operating concessions R R ETREE R 16(a) 5,349 SI595
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b & E 8 8 491 533
Gain on capital contribution by Patented 3% i & FI| B 17 [ Bt & 2 A
Technologies to an associate a4k & 7 (52,946) e
Expected credit loss (“ECL") on financial & & & & #9& & &) 78 5
and contract assets FEBEE(ESREE
B 8 1,805 3,935
Equity-settled share option expense NHEmEENERERS 33 9,988 2,302
Operating cash flows before movements in & EE & EHATWE LR
working capital mE 25,507 29,128
Increase in inventories 7 &3 M (848) (4,962)
Increase in contract assets G R E E LN (18,780) (20,049)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and retention ZZEWHEBENEKRRE S
receivables (&) A (20,089) 11,599
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits T8 518 « & & M H i & Uk
and other receivables FIEOEm) R (35,207) 33,069
Decrease in receivables under service FFET A RE T HEFE SR IR
concession arrangements B 2,310 6,487
Decrease in contract assets under service SFFFELRLTHTHNAEOE
concession arrangements =R 1,662 3,921
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities BHEELN CR) 8,714 (1,764)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and retention B 5N IE K& EMNRE L
payables #n, G A) 36,868 (38,108)
Decrease in other payables and accruals H b fE A RRIE K B R B A
VR (31.857) (19,157)
Decrease in maintenance provision HAERER D (815) (690)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n/T\ fﬁ ®m i?%

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHETT
Cash used in operations KEMANR® (32,535) (526)
Income tax paid BERMTER (1,214) (7,609)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEBTA®
e HH (33,749) (8,135)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREFTHHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received =R ERIPS) 1,951 1,018
Payment for operating concessions BRI R 16(a) (16,521) (59,307)
Purchase of intangible asset BERLEE 17 (1,049) —
Deposit for/purchases of property, plant and ¥ % - 5B M & &
equipment e/ REE (2,618) (75,544)
Payments for project cost for in Guoyang X {/ABZIEE ABE B KA
project (5,594) (5,682)
Decrease/(payments) for project cost for in 34,/ (&) EEIE R & E
Yixing project B A 536 (88,020)
Payments for project cost for in Dunhua X {fZ{LE B &8 B B A
project — (9,714)
Payment for construction of acquisition of R EREMENR
investment properties (29,676) (22,422)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant H&E¥WE « ME M & &
and equipment FT 15 50 1E 2,601 —
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary o & Y B A R AT 18 SRIE — 39,401
Repayment from/(advance to) B (Faf) R E %
loan receivables 802 (42,601)
Net cash used in investing activities REEBMANR TR (49,568) (262,871)




20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Eﬁimbi%

,\/\

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING KERETHHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of shares BITIRM TS RIA 42,651 199,012
Proceeds from issuance of share options 775 BE A% #E AT 15 318 4,381 1,260
Transaction costs attributable to issuance of %77 I fE{h 2 5 A A
shares — (757)
Payment for acquisition of non-controlling U 8 JF 4% A% 4 25 1~ 5k
interests (3,261) —
Proceeds from new bank and other R IT R EMEERS
borrowings QL] 59,462 134,483
Repayments to bank and other borrowings fEEE1T R EMEE (68,352) (32,696)
Repayments to capital element of lease BEHEEENEAH D
liabilities (5,143) (3,475)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEBBENROMNEH S
payments (810) (247)
Interest paid [RENEAPS) (11,125) (7,023)
Proceeds from issuance of bonds ?‘ﬁ%%ﬁﬂ%ﬂﬂﬁ 17,761 20,000
Repayments to amounts due to related B8 T B 5 %
parties (30,536) (10,000)
Net cash generate from financing activities Bt & EEFTSHIR & F 5 5,028 300,557
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND & RIEE&ZBWCGRY)
CASH EQUIVALENTS EIniEE (78,289) 29,551
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of F¥MIR & LIRS EHEY
year 134,540 117,458
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, SMNEEXE SN L F5E
net (18,930) (12,469)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END EXMIRERIFLZEY
OF YEAR 37,321 134,540
ANALYSIS OF BALANCE OF CASH AND RE&RBEEZFEMELR N
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances He RIRITE 37,321 134,540
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443H31H it F/&

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. EERFEEEH
New Concepts Holdings Limited is a limited liability company BIZEEBE (R ERARBRASHET
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered M BRAT - EEZDWERMI A
offices is Windward 3 Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O.
Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business Box 1350, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108,
of the Company is Office B, 3/F, Kingston International Centre, 19 Cayman lIslands o R & Bl #) = 2 & 5 3 Bh
Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong. BEBNEERRBE1GRESF LHEH L
3BE -

During the vyear, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively RAFEE AR RENEB QR (FEIAR
referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in construction SEDFERERETIERER-

works and environmental protection.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of The RRARBRODRBEABERZFABRAA
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). (B AT]) =R LT
Information about subsidiaries M BATIMER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: AAREZMBRAAINFBET
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
M R ERTLE EERAATHER
&% REEME HEWMERE =074 TEEH
2024 2023
% %
New Twins Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
New Twins Enterprises Limited RBEZHS & 1%E7T REER
New Concepts Foundation Hong Kong HK$60,510,000 100 100  Provision of foundation works
Limited and general building works
BIEMEBRAA BH 60,510,000 7T RUMETIER—REFIE
Dynamic Premier Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$50,000 100 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
Dynamic Premier Limited KBEZES /&% 50,0003 7T BERRK
Ultra Premier Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$50,000 100 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
Ultra Premier Limited RBEZES /&% 50,0003 7T BEERRK
AEFENLEMBEBRADA  PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 100 60  Kitchen waste treatment
("Hefei Feifan”)"®
RIEFENLEDREERAT  HEREAM 30,000,000% T B R ar R 1

(TRREFEADOE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Name

&%

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business
ML R
REEME

Issued ordinary/
registered

share capital
BRTLEE
& B A

BA(RE)RERMARAA
("Tianjin Yisheng”)"

BA(KE)RERMARAA
(rEAx=ZEHO

S m R ENRERERAF
("Xuancheng")®

ST RENR R ERAF
(rssho

BER(BE)RERMERAT
("Yixing Plant”)®

HE(BE)RERMARDE
(TE8=EE)NO

EMEEABRRBEERAA
("Dunhua Plant")®

EMEEABRRBEERAA
(I&fmEDHO

BEACRE) RERMERA A
("Guoyang Plant”)™

BACRE) RERMERAA
(GABEA DO

RYNTTER BRI BRA A
(“Shenzhen
Huamingsheng” )M

RYNTTER BRI B R A A
(DRI E]) 0@

PRC/Mainland China

FE R E AN

PRC/Mainland China

FE R E AN

PRC/Mainland China

FE R E AN

PRC/Mainland China

FEFEA

PRC/Mainland China

FE R EA

PRC/Mainland China

FE R EA

RMB208,347,000

ARH
208,347,0007C

RMB60,000,000

AR #:60,000,0007T

US$30,000,000

30,000,000% 7T

US$7,720,000

7,720,000 7T

RMB11,000,000

AR #11,000,0007T

RMB68,600,000

AR #68,600,0007T

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

1.

EERKEEHF

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

Principal activities

BERAATNELS
Bkt TEEH
2024 2023
% %
100 100 Provision of environmental
improvement solutions
REREREFR
100 100 Kitchen waste treatment
ERENRERE
100 100  Development and management
of environment protection
industrial park
ERLEERRIER
100 100 Kitchen waste treatment
BRNRER
100 100 Kitchen waste treatment
BRNRER
51 51 Production and sales of

graphite-based related anode
materials

EENHERZHBGENH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4= A

Re MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{ 2202443 /531H 1 F/Z

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/
registration and registered
Name business share capital
ML R ERTLEE
& REEME & B A

EHTEAEYERARAT PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000
("Hanzhong Plant”)®

ERMESEVREERARA FE/FEAM A E#40,000,0007T
(FEHEEDO

BWOZIRRBEARZAF  PRC/Mainland China RMB11,760,000
("Hancheng Plant”)™"
BRRBBREZBERDE  HE REAM AR #11,760,0007T

(T#smAnHO
Prime World Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000
HABRAA £ 10,0007 7T
United Swift Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000
United Swift Limited o 10,0007 7T
Note:
(1 These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under
PRC law

(2) Newly registered during the year ended 31 March 2023

(3) The Group acquired the remaining shares from a non-controlling shareholder;
thus, the partly owned subsidiary becomes wholly-owned subsidiary during
the year ended 31 March 2024

Except for New Twins Enterprises Limited and Ultra Premier Limited,
the above subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of
the year.

1.

EEREEEN (B

Percentage of
equity attributable

to the Company Principal activities
BERAATHER
8oLt TEEH
2024 2023
% %
80 80  Kitchen waste treatment

100

100

100

ERFURER

100 Kitchen waste treatment

ERFURER

100 Group administrative functions
SETTHBE

100  Group administrative functions

SETTRRAE
B &

(1 ZEWMBRARAREBTEEFZIMAINED
ES

(2) HE2023F3A3RIEFEHERL

(3) REEBE —BHFERBRRKBFRBARMD
H I R E Z2024F3A318 L FEE > 25
BEENBAREAZERAMNBE AR

BrNew Twins Enterprises Limited & Ultra
Premier Limited4) » Litff@ A AR AR
RIS -

E=ZRR LRAINARFAMEBARE

FEFNEEIRNA/AEEFEENT
2Hn EERRREEEMCHEIRNF
B @BHENITTER-

BMEMNBRARARFERBETEMNEBIES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. FNEEUMBREEN(ES

(a)

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs — effective (a)
1 April 2023

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs

for the current year’s consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to

Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules

Except for the Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgment summarised below, the other new or
amended HKFRS has no material impact on the Group’s results
and financial position for the current or prior period and on
accounting policies. The Group has not applied any new and
revised HKFRS that are not yet effective for the current
period.
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B RS R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

(a)

Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs — effective
1 April 2023 (continued)

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to
HKAS 1 — Presentation of Financial Statements and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 — Making Materiality
Judgments)

The HKICPA issued HKFRS Practice Statement 2 — Making
Materiality Judgments in March 2021 to provide entities with
non-mandatory guidance on how to make materiality
judgements when preparing their general-purpose financial
statements in accordance with HKFRS. In April 2021, the
HKICPA issued amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2. The amendments aim to make accounting policy
disclosures more informative by replacing the requirement to
with
accounting policy information’. The amendments also provide

disclose ‘significant accounting policies’ ‘material
guidance under what circumstance, the accounting policy
information is likely to be considered material and therefore

requiring disclosure.

These amendments have no effect on the measurement or
presentation of any items in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group but affect the disclosure of
accounting policies of the Group. The Group has revisited the
accounting policy information it has been disclosing and

removed certain immaterial accounting policy information.
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")
(continued)
(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective
The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants'
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of
and HKAS 28 Assets between an

Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements'
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
impact of these revised HKFRSs upon initial application. Up to
now, the Group considers that these standards will not have a
significant impact on the Group’s financial performance and
financial position in the foreseeable future.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B RS R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") Interpretations (hereinafter
referred “HKFRS"”) and
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition,
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

and collectively

to as the the disclosure

the consolidated financial statements include

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for investment
properties, which are measured at fair values as explained in

the accounting policies set out below.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated. Each entity
within the Group maintains its books and records in its own
functional currency. The functional currency of the Company is
HK$.

New guidance on accounting for the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong issued by HKICPA

In June 2022, Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
(“the Amendment Ordinance”) The
Amendment Ordinance abolishes the use of the accrued

was enacted.
benefits derived from employers’ mandatory contributions
under the mandatory provident fund (“MPF”) scheme to
offset severance payment (“SP”) and long service payments
(“LSP”) (“the Abolition”). Subsequently, the Government
of HKSAR announced that the Abolition will take effect on 1
May 2025 (“the Transition Date”).

3.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d)

New guidance on accounting for the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong issued by HKICPA
(continued)

The following key changes will take effect since the Transition
Date:

—  Accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory
MPF contributions cannot be used to offset the LSP/SP in
respect of the employment period after the Transition
Date.

—  The pre-transition LSP/SP is calculated using the last
month’s salary immediately Preceding the Transition
Date,
employment termination date.

instead of using the last month's salary of

Due to the complexities of the accounting for the offsetting of
accrued benefits derived from an employer’s mandatory MPF
contributions and its LSP obligation and the accounting for the
offsetting mechanism could become material in light of the
Abolition, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications of
the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong” (“the Guidance”) in July 2023 to provide guidance
to account for the offsetting mechanism and the Abolition.
The HKICPA concluded that there are two acceptable
accounting approaches for the offsetting mechanism, being:

—  Approach 1: Account for the amount expected to be
offset as a deemed employee contribution towards that
employee’s LSP benefits in terms of HKAS 19.93(a)

—  Approach 2: Account for the employer MPF contributions
and the offsetting mechanism as a funding mechanism
for the LSP obligation

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group’s
LSP liability before the expected offsetting under the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism is Application of the
Guidance had no material effect on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

immaterial.

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

3.
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4= A

Re MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{ 2202443 /531H 1 F/Z

4.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and
“Group”).

its subsidiaries (the
Inter-company transactions and balances between
group companies together with unrealised profits are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or

loss.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control of the subsidiary are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to the owners of the Company.

in their relative interests

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to
exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all three
of the following elements are present: (1) power over the
investee, (2) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the
investee, and (3) the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of

these elements of control.
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

(c)

Associates

Where the Group has the power to participate in (but not
control) the financial and operating policy decisions of another
entity, it is classified as an associate. Associates are initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost. Subsequently associates are accounted for using the
equity method, where the Group’s share of post-acquisition
profits and losses and other comprehensive
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss
and other comprehensive income (except for losses in excess
of the Group’s investment in the associate unless there is an

income is

obligation to make good those losses).

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Group
and its associates are recognised only to the extent of
unrelated investors’ interests in the associate. The investor's
share in the associate’s profits and losses resulting from these
transactions is eliminated against the carrying value of the

associate.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the
Group's share of the
contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in the

identifiable assets, liabilities and
carrying amount of the associate. Where there is objective

evidence that the investment in an associate has been
impaired the carrying amount of the investment is tested for

impairment in the same way as other non-financial assets.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

is measured using the assumptions that market

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

4.

(b)

(c)
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SR M
For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{ 2202443 /531H 1 F/Z

4.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable

inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or

disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level T —  based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active

markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 —  based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either

directly or indirectly

Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting

period.
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(d)

(a)

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group; or

the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B RS R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/31H 1F F /&

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
(d) Related parties (continued)
(b)  (continued)
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence

over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the

Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(iii)

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. When an
item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for
sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held
for sale, is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5. The cost of an item of property,

plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any

it is not depreciated and

directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:
Office premises Over the shorter of lease terms
or useful life
10% to 20%
10% to 20%

Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and
office equipment
Motor vehicles 10% to 25% over the shorter

of lease terms or useful life

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on
a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

reviewed,

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SR M
For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{ 2202443 /531H 1 F/Z

4.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(f)

Leasing

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

Right-of-use asset

Right-of-use asset are recognised at cost and would comprise:
(i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability
(see below for the accounting policy to account for lease
liability); (i) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii)
any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an
estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling
and removing the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs
are incurred to produce inventories. The Group measures the
right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under the cost
model, the Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value
at initial

recognition are considered as additional lease

payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

()

Leasing (continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the
paid at the date of

The

discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

lease payments that are not

commencement of the lease. lease payments are

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to be lease
payments, primarily fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures
the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to
reflect interest on the lease liability; (i) reducing the carrying
amount to lease payments made; (iii)
remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment

reflect the and
or lease modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments
arising from change in an index or rate, a change in the lease
term, a change in substance fixed lease payments or a change
in assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SR M
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4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(f)

Leasing (continued)

Lease modification

When the group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease
with the lessor, the accounting depends on the nature of the
modification:

if the renegotiation results in one or more additional
assets being leased for an amount commensurate with
the standalone price for the additional rights-of-use
obtained, the modification is accounted for as a
separate lease in accordance with the above policy.

in all other cases where the renegotiation increases the
scope of the lease (whether that is an extension to the
lease term, or one or more additional assets being
leased), the lease liability is remeasured using the
discount rate applicable on the modification date, with
the right-of-use asset being adjusted by the same
amount.

if the renegotiation results in a decrease in the scope of
the lease, both the carrying amount of the lease liability
and right-of-use asset are reduced by the same
proportion to reflect the partial of full termination of
the lease with any difference recognised in profit or
loss. The lease liability is then further adjusted to ensure
its carrying amount reflects the amount of the
renegotiated payments over the renegotiated term, with
the modified lease payments discounted at the rate
applicable on the modification date. The right-of-use
asset is adjusted by the same amount.

For contracts that both convey a right to the group to use an
identified asset and require services to be provided to the
group by the lessor, the group has elected to account for the
entire contract as a lease, i.e. it does not allocate any amount
of the contractual payments to, and account separately for,
any services provided by the supplier as part of the contract.

4. EXETBREBRMEZ
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

()

(9)

Leasing (continued)

Accounting as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor,
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease. The
Group's leases were principally operating leases.

it classifies at lease

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
Initial in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying

nature. direct costs incurred
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term

on the same basis as rental income.

Service concession arrangements

Consideration given by the grantor
A financial asset (receivable under a service concession
arrangement) is recognised to the extent that (a) the Group
has an unconditional contractual right to receive cash or
another financial asset from or at the direction of the grantor
for the construction services; and (b) the grantor has little, if
discretion to avoid payment, usually because the

agreement is enforceable by law. The Group has an

any,

unconditional right to receive cash if the grantor contractually
guarantees to pay the Group (a) specified or determinable
amounts or (b) the shortfall, if any, between amounts received
from users of the public service and specified or determinable
amounts, even if the payment is contingent on the Group
ensuring that the infrastructure meets the specified quality of
efficiency requirements. The financial asset (receivable under a
service concession arrangement) is accounted for in
accordance with the policy set out for loans and receivables
under “Financial assets” below.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z
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4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Service concession arrangements (continued)
Consideration given by the grantor (continued)

An intangible asset (operating concession) is recognised to the
extent that the Group receives a right to charge users of the
public service, which is not an unconditional right to receive
cash because the amounts are contingent on the extent that
the public uses the service. The intangible asset (operating
concession) is accounted for in accordance with the policy set
out for “Intangible assets (other than goodwill)” below.

If the Group is paid for the construction services partly by a
financial asset and partly by an intangible asset, in which
case, each component of the consideration is accounted for
separately and the consideration received or receivable for
both components shall be recognised initially at the fair value
of the consideration received or receivable.

Construction or upgrade services

Revenue and costs relating to construction or upgrade services
are accounted for in accordance with the policy set out for
“Construction service revenue " in note 4(n)(a) below.
Operating services

Revenue relating to operating services is accounted for in
the policy
below. Costs for

accordance with set out for “Revenue
recognition” operating services are

expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

(h)

Service concession arrangements (continued)
Contractual obligations to restore the infrastructure
to a specific level of serviceability

The Group has contractual obligations which it must fulfil as a
condition of its license, that is (a) to maintain the kitchen
waste treatment plants it operates to a specified level of
serviceability; and/or (b) to restore the plants to a specified
condition before they are handed over to the grantor at the
end of the service concession arrangement. These contractual
obligations to maintain or restore the kitchen waste treatment
plants, except for upgrade element, are recognised and
measured in accordance with the policy set out for
"Provisions” below.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Operating concessions

Operating concessions represent the rights to operate kitchen
waste treatment plants are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is provided on the straight-line basis over the
respective periods of the operating concessions granted to the

Group of 25 to 30 years.

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z
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4.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Patents

Purchased patents are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful economic lives of 5 to 6 years.

(h)

()

Patent Technologies

Purchased Patented Technologies are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful economic lives of 10 years.

Financial Instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without
a significant financing component) is initially measured
at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There is
one measurement category into which the Group

classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective interest rate
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss.
Any gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or
loss.
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

()
(i)

Financial Instruments (continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss on trade and retention receivables, contract
assets,
arrangements,

service concession
deposits and other
receivables and consideration receivables. The ECLs are
measured on either of the following bases: (1) 12
months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that

result from all possible default events over the expected

receivables under

receivables, loan

life of a financial instrument. The maximum period
considered when estimating ECLs
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to

is the maximum

credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’ original
effective interest rate.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{ 2202443 /531H 1 F/Z

4.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

()

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
receivable from service concession arrangement, trade
and retention receivables and contract assets using
HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has calculated ECLs
based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has assessed the
ECLs collectively and applied the probability of default
based on that of counterparties with similar credit
rating, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on
the 12-months ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience, informed

credit assessment and forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

()
(i)

Financial Instruments (continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when: (1) the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is
held); or (2) the financial asset is more than 90 days
past due, unless the Group has
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
logging default criteria is more appropriate.

reasonable and

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off when the Group has no reasonable expectations of
recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof. For corporate customers, the Group individually
makes an assessment with respect to the timing and
amount of write-off based on whether there is a
reasonable expectation of recovery. The Group expects
no significant recovery from the amount written off.
However, financial assets that are written off could still
be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply
with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts
due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non-credit-impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying

amount.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in

profit or loss for all financial instrument with a

corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{ 2202443 /531H 1 F/Z

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(i) Financial Instruments (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on
the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
liabilities at amortised costs are
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

Financial initially

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and
retention payables, other payables, bank and other
borrowings, amounts due to related parties, bonds and
the debt element of convertible bonds issued by the
Group are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method. The related interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well
amortisation process.

as through the

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain
both the liability and conversion option components are
classified separately into their respective items on initial
recognition. Conversion option that will be settled by
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments is classified as an equity
instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing market
The
difference between the proceeds of the issue of the
convertible bonds and the fair value assigned to the
liability component, representing the conversion option
for the holder to convert the bond into equity, is
included in equity (conversion option reserve).

interest rate of similar non-convertible debts.
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(i)
(iv)

(v)

Financial Instruments (continued)

Convertible bonds (continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The equity component,
liability
component into ordinary shares of the Company, will
remain in conversion option reserve until the embedded
option is exercised (in which case the balance stated in
conversion option reserve will be transferred to share

capital and share premium. Where the option remains

represented by the option to convert the

unexercised at the expiry dates, the balance stated in
conversion option be
retained earnings. No gain or loss is recognised upon
conversion or expiration of the option.

reserve  will released to the

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of the
proceeds. relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in

the carrying amount of the

Transaction costs

liability portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible bonds
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expired.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{ 2202443 /531H 1 F/Z

4.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

)]

(k)

()

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and, in
the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labor and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less all estimated costs completion and costs necessary
to make the sale.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, which will probably result
in an outflow of economic benefits that can be reasonably
estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Income tax
Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred
tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts
used for tax purposes. Except for goodwill, if any, and
recognised assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting
nor taxable profits, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can
be utilised.
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

U]

(m)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to the
expected manner in which the carrying amount of the asset or
liability is realised or settled and that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

An exception to the general requirement on determining the
appropriate tax rate used in measuring deferred tax amount is
when an investment property is carried at fair value under
HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Unless the presumption is
rebutted,
properties are measured using the tax rates that would apply

the deferred tax amounts on these investment
on sale of these investment properties at their carrying
amounts at the reporting date. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held within
a business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all the economic benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the

investments in subsidiaries and

temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income in
which case the taxes in other

are also recognised

comprehensive income.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed. Where the grant
relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred
income account and is released to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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Re MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{ 2202443 /531H 1 F/Z

4.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(m) Government grants (continued)

(n)

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than
one year, revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which

reflected

provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Construction service revenue
The Group’s performance in respect of construction
services creates or enhances an asset or work in

(a)

progress that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced, thus the Group satisfies a
performance obligation and recognises revenue over
time, by reference to completion of the specific
transaction assessed on the basis of the surveyors’
assessment of work performed.
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(n)
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Construction service revenue (continued)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the goods and
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

New energy materials

Customers obtain control of the new energy materials
when the goods are delivered to and have been
accepted by customers. Revenue is thus recognised at a
particular point in time upon when the customers
accepted the goods.

Service fee income
The Group recognised revenue when the related services
are rendered.

Other income

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the
recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over

relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in

leased asset and

the lease term.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Revenue from the sales of construction materials is
recognised at the point in time when control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, generally when the
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal
title of the construction materials and the Group has
present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is portable.
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4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(n)

(o)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(d) Other income (continued)

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to

consideration in exchange for services that the Group
that is not yet
unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

has transferred to a customer

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Contract asset is recognised when (i) the Group
completes the infrastructure construction works under
such services contracts but yet certified by architects,
surveyors or representatives appointed by
customers, or (ii) the customers retain retention money
to secure the due performance of the contracts. Any
amount previously recognised as a contract asset is

other

reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which it
is invoiced to the customer. If the considerations
(including advances received from customers) exceed the
revenue recognised to date under the output method
then the Group recognises a contract liability for the

difference.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract and accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including directors) and consultants of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees and consultants render
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

services as
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(o)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees and
others providing similar services is measured by reference to
the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which
they are granted. The cost of equity-settled transactions with
parties other than employees is measured directly at the fair
value of the goods or services received, unless that fair value
cannot be estimated reliably, in which case the fair value is
measured indirectly by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments granted.

The fair value of the share options granted is determined by
an external valuer using a binomial model, further details of
which are given in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair

awards,

ultimately vest.

value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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.
o)

4.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(o)

Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This
includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as

described in the previous paragraph.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in capital reserves will be transferred to
share capital. When the share options are forfeited, lapsed or
cancelled, after the vesting date or are still not exercised on
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in capital
reserves will be transferred to accumulated losses/retained
earnings.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(p)

(a)

Other employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits
Short term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected to be
settled wholly before 12 months after the end of each
reporting period in which the employees render the
related service. Short term employee benefits are
recognised in the period when the employees render the
related service.

(iij) Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

are recognised as an expense in the profit or loss when

the services are rendered by the employees.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of termination

benefits.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of the following assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
impairment loss or
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

an an impairment loss previously

o property, plant and equipment under cost model
o investments in subsidiaries
. intangible assets

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset is allocated to a
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocation a
reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest
group of cash-generating units.
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4.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

(r)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another HKFRS, in which case the impairment loss is treated as
a revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or cash generating unit,
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating
unit.

Investment properties

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid on accrued operating lease
income. Gain or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements

requires management to make judgements,

estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,

assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the

disclosure of contingent

liabilities. Uncertainty about these

assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could

require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets

or liabilities affected in the future.

(a)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

Income taxes

The Group has exposure to income taxes in different
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in determining
Determining

provisions involves judgement on the future tax treatment of

the provision for income taxes. income tax
certain transactions and interpretation of tax rules. The Group
carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax
provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into account all
changes in tax legislation, interpretations and practices in
respect thereof.

Income taxes and deferred tax liabilities on non-cash
gain on capital contribution by Patented Technologies
The Group's subsidiaries that operate in the PRC are subject to
income tax in the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes and deferred tax
liabilities on PRC subsidiaries. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such a difference will impact the
income tax and deferred income tax provision in the period in
which such determination is made.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4= A

Re MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Judgements (continued)

Income taxes and deferred tax liabilities on non-cash
gain on capital contribution by Patented Technologies
(continued)

The Company has made use of certain tax incentives in
relation to capital contribution by way of patents in the
Mainland China, which may allow an investor (i.e. patents
owner) to invest through injection of its patents and avoid tax
payments for possible inflated value in patents under certain
circumstances. The Directors considered that the investment in
an associate is for long-term purpose and also fulfills such tax
incentives requirements; as such, deferred tax liability has not
been recognised in respect of the non-cash gain resulting from
the injection of Patent Technologies from Shenzhen
Huamingsheng into the newly established associate as detailed
in note 7(ii) and note 18.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Construction work and service contracts

The Group recognises revenue for construction work and
service contracts according to the percentage of completion of
the individual contracts of construction work or service. The
Group’s management estimates the percentage of completion
of construction work and service based on output method
which is to recognise revenue on basis of direct measurement
of the value of construction work or service transferred to the
customer to date relative to the remaining construction works
promised to be completed under the construction contract.
The management’s estimate of revenue and the completion
status of construction works requires significant judgement
and has a significant impact on the amount and timing of
revenue recognised. The Group has qualified surveyors to
periodically measure the value of the construction work
completed for each construction projects and review the
estimated cost to be incurred for the completion of the
project. The Group reviews and revises the estimates for the
progress of contract revenue for each construction contract
and service contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(b)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Classification between operating concessions and
receivables under service concession arrangements

As explained in note 4(g) to the financial statements, if the
Group is paid for the construction services partly by a financial
asset and partly by an intangible asset, it is necessary to
account separately for each component of the consideration.
The consideration received or receivable for both components
shall be recognised initially at their fair values.

The segregation of the consideration for a service concession
arrangement between the financial asset component and the
intangible asset component, if any, requires the Group to
make an estimate of a number of factors, which include, inter
alia, future guaranteed receipts and non-guaranteed receipts,
and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Determination of fair value of contract revenue in
respect of the construction services rendered

Revenue from the construction of kitchen waste treatment
plants under the terms of a Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT")
contract is estimated on a cost-plus basis with reference to a
prevailing market rate of gross margin at the date of
agreement applicable to similar construction services rendered
in a similar location, and is recognised on the percentage-of-
completion method, measured by reference to the proportion
of costs incurred to date to the estimated total cost of the
relevant contract.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z
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fra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(b)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Determination of fair value of contract revenue in
respect of the construction services rendered
(continued)

The construction margin is determined based on the gross
profit margins of market comparables by identifying relevant
peer groups, which are listed on various stock exchanges in
the world. Criteria for selection include:

(i) the peer firm must be in the field of the construction of
infrastructure, majoring
facilities in the PRC; and

in kitchen waste treatment

(ii) information of the peer firm must be available and from
a reliable source.

Useful lives and residual values of items of property,
plant and equipment and other intangible assets

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of
property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets, the
Group has to consider various factors, such as technical or
commercial obsolescence arising from changes or
improvements in provision of services, or from a change in the
market demand for the product or service output of the
assets, the expected usage of the assets, the expected physical
wear and tear, the care and maintenance of the assets, legal
or similar limits on the use of the assets and historical
experience. Adjustment of depreciation/amortisation is made if
the estimated useful lives and/or the residual values of items
of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets
are different from previous estimation. Useful
residual values are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at the end of each reporting period, based on any

changes in circumstances.

lives and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(b)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Useful lives and residual values of items of property,
plant and equipment and other intangible assets
(continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment is HK$108,082,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$62,824,000) and other intangible assets is HK$1,783,000
(31 March 2023: HK$1,288,000).

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, operating concessions and other
intangible assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for property, plant and equipment, operating
concessions and other intangible assets at the end of each
reporting period. Property, plant and equipment, operating
concessions and other intangible assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value
in use calculations is undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

E XS5 HIE R &5 (E)

N ABHBREE (&)

Y¥E BERZEEHLIREM
HEEEENTTEHFERRFEE
15 (%)

MR2024F3A318  WE -HE X
2% 5 /9 BR ™ (& /5108,082,000% T
(202343F318 : 62,824,000/ 7T) &
EM|mEEERNIREER,783,000
7 0 (2023%3A31H : 1,288,000/
JT) °

¥ BERZHE  EEHFHER
R o & ZE B9 sk (55T 15

AEBRERESMRABDE B
FERER REFFREAEMER
BEERGREDTR WX BER
B REGTFRLEMETLEE
KA PR BN BRE £ 58 BE A IR
CRETRENA -HEEXRSE
ELABUNERAEBEET KD S
B AFERE - AIREESERRD
FEBROERTEEHBEEREF
BB EE - A FEBDEXANE
HERAMBHNEUEERDORS
RFEXGHBBEXTEETERLE
BEMEERA RFIEEREE
B BEERAGHEEXRRSESL
BUMEHRRKRESRE  WEE
BERRE U EZFRERE
HIR(E

137



138

NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SR M
For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(b)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, operating concessions and other
intangible assets (continued)

The impairment assessment is significant to our audit due to
(i) the significance of the carrying amounts; and (ii) the
significant judgements and estimates involved in determining
the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units to which
the operating concessions are allocated, including, amongst
others, expected future cash flows and discount rates.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment is HK$108,082,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$62,824,000) operating concession is HK$251,660,000 (31
March 2023: HK$246,519,000) and other intangible asset is
HK$1,783,000 (31 March 2023: HK$1,288,000).

Fair value measurement of investment properties

Investment properties, including those under construction, are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at
their fair value, details of which are disclosed in note 15. The
fair value of the investment properties was determined by
reference to valuations conducted on these properties by an
independent qualified valuer
techniques which involve certain assumptions and inputs as set
out in note 15. Favourable or unfavourable changes to these

using property valuation

assumptions may result in changes in the fair value of the
Group's investment properties included in the consolidated
statement of financial position and corresponding adjustments
to the changes in fair value recognised
statement of profit or loss. As at 31 March 2024, the carrying
amount of investment properties was approximately
HK$56,413,000 (2023: HK$22,167,000).

in consolidated
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(b)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment assessment of trade and retention
receivables, deposits and other receivables, contract
assets, loan receivables and receivables and contract
assets under service concession arrangements

The Group makes estimates of expected credit losses
attributable to financial assets and contract assets, including
the incorporation of forward-looking
supplement historical credit loss rates.

information to

The assessment on ECLs relies on the analysis and judgement
made by the management. The impairment assessment is
significant to our audit due to the significance of the carrying
amounts as a whole and significant estimates involved in
determining the future cash flows from such deposits and
receivables based on, among others, the ageing of these
deposit and receivable balances, and debtors’
creditworthiness, past repayment history and historical write-

customers’

off experience.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of trade and
retention receivables is HK$121,982,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$102,930,000), deposits and other receivables is
HK$178,694,000 (31 March 2023: HK$160,254,000), contract
assets is HK$54,170,000 (31 March 2023: HK$35,748,000),
loan receivables is HK$39,115,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$41,762,000) and receivables and contract assets under
service concession arrangements is HK$101,625,000 (31 March
2023: HK$106,189,000).

fra MR K
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{ 2202443 /531H 1 F/Z

6.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and each of which is
considered as a separate reportable operating segment by the
executive Directors, being the chief operating decision maker
("CODM") as follows:

(@)  Construction works segment engages in the provision of
foundation works, civil engineering works and general building
works in Hong Kong; and

(b)  Environmental protection segment engages in: (i) construction
and operation of kitchen waste treatment related business; (ii)
development and management of environmental protection
industrial park; and (iii) new energy materials in Mainland
China.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment’'s profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The
adjusted profit/(loss)
measured consistently with the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax

except that interest income, certain other income, finance costs, as

before tax with certain other income is

well as head office and corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurements.

Segment assets mainly exclude cash and cash equivalents and head
office’s rental deposit as these assets are managed on a group
basis.

Included in corporate and unallocated assets are cash and cash
equivalents of HK$6,691,000 (2023: HK$134,540,000) and head
office’s rental deposit of HK$796,000 (2023: HK$796,000).

Segment liabilities exclude certain bonds, convertible bonds, tax
payables, deferred tax liabilities, and other unallocated head office
and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group

basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B S R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

(a)

Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable operating segments:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Construction
works

BEIE

(i) Kitchen waste
treatment

related business

(0F: ok T35

HERER

HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THERT

Disaggregated by timing of &M AEREHHFS :
revenue recognition:

2024 F R AIEEE(ER)EBRATF

6. EEFWER(E)

SER U R A
UTRAEERTZHEL DS

(a)

DR R EEIN

& FE2024F3531H I EF

Environmental Protection

BR

(i) Development
and
management of
environmental
protection

industrial park
(i)l 3 R B IR
BRIE
HK$'000
TER

(iii) New energy
materials

(i) 3 BE i 1 4
HKS$'000
TiER

Sub-total

et
HK$'000
THET

Consolidated

&e
HK$'000
TEL

]

Point in time E5 R 2 — 56,987 — 42,626 99,613 99,613
Qver time Be B 511,281 14,235 — — 14,235 525,516
Revenue from other sources L ftt R A — 3,107 - - 3,107 3,107
Revenue and sales to MM E P 1L B A

external customers RHER 511,281 74,329 - 42,626 116,955 628,236
Reconciliation: Eof
Segment results NIMEE (15,451) 6,315 13,849 57,138 77,302 61,851
Reconciliation: i
Interest income YO 142
Corporate and unallocated 22 & Rk DB YA K

income and gains W i 6,735
Corporate and unallocated AR RADEHZ

expenses (24,858)
Share of the result of an ~ JE(EBEL AR EE

associate (116)
Finance costs B R A (11,970)
Profit before tax BR B4 A1 A 31,784

141



142 NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B RS R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
(a) Segment revenue and results (continued)

6. EEFWER(E)

(a) SEBUcER R L ()

For the year ended 31 March 2023 Bt F2023F3H31H L EE
Construction
works Environmental Protection
BREIR RAR
(ii) Development
and

(i) Kitchen waste

management of
environmental

treatment protection  (iii) New energy
related business industrial park materials Sub-total Consolidated
(VEBNREE (IAERER
EEES BRIZE  ((iFaRMH et Fa
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Disaggregated by timing of R ABREEHFS :
revenue recognition:
Point in time F R 2 - 46,226 — - 46,226 46,226
Over time a8 fe] 438,227 56,925 — — 56,925 495,152
Revenue from other sources 4 3B I A — 3,811 — — 3,811 3,811
Revenue and sales to MR P fE I ) A
external customers REER 438,227 106,962 — — 106,962 545,189
Reconciliation: ik
Segment results SiREE 6,335 1,943 2,926 (2,640) 2,229 8,564
Reconciliation: bl 2
Interest income FIBWA 503
Corporate and unallocated 2 & R R D BEMA R
income and gains [l 2,234
Corporate and unallocated A FRASEHY
expenses (15,186)
Finance costs BB A (10,821)
Loss before tax BEAIEE (14,706)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. HENBEHE (&)
(continued)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities by PHWEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and NTAREEZEATZ®RD DA
liabilities by reportable operating segments: BEERBESIT:
As at 31 March 2024 $#22024%#3H31H

Construction

works Environmental Protection

BEIR BR

(i) Development

and
management of
(i) Kitchen waste  environmental

treatment protection (iii) New energy
related business industrial park materials Sub-total Consolidated
(VEFUREE ()AERER
HEER BRIXE (iHFseRMH INgE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TiER TET TER TiER
Segment assets PREE 267,569 472,629 144,380 212,800 829,809 1,097,378
Reconciliation: B
Corporate and unallocated  AF R KD EEE
assets 6,691
Total assets BEGE 1,104,069
Segment liabilities SHER 286,091 285,911 16,304 34,350 336,565 622,656
Reconciliation: B
Corporate and unallocated R ERAPEAE
liabilities 14,934
Total liabilities BELE 637,590

Other segment information: A it 7 A5 E#

Government grants B - 1,000 8,450 - 9,450 9,450
Change in fair value of REMEATEED

investment properties - - 5,594 - 5,594 5,594
Gain on capital EBREFIRM

contributions by g EAREE

Patented Technologies to  H#y 38

an associate - - — 52,946 52,946 52,946
Depreciation k-] 15,423 3,665 92 4,974 8,731 24,154
Amortisation of operating & & ¥ EE H

concessions — 5,349 — — 5,349 5,349
ECL on financial and LRRANEERS

contract assets FEBR 693 396 - 716 1,112 1,805
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)
As at 31 March 2023

Construction

works

BETR

6. EEFWER(E)

SHEERBE(E)
F2023F3H31H

(b)

Environmental Protection

Rix

(i) Kitchen waste

(ii) Development
and
management of
environmental

treatment protection (i) New energy
related business industrial park materials Sub-total Consolidated
(VBEENREE (IFERER
HEER BRIEZE (i RME et e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FET FHET AT FET FET
Segment assets AREE 235,855 460,073 110,329 88,547 658,949 894,804
Reconciliation: B
Corporate and unallocated ARIRADEEE
assets 138,192
Total assets BEARE 1,032,996
Segment liabilities SBER 291,140 306,476 33 12,459 318,968 610,108
Reconciliation: Bk
Corporate and unallocated A AR KD EEE
liabilities 16,884
Total liabilities AELE 626,992
Other segment information: Z fth 7 A5 E#) -
Government grants BT 8 3,806 25 3,028 — 3,053 6,859
Depreciation wE 18,135 2,773 8 20 2,801 20,936
Amortisation of operating ~ AX & R E 4
concessions — 5,595 — — 5,595 5,595
(Reversal of)/provision on &R RANEERE
ECL on financial and EEER(®#ER)
contract assets g (355) 4,290 — — 4,290 3,935
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
(c) Information about major customers

Revenue from external customers of the Group who

contributed over 10% of the Group’s revenue as follows:

BESBEN (B

(c)

=
AraH

FTEEFR&EH

75 2k Y o

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

MAEBERKRAERABI10%MNAE B

SNEEFERAMT

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Client A (construction works) EPA(GRETR) 424,926 378,424
Client B (environmental protection) EFBORMR) — 56,925
424,926 435,349
(d) Geographical information (d) HmEHHE
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) KEIEBEFEHIKA
2024 2023
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Hong Kong BB 511,281 438,227
Mainland China AR A 116,955 106,962
628,236 545,189
The aforesaid information for revenue is based on the FRBABRUAREFNE BE
locations of the customers. o
(b) Non-current assets (b) HFEEE
2024 2023
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Hong Kong o 15,150 32,606
Mainland China A A 494,474 300,192
509,624 332,798

The aforesaid information for non-current assets is
based on the location of the assets and excludes
financial assets.

LR RBEEERIABEN
ERER TEEESREE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

7. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 7. WA -EHEb\ R iFEE

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains, net, from REFELEEBHBA - Eanlg A Rk
continuing operations is as follows: HFBEMONOT
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
Revenue from contracts with customers RKEEFRESHHIEA
Construction works HETRE 511,281 438,227
Environmental protection R IR
— operational income — WA 56,987 46,226
— construction revenue — B W 14,235 56,925
— new energy materials — FTREIRM B 42,626 —
Subtotal NEE 625,129 541,378
Revenue from other sources Hfth SR U A
Environmental protection R IR
— financial income — FBIKA 3,107 3,811
628,236 545,189
Timing of revenue recognition W A T 2R B
Goods or services transferred at a point in time R — B EEENE RN
iR & 99,613 46,226
Service transferred over time B By [ 88 2 1 R 7% 525,516 495,152
625,129 541,378
Other income and gains, net Hib g N\ R U 25 iF 88
Bank interest income WATH B WA 142 503
Compensation income LN — 14,886
Management fee from construction segment EESHLMEEEE — 4,047
Plant and machinery rental income B K Es & WA — 8,661
Rental income from sublease FEAEESKA 1,446 1,193
Government grants (note i) IR T 48 B (Bft &%) 9,450 6,859
Sales of construction materials YR E 1,790 =
Consultancy service fee RS E 5,640 =
Gain on a lease modification HEERZ K= 69 —
Licensing income from intangible asset BIZEEMSRERA 2,073 —
Gain on capital contribution by Patented 7 8 B A Bl 5 = B
Technologies to an associate ANEDEE W
(note ii) (Bt =i ) 52,946 —
Change in fair value of investment properties & WERFEESF 5,594 —
Interest income from loan receivables FEUE F A B A 1,809 515
Gain on disposal of property, plant and LEME  BERZED
equipment I 2= 367 —
Others H 418 1,499
81,744 38,163
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET
(continued)
The following table provides information about trade and retention
receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts
with customers.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

W\~ H At N R Wy 25 T R
(&
TREGAWREEFAONEHEEK
EREERES ANEERANEEN
B R o

31 March 2023

31 March 2024

Trade and retention receivables (note 21)

(MF7E21)
Contract assets (note 20(a)) A& E (M3E20@))
Contract liabilities (note 20(b)) & HaE KE200))

B RWFIARERRE 2

2024%3H31H 20233 A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#&T FAET
121,982 102,930
54,170 35,748

9,430 716

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to
consideration for work completed but not billed at the reporting
date on revenue related to the provisions of infrastructure
construction. The contract assets are transferred to receivables when
the rights become unconditional. This usually occurs when the
Group provides the invoices to the customers.

The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance consideration
received from customers out of which approximately HK$716,000
(2023: HK$2,480,000) of the contract liabilities as of 31 March 2023
has been recognised as revenue during the year ended 31 March
2024 due to completion of some construction works.

As at 31 March 2024, the aggregated amount of the transaction
price allocated to the remaining performance obligations under the
Group’s existing contracts is approximately HK$506,000,000 (2023:
HK$709,000,000). This amount represents revenue expected to be
recognised in the future from partially completed long-term
construction contracts. The Group will recognise the expected
revenue in future when or as the work is completed, which is
expected to occur in the next 12 to 36 months.

RHEETZEASEARHEMRERE
ERRERME T TER AR ARASE
ENTIREBKENENER aNEE
TR X RE TR R B AR IS B 3 = R W 5RIR »
HREBFRAKSEAEFAAZRRH

/_:Eo
AHBEETEEREFKBMNBNRES
B H P R2023F3A3IB AN ABEYL

716,000/ Jr (20234 : 2,480,000/ JT)
ETEREIRTIMOERAEEE20244F
3A3THIEFE /WA -

M202453A318 " REEAKEEERFE
HNETHBBENETNRZEREENE
506,000,000 7T (20234 : 709,000,0005
o) e HIEBREHERBLETIN
RHZESHORRHOBA - AEBE BRI
BETRERRRBHBA B TEH
RARKI2E36@MARNTTL -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/31H 1F F /&

7. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET
(continued)

Note:

0]

(i)

Various government grants have been received by certain PRC subsidiaries
for their research and development activities in Mainland China.
Government grants of approximately HK$8,450,000 and HK$1,000,000 are
granted as investment incentives for Yixing Plant and Tianjin operation,
respectively. The Group does not have unfulfilled obligations relating to
these programs.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the government grants amounted to
HK$3,806,000 was obtained from Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”)
under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by the Hong Kong SAR
Government supporting the payroll of the Group’s employees. Under the
ESS, the Group had to commit to spending these grants on payroll
expenses, and not reduce employee head count below prescribed levels for
a specified period of time. The Group did not have other unfulfilled
obligations relating to this program. No such government grants have been
received during the year.

During the year, the Group entered into an agreement with Shanxi Hantang
Senyuan Development Group Co., Ltd. (“Hantang Senyuan”) to form an
associate, Xi‘an Hantang Mingsheng Technology Co., Ltd. (“Hantang
Mingsheng”) by injecting of Patented Technologies which with the carrying
values of RMB36,173,000 (equivalent to HK$39,318,000).

Since the fair value of the 30% interest in the associate is
RMB105,000,000, the difference of RMB68,827,000 is considered as a non-
cash gain. However, as the Group with 30% shareholding in the associate,
the transaction is considered as a downstream sale of an asset and 30% of
the non-cash gain shall be eliminated. Therefore, the recognised non-cash
gain should be revised to RMB48,179,000 (equivalent to HK$52,946,000)
accordingly.

l}&%\ o Hfth T\ B W 2R R ER

(=

(i) B> A BB RS A B kAR R B b A B B
EEENZEBTMEA  BRBEE RKEE
& 9 Bl 4% 498,450,000/8 7T }.1,000,000/8
TR IERIEERE - AEEW EZ
ZHEMHBARTHRERE -

REZE2023F3A31B IEEE RN BFHEL
3,806,000# 7T Jh & HR B 7 74 45 Bl 17 B @ B
FHEOHRESBETRAEASS (TR
EHEDNBEAHE  AUXEALEET
WIE - RRBEFET  REBEEER

SRR FMFE X - AR IE T HIM
NHBEELRATRTEAS - NEBI EE A
BREZT BN RBITEM - RE E2024F3
A3MBLEFEER  TARKBZSBTRE -

(i) RAFEERN  ANEBEHEREZERRE E£%

SEERECAFAMEERRD T LH

o LUE AB IR AL B A R (B R0%

ERBRERERAR(DEEMED) K@

B B A R ¥36,173,0007L (# & »
39,318,000 7T ) °

HABEREB30%EEHNRFEAEARKE
105,000,0007T + # %8 A R #68,827,0007T 4
REFRESKEE - AT ARAEERF Y
ERAB0%MBRE AUZXIWRAEE
TS  FFRSWERIZ0% EIHIELE -

At - ERROIERS WS EAREETAA
R #548,179,0007T (18 752,946,000/ 7T.) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

Br#ianimF(E518)
ARG BRI BB BAER
(85 18) Ty R4 T3 B (4 5

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 8.

The Group's profit/(loss) before tax, from continuing operations, is
arrived at after charging:

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FHET FHET
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKAR 35,806 6,379
Cost of construction works BETRENKA 502,384 452,154
Cost of engineering, procurement and 24 T2 « #REE R 2 £ R
construction services rendered % B AR 9,692 20,058
Cost of kitchen waste treatment services 12 fft & & £ 3 Bz 12 AR 7%
rendered BN 19,263 13,034
Auditor’s remuneration % 1R B 1,857 1,738
Depreciation e
— Owned property, plant and — BEWE BEREE
equipment 18,600 18,603
— Right-of-use-assets included within ~ — &+ A~ %118 B A9 {8 1
— office premises BE —BREME 14 5,554 2,333
Amortisation of other intangible assets b 4% /i & = % 35 17 491 533
Amortisation of operating concessions £ % 5 5 4 2 §5 16(a) 5,349 5,595
Provision of major overhaul KB 30 777 730
ECL on financial and contract assets SR RE N EERTEE
EEEE 1,805 3,935
Employee benefit expense (excluding EEBARAX ((TREES
directors’ remuneration (note 10)): B (B 3E10)) -
Wages, salaries, bonuses, allowances TE - 64
and benefits in kind R BN & 115,700 91,253
Equity-settled share option expense A 1 25 45 B ) B AR
3 8,993 1,697
Pension scheme contributions (defined B & EIHEZ(RE
contribution schemes)* HERETE]) * 2,420 2,280
127,113 95,230
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

8.

9.

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (continued) 8. K#BimEF (&8 (#&

*Note: The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes for its I AEBAETERTEEESLETEHRK
employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. For its Hong Kong employees, the RAIKEHE - REB IR B E B ED F485F
Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF CRHERERFEGID R EEENE
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance STE(EBEGRINDESE 2R AR IE 2B
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed under BRuBHEREETE(RES
the jurisdiction of the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of g B ERHEBUSZTAETEY
Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan EREERBRARGE - BIERESE B
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the FREESEYAREERABBAZS%M
employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to the RESHEAEHHR MEBABHEKAZ
MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of =R 730,000/ 7T ° 58 18 & 7t & 4t 5K BN
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme BE-BPREEME  REBEPEMEMS
vest immediately. Regarding its employees in the PRC, pursuant to the BEG GO RAH AEBMBE—IEH
relevant labour laws, rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group B 75 [t T AT B AR A ) RUE SRR
participates in defined contribution retirement benefit scheme (the RERG & (RRBEREE] - Bt K
“Retirement Benefit Scheme”) organised by the relevant local SEAEARFRNRTEEHEKBEETNRE
government authorities in the PRC whereby the Group is required to make TEZ—FhERmRKERG S ELH
contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme at a certain rate of the o RKBRTE 2 HRENFHE - 415
standard wages determined by the relevant authorities in the PRC during &5 B ROR R AE FIET T B E 8 Wy
the year. Contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately. RO AL B AR DR KFEEA B H
There was no forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme and Retirement e
Benefit Scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the
contribution payable in future years.

FINANCE COSTS 9. HMBRAE

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BB e

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FE T
Interest on: AME

Amounts due to related parties Ji& 1~F A B 75 3KIE 5,205 5,519

Bank loans, overdrafts and other loans RITER B RHEAM
B 9,724 5,885
Convertible bonds MR ES 51 225
Interest element of lease liabilities HEABEOFEEH 810 247
Bonds (EE2 1,350 917
Other payables E i FE S RROE — 221
17,140 13,014
Less: Interest capitalised (note 16(a)) B BEREF B (M EE16(a)) (5,170) (2,193)
11,970 10,821




20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong Kong Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is
as follows:

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

10. E = 37 W

REBEMARIMERRABES LHR
A - & R B GIFE383(1)@) - (b) ~ (OK
OEARERAR (REEEMNEER) R
GIE2MMBENFRNESHFMHOT :

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

Fi#T FET

Fees & 2,085 1,980

Other emoluments: H b -

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e B ERR

benefits in kind YA = 4,140 4,140

Equity-settled share option expense A A E R B RN 995 605

Pension scheme contributions RIKEFTEIHR 36 36

5,171 4,781

7,256 6,761

Certain directors were granted of share options, in respect of their
services to the Group, under the share option scheme of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements. The fair value of such options,
which has been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the consolidated financial statements for the year is
included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

ETEEREARANBRESRESE
AAREERENRGEERBRE %
FBRHRA GV BRRME3Z - ZEH
BENAFEDRRLAHEE  BER
HEBRRERAER MAFERA VKR
RAFMNSEEFT AR LEZHIMRESR
Koo
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 10. EZBH (&
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIUAFBTEE

Equity-settled

>

share option Total
Fees expense remuneration
DS EED
e ERERX 7 Bk 48 28
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER
2024 20244
Ms. Du Yun? =it 140 — 140
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, EEA%E -

Raymond, MH, JP KEBEZE K FHL 420 80 500
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian 7 & %85t & 420 80 500
Dr. Tong Ka Lok EeEt 420 80 500

1,400 240 1,640
Equity-settled
share option Total
Fees expense remuneration
NHEREEN
Be i AR RE B 2 Rk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FET FHET
2023 20234
Mr. Choy Wai Shek, EEA%E -

Raymond, MH, JP KEHE X FH+ 420 — 420
Mr. Lo Chun Chiu, Adrian Z& & %85t & 420 — 420
Dr. Tong Ka Lok EEgEt 420 — 420

1,260 — 1,260

ERVERMNBIIEATESENE
B 4 (20234 : 4E) o

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2023: nil).

EXFRBLFRATESOFHM
HREAERA R B EEH RS

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Notes: B 7

HEZTR2023F9A1BEZITA
ARRABIULIFRITES -

a) Ms. Du Yun who acts as the independent non-executive director of a)
the Company was appointed on 1 September 2023.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 10. EBHM (&

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) BITEERIEHITESE
Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled Pension
and benefits share option scheme Total
Fees in kind Bonuses expense contributions remuneration
e EER UHEBEHEN g
ik BEYfE 4 BRENX sHEIR Fo Ek]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
2024 20244
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Zhu Yongjun RES44 — 1,800 — 95 18 1,913
Mr. Pan Yimin EBRERE — 900 — 290 — 1,190
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas ~ Z#58) 5% & — 1,440 — 290 18 1,748
Non-executive directors: FRITES -
Dr. Ge Xiaolin BEgiEt 360 — — 80 — 440
Mr. Lin Jiakuang® MRE &4« 55 — — — — 55
Mr. Sui Guanyi® & & & &0 220 — — — — 220
Dr. Zhang Lihui® RuBEL 50 — — — — 50
685 4,140 — 755 36 5,616
2023 20234
Executive directors: WITES:
Mr. Zhu Yongjun KBELEE — 1,800 — — 18 1,818
Mr. Pan Yimin FEHRRLAE — 900 — 408 — 1,308
Mr. Lee Tsi Fun Nicholas — Z#5 81 %4 — 1,440 — 197 18 1,655
Non-executive directors: FRITES:
Mr. Sui Guanyi® BERTE 240 — — — — 240
Dr. Zhang Lihui® RAUIBE L 120 — — — — 120
Dr. Ge Xiaolin BEgiEt 360 — — — — 360
720 4,140 — 605 36 5,501
Note: Bt 3T -
a) Mr. Sui Guanyi resigned as the non-executive director of the Company a) F5 & & 5t £ 102024452 A28 H Bf (E AN
on 28 February 2024. RNEIEMITES -
b) Dr. Zhang Lihui resigned as the non-executive director of the b) R BT R2023F8A31HBHEA
Company on 31 August 2023. PNAIEHITES -
Q) Mr. Lin Jiakuang who acts as the non-executive director of the <) MK E & £R2023F10F17H EZ

Company was appointed on 17 October 2023.

ERERAFRNITES -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

10. EEHM(E)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) BITEERFHTES(H)
(continued)
During the year, no remuneration was paid or payable by the RAFE - AL EWED BN
Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon EEHM - ERMARE RN
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2023: BB 1% 1Y 88 & 3K 1 7% B BB 4 (8 (2023
nil). Fofm) o
There was no arrangement under which a director or a chief RREFERN BETAEHES
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration for KE=mITBRABNEXRENET
both years. 1] 357 Bl &9 %2 B -
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for EXFTRATESOTI M ER
their services in connection with the management of the HEEBARNARASEEEZHEEH
affairs of the Company and the Group. B9 AR %5 M S AT e
11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES " AEamEHES
The 5 highest paid employees during the year ended 31 March REE2024F3A31BEFERN Sl mm
2024 included 3 (2023: 3) directors, details of whose remuneration HFREEFBEIEIZ(2023F :3R)&EF  ®
are set out in note 10 above. Details of the remuneration for the EHHFMAFBEN XM TI0 - REE
year ended 31 March 2024 of the remaining 2 (2023: 2) highest 2024F3A31H 1IE F & A H #4224 (2022
paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the F2HB)MFEARARBEENIEREIITHA
Company are as follows: ENGEaHEENTMFBOT
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET FAET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EZRMREWANR 2,404 1,979
Bonuses B4 — —
Pension scheme contributions (defined BRAREFTEIHR(RAEHK
contribution schemes) s &) 36 32

2,440 2,011
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) "M AERaHES (&)
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid N TFATANMEESIEERITHA
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as BERESFHEENAZKET :
follows:
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z %1,000,000/% 7T — 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T 2
1,500,000/ 7T 2 1
2 2
The detail of the emoluments of 5 highest paid individuals is as FEERHFATHHMESFBEOT
follows:
Salaries, Other
allowances allowances Equity-settled Pension
and benefits and benefits  share option scheme Total
Fees in kind Bonuses in kind expense contributions remuneration
e EMR Hip MR LREZEEN BRe
e ENHG A ENEN BRERX AR Has
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FET AT FHET TAT FHET TAT
2024 20245
Directors: = — 4,140 — — 675 36 4,851
Other employees HitfES — 2,404 — — — 36 2,440
- 6,544 - - 675 72 7,291
2023 20234
Directors: B — 4,140 — —_ 605 36 4,781
Other employees HifgE — 1,979 = — = 32 2,011
— 6,119 — — 605 68 6,792

155



1 56 NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B RS R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 12. FiRH(ER) HX
The amount of taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or FEBEmRxANNBIESERE

loss represents:

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Charge for the year FAXH
— Hong Kong — BB — —
— PRC — 8 3,028
Deferred tax (note 31) JESE T E (KT EE31) (285) 988

Total income tax (credit)/expense for the year FR(E®), B X

T 15 1t 48 &R (277) 4,016
A reconciliation of the income tax expenses applicable to profit/(loss) RAETBATMEAFEOBRFAEF
before tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate to the tax (credit)/ (BE)ERMFEHAY B AERTR
expense at the Group's effective tax rate is as follows: MEFTENFHEBER) HAIHEEREN
T

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TATT

Profit/(loss) before tax BEREF S (EE) 31,784 (14,706)

Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate of BREBEEHNE165%

16.5% (2023: 16.5%) (20234 : 16.5% ) 5T E &)
I8 5,244 (2,426)

Different tax rates enacted by specific BFEBERBAERSKH A

countries/jurisdictions or local authorities % B8 28 4 B 1 [R5 6,419 2,012
Income not subject to tax BART KA (16,566) (959)
Expenses not deductible for tax TSR 8 B S2 4,183 3,086
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously ) 5¢ B & fE R B B B & 18

not recognised EORR (1,280) =
Tax losses not recognised RERBB K EE 1,723 2,303
Total tax (credit)/expense at the Group's BRAREBERRETEDN

effective tax rate wEiE(Ee) X (277) 4,016
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) (continued)

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the
Group are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules and
regulations of the British Virgin Islands and Cayman Islands, the
Group is not subject to any income tax in the British Virgin Islands

and Cayman Islands.

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year except for one subsidiary of the Group which
is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.
The first HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of
this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%). Taxes on
profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland China have been calculated
at the prevailing tax rates, based on existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof. Pursuant to the PRC
Corporate Income Tax Law (the “PRC Tax Law"”) effective on 1
January 2008, the PRC corporate income tax rate of the Group's
subsidiaries operating in Mainland China during the reporting period
was 25% of their taxable profits.

Hefei Feifan and Tianjin Yisheng were accredited as high and new
technology enterprises in 2020 under relevant PRC laws and
regulations. Accordingly, Hefei Feifan and Tianjin were entitled to a
preferential Corporate Income Tax rate of 15% from 2020 to 2023.
The entitlement of a preferential Corporate Income Tax of 15% for
both subsidiaries are extended to 2026 due to the extension

applications have been accepted by PRC tax authority.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

12.

mEBER (X)) (&

AEEn S EAERARELAIRAAE
1% B 2 BT AE B AE B 4E ) R A B B B
IR AT E B - RSB B B
SRBHRAER  AEEBABME
S PR A B R B B BB Y B (B o

BANSHEREAFERESE LML
JE R T 0 F9%216.5% (20234 : 16.5% ) &t
KT IREE WAKE —XRWE QKR
S HEMGSIFEHAIETHEERE
B2 o 3z Bt B A 7] &2,000,000/8 7T (2023
£ 12,000,000 JT) B9 FE AR B & A IR
8.25% (20234F : 8.25% ) T K& & - 1M #4
T &) FE &R B Jm A Al $216.5% (20234 -
16.5% ) B =@ o H b i 75 /9 FE BR B Ui
OB BENEREANEREEMERRNRIT
MEHH -

=

BRTBEAMERTENOMREBEEERE
B FIRERG - RERES  RBITH
REHE o IRIFEF2008F1A1H £ K EH
ERSHRZEZTPEBE]D RS H
M AEBRFPEADEENHBE QAN
RIS H R R ERTEF8I25% °

BB REF KER2020F 1R B4
BEEFERYERT AR E-
At - & IR R KRENR2020F £2023F
HAEZBIS%NMEBEBRLEMSEHRBEE - AR
FEMEKECIIBTHRE  MKRME
NAEIZHIS%MEBRCEMBHERMER
fRIE R E2026%F -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO THE OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

13. RERAATNHFTANERE
#l,(B548)

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FAET
(Restated)
(&E7))
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/ SR EA K #EFEF]
(loss) per share are based on the following (E518) IRIBELA T 8UEETE -
data:
Earnings/(loss) EF(Ei8)
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity AR ESRERNEF
holders of the Company, used in the basic (E18) 2 AN aEEmkE
earnings/(loss) per share calculation: A AERRT (BE): 2,863 (20,797)
Shares B 15
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in AR EESRERNEF]
issue and issuable during the year, used in (BE)ZFRNBEITR
the basic earnings/(loss) per share calculation ] 3% 77 % i/ A% 0 #E F 159 & 1,558,890,364 1,222,962,353
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in ARG ESREFTARF]
issue and issuable during the year, used in (BR)ZFRNBETR
diluted earnings/(loss) per share calculation Al BT E @A A IR
198 1,563,075,845 1,222,962,353

Earnings/(loss) per share:
Basic
Diluted

=N

FRAEN(BR) :

HK cents # 1l HK cents 71l

0.18
0.18

Diluted earnings per share is presented for the year as the impact of
certain batches of share options were dilutive. However, no diluted
loss per share was presented for the year ended 31 March 2023 as
the impact of the share options and convertible bonds outstanding
was anti-dilutive.

HRAETHANBERELABESYE B2
AFENGREERT - A AR
RAOFEERERTERESARESY
I EZHE E2023F3A8318 L F
ERNSRESER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Office
premises

WoE
M
HK$'000
TER

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

14. Y% -BERRE

Plant and
machinery

HBEREE
HK$'000
TEx

Furniture,
fixtures and
office
equipment

Rif KB

HK$'000
TET

Motor
vehicles

RE
HK$'000
TER

it
HK$'000
57

31 March 2024 2024%3H31H
At 31 March 2023 and M2023F3A318 &

at 1 April 2023: M2023F4 718 :

Cost A 17,030 208,390 11,930 8,376 245,726

Accumulated depreciation ZiE (3,513) (164,305) (10,372) (4,712) (182,902)
At 1 April 2023, R2023%54A18 - B4R

net of accumulated depreciation 2iME 13,517 44,085 1,558 3,664 62,824
Additions NE 6,341 64,320 6,725 1,036 78,422
Disposal HE — - — (2,234) (2,234)
Lease modification HBEEE (5,156) — - — (5,156)
Depreciation provided during the year & R i & # & (5,554) (17,067) (867) (666) (24,154)
Exchange realignment B X A% (206) (1,305) (89) (20) (1,620)
At 31 March 2024, RR202453A318  EHRK

net of accumulated depreciation 2 E 8,942 90,033 7,327 1,780 108,082
At 31 March 2024: 2024434318 ¢

Cost AR 14,702 270,348 18,529 5,273 308,852

Accumulated depreciation 2T E (5,760) (180,315) (11,202) (3,493) (200,770)
Net carrying amount REFE 8,942 90,033 7,327 1,780 108,082
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. M%¥ - -BERRE(E)

(continued)
Furniture,
fixtures and
Office Plant and office Motor
premises machinery equipment vehicles Total
R %
mE  ERRER B AE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THL FET TET THT
31 March 2023 2023%3HA31H
At 31 March 2022 and 2022434318 &
at 1 April 2022: 20225 4R18 :
Cost A 6,389 206,481 10,919 8,418 232,207
Accumulated depreciation BiME (1,784) (145,612) (10,441) (3,927) (161,764)
At 1 April 2022, 1202244818 - BB
net of accumulated depreciation RiME 4,605 60,869 478 4,491 70,443
Additions NE 12,425 2,094 1,107 81 15,707
Depreciation provided during the year & T & & (2,333) (17,745) (25) (833) (20,936)
Exchange realignment R (1,180) (1,133) ) (75) (2,390)
At 31 March 2023, 7202363A318 Bk
net of accumulated depreciation BiME 13,517 44,085 1,558 3,664 62,824
At 31 March 2023: ®202343A31A8 ¢
Cost XA 17,030 208,390 11,930 8,376 245,726
Accumulated depreciation Z2iME (3,513) (164,305) (10,372) 4,712) (182,902)
Net carrying amount REFE 13,517 44,085 1,558 3,664 62,824
Note: =

Details of the Group's pledge of property, plant and equipment are set out in

note 28.

AEBYE  BHERREBOBMFBERLHIRE28 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B S R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERRE(E)
(continued)
Right-of-use assets included in the Group’s property, plant STAEXREYE  #BERERIEBEER
and equipment HEE

Office premises

WAEYE

HK$'000

FAET

At 1 April 2022 7202264818 4,605

Additions NE 12,425

Depreciation (note 8) #r & (ff5E8) (2,333)

Exchange realignment ME 5 8 (1,180)

At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 7202393 A318 &2023F4A1H 13,517

Additions NE 6,341

Lease modification HEEE] (5.156)

Depreciation (note 8) T E (M3E8) (5,554)

Exchange realignment e X 58 % (206)

At 31 March 2024 R2024F3H31H 8,942

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. HEYE

2024 2023

HK$’'000 HK$'000

THET FH T

At 1 April Y Y=R 1= 22,167 ol

Additions for the year FRRE 29,676 22,422

Fair value change NEEEE) 5,594 —

Exchange realignment PE H % (1,024) (255)

At 31 March M3A31H 56,413 22,167
The Group’s investment properties consist of a land use right in the AEENKREMERTEERREN —IB L

PRC. 1 T -
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15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The Group acquired such land use right in the PRC for a
consideration of RMB19,507,000 (equivalent to HK$22,422,000). The
purpose of this acquisition is to construct industrial buildings with
the intention of earning rental income upon completion of the
investment properties are located at West
Honggao Road, North Xingbang Road intersection, Gaocheng Town,

construction. The

Yixing, Jiangsu.

The fair value of the investment properties at 31 March 2024
amounting to HK$56,413,000 (2023: HK$22,167,000). As at 31
March 2023, the fair value was assessed by the management with
reference to observable market prices of similar transactions; and the
fair value of investment properties was classified as level 2 fair value
measurement. However, as at 31 March 2024, the fair values were
assessed by the management with reference to valuation conducted
by independent recognised and relevant professional qualification
professionally qualified valuer which adopted residual method. Thus,
the fair value of investment properties is classified as level 3 non-
recurring fair value measurement.

As such, during the year, there was a transfer between level 2 and
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end of
the reporting period in which they occur.

The reasons for transition of valuation method are due to the
method adopted is considered as most appropriate in the
construction stages of a project when the future cash flows have yet
to be quantified in detail which is the case of the Group.

As at 31
amount of HK$56,413,000 have been pledged to secure a
syndicated facility amounting to RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$108,696,000). As at 31 March 2024, the Group has utilised
RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to HK$16,304,000) of such facility.

March 2024, the investment properties with carrying

Details of the Group’s pledge of investment properties are set out in
note 28.

The fair value of investment properties is estimated by using the
residual method.

15. REME(E)

N EE U AR #19,507,0005T (48 & 7
22,422,000/ 7T) AR BB N T ENE
i ERAE  ARENENTIARER
ITERE BEEERTHRERIES K
A BEMEMMNIHEET S BELS
BT - HEAREILA -

B Y ¥ MR024F383MIBmM A FEA
56,413,000/ 7T (20234 : 22,167,000 JT) °
R2023F3A318 A FEHERESE
BUZZHOAIBEEMSERER  BREY
EWAFEHEIBERF2ZRATETE A
M R2024%3A318  AFEIEEREL
ZMBILRAT - HEEES ERGEMEA
BRERETMEEES - Bt - REWED
NEEED EREIPIE BN AT ERE -

ik - RARFEE - F2H R EIR A FERE
BzMHRER AEENORRER/ER
RBEERHPRAFEIRHELENS

%o

[METEZETHNE RKRS R RAR
EE - ERAMTANDREB LR
RAERN MASETBRZBER -

E ZE2024%3A318  BRME{E A56,413,000
BITIHNEREMEELERUBMBARE
100,000,0007T (#H & 7 108,696,000/ JT)
7SR B gl & - B 22024F3A31H A &
2 f# B A K %15,000,0007T (1 & ©
16,304,0007% 7T) K @E & ©

AEBREMEZEROFBEHNME
28 °

REMENAFERAKREXGLSR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable input to the
valuation of investment properties together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 March 2024:

15.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

BEMEE)

AT A ZE2024F3R831B R EWEME
MBEBATABERGASBERTEREE
DRE

Valuation Significant unobservable Relationship between
technique input Range fair value and the input
AT EEBABIRZEH
B 5% EXTOHEHNER #E FE
Investment properties Residual method Market price (RMB/ 6,458-7,949  The higher the market

square metre)

A% B T E R (ARES
7 K)

SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS

The Group has entered into service concession arrangements with
certain governmental authorities in Mainland China on a BOT basis
in respect of the construction and operation of its kitchen waste
treatment business. These service concession arrangements generally
involve the Group as an operator in (i) constructing kitchen waste
treatment plants (the “Facilities”) for those arrangement on a BOT
basis; and (i) operating and maintaining the Facilities at a specified
level of serviceability on behalf of the relevant governmental
authorities for periods ranging from 25 to 30 years (2023: 25 to 30
years) (the “Service Concession Periods”), and the Group will be
paid for its services over the relevant periods of the service
concession arrangements at prices stipulated through a pricing
mechanism. The Group is generally entitled to use all the property,
the
retain the beneficial

plant and equipment of the Facilities, however, relevant
governmental authorities as grantors will
entitlement to any residual interest in the Facilities at the end of the
Each of these service concession

arrangements is governed by a contract and, where applicable,

Service Concession Periods.

supplementary agreements entered into between the Group and the
relevant governmental authority in Mainland China that set out, inter
alia, performance standards, mechanisms for adjusting prices for the
services rendered by the Group, specific obligations imposed on the
Group to restore the Facilities to a specified level of serviceability at
the end of the Service Concession Periods, and arrangements for
arbitrating disputes.

16.

price, the higher the fair
value
mEERYR  RFEM

=]

HeT R SR

AEEEREERECEER N IREIEER
LABOTH =\ 2 i B (A9 3 35 F BT W B =T 32
ZIEFTREERY RS FTRERR
E—BPRBAERERZER  ()MA
BOTHER B2 ELHEIEE Fh K EE M
([#ZE&m]) : R(NVERBIETEREKFER
FAABABITHEALE R EREZSERE A
HA25Z 304 (20234 : 25230F ) ([ &
EREHR]) MASEBREFCERE
HERY MR RE HARR N IR B 1B TE B 51 5 BB A (B
B E R RENGIE - NEE —REEE
RAZEXREOMENE  BERREE A
i AR HEEE AR T ARBRIETL
ERPARERFRBENZEZRMETMAF
BENEREN SZEFICERE
PR AREEE D E A AR AT AT

MEHk(ER)BMABBEMAE - EF
A EHPBRE)ATEE AREMEHR

REOFERS NEEREFFELEDR
PR A8 R B 73 1% 5% F R IR 1B 2 15 € IR T5 7K
FAENREEREE URFEAUADHR
B o
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16. FETEEERH (F)

TERTRERTFN I ERRMEERD

16. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)
A summary of the major terms of the principal service concession

arrangements is set out as follows:

m :

Type of service

Name of company as concession Service Concession
operator Location Name of grantor arrangement Periods
EBEEMMATERE B By ANEGHE BT EEETHED RTEEEHR
Hefei Feifan Hefei, Anhui province, BETHARREEEES BOT on kitchen waste 25 years from 2013 to
the PRC treatment 2038
AR FEZEEARED RETHARZEHEERR RN REEMNBOT F12013% 2 20384 |-
254
Xuancheng Plant* Xuancheng, Anhui province, EM MM T EIE 4 A HES BOT on kitchen waste 30 years from the next
the PRC treatment day of project
completion acceptance
qualified
EHMIER" PEZHBEERT ERTHRTERGANER 2B REESBOT BEARIBUKARRA
#3304

Hancheng Plant

Hencheng, Shanxi province,
the PRC

BEMHEBAFLBEAM

BOT on kitchen waste
treatment

30 years from 2018 to
2047

HINIAR BB R B BEMMREAELE AL EFAREEABOT FI2018%F 8 £20474 Ik
30%F
Guoyang Plant Guoyang, Anhui province, RBENTEERR BOT on kitchen waste 25 years from 2022 to
the PRC treatment 2047
BE5EE hEZEERG R BEEETERR B 0 R R T2 H)BOT 20224 fE 220474 Ik
254
Dunhua Plant* Dunhua, Jilin Province, e A R B BOT on kitchen waste 30 years after commercial
the PRC treatment operation
FLEA* B E WA BT L™ ARBA B RO R B2 BOT 5% 2 E % B30
3 Newly established during the year ended 31 March 2022 and the & REE202243A31H IEFERFKT - I

REE2023F3A31B LFERABERE
BoBREERAFERRALE - EEEE
FHAER BN ERE T EEREZRNORE
Atk 5T 8IA E 2025638318 I EE#1T
FREEES -

construction was principally completed during the year ended 31 March
2023. The plant commenced trial commercial operation during the year.
Management anticipated the relevant governmental bureau should complete
its inspection over the plant’s construction, and therefore, the plan shall
commerce its formal commercial operation during the year ending 31
March 2025.

B 220234 K2024%F3A310 - ABEE &
BB B RFABER -

* Guoyang Plant and Dunhua Plant are yet to commence construction as of d
31 March 2023 and 2024.

Pursuant to the service concession agreements entered into by the BIEAEBITTMEFRLERSE A%
EERNEFCLERRATRAZSE R
RS BB R E A KRR (—&
NARSEEBEAMBATNEEER) HE
Mo REE-—MERZSRITKEEARLE
RIEEEERBKIEZEEERDET
A e

Group, the Group are granted the rights to use the property, plant
and equipment of the Facilities and the related land, which are
generally registered under the names of the relevant subsidiaries of
the Group, during the Service Concession Periods. The Group is
generally required to surrender these assets to the grantors at a
specified level of serviceability at the end of the respective Service
Concession Periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

Details of the Group’s pledge of operations concession and
receivables under service concession arrangements are set out in
note 28.

As further explained in the accounting policy for “Service concession
arrangements” set out in note 4(g) to the financial statements, the
consideration paid by the Group for a service concession
arrangement is accounted for as an intangible asset (operating
concession) or a financial asset (receivable under service concession
as appropriate. The

following is the summarised information of the intangible asset

arrangement) or a combination of both,

component (operating concessions) and the financial asset
component (receivables under service concession arrangements) with

respect to the Group’s service concession arrangements:

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

16.

BHEERRE

AEERFRERLTHTRESTELE
Yo R TR F 1 R 1 B MY SE28 o

AR AN BA 75 3R R P SEA(Q) P L [ 5 RS 2
ZHINEHABRRME—FTHL  ~AKH
AR ERL NN REARIRE
WEERERFRE)XEHEE(FFL
ERTHRBKRFRB)XWE S (NE
) - ATRAEESHFECERLINE
FMEEMAKESD (RENTE) REREE
MR (PR E R R RIRIR) ME
MBE :

(a) Operating Concessions (a) EEYHTHE
2024 2023
HK$’'000 HK$'000
Fi#IT FET
Operating Concession AENFTE
At 1 April RA4R1H 246,519 201,872
Additions = 16,521 59,307
Interest capitalised (note 9) & e F) B (i 5E9) 5,170 2,193
Amortisation provided during the year FAREHEEME (5,349) (5,595)
Exchange realignment E HF % (11,201) (11,258)
At 31 March M3HA31H 251,660 246,519
At 31 March: M3H318 :
Cost (DN 304,413 297,731
Accumulated impairment loss R R EEE (25,277) (26,428)
Accumulated amortisation RET 5 (27,476) (24,784)
Net carrying amount AR ¥ 58 251,660 246,519
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16. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

(a)

Operating Concessions (continued)

Impairment assessment

Year ended 31 March 2024

During the year, Xuancheng Plant commenced trial operation.
For both Hefei Plant and Xuancheng Plant, the management
considered that there is no impairment indicator on both
operation and financial performance for the year. In addition,
the management has assessed internal,
factors, none of the impairment indicators is noted.

external and other

Year ended 31 March 2023

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the construction of the
Xuancheng Plant was principally completed but it was pending
for the government’s inspection. The Group performed an
impairment test on Xuancheng CGU by comparing its carrying
amount with its recoverable amount annually irrespective
whether there was any indication of impairment.

The directors of the Company performed impairment testing
for Hefei Feifan cash generating unit (“Hefei Feifan CGU")
and Xuancheng cash generating unit (“Xuancheng CGU").
The recoverable amounts of these CGUs had been determined
based on the value in use calculation using cash flow
projections. in the value in use
calculation of the above CGUs for 31 March 2023. The
following describes each key assumption on which
management had based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing.

Assumptions were used

Feifan CGU and
Xuancheng CGU were based on its respective BOT contract
period.

The number of years used for Hefei

The Feifan CGU and
Xuancheng CGU had been determined by VIU calculation

recoverable amount of the Hefei

based on cash flow projections from formally approved
budgets covering 16 years and 30 years,
remaining contractual period of the BOT on kitchen waste
treatment.

which was the

Management considered that the budgets should cover the
remaining contractual period of the BOT on kitchen waste
treatment as reflected in the production plan of this CGU.

16. BHFFEE

(a)

ERHE(E)

mETTRE(E)

(B FF A

B 22024F3H31H IF F /&
RAFE SHBEHERLEE-
WA%EE&*ﬁﬁEﬁEvM@
REAFENBELERMBERY
/m/ﬁzﬁmﬁ—\o&tﬁl\ ==

NE - IR EMEE BEER
EFER

B 22023F3H31H IF F &
REE2023F3A31BILFE » 9
BBEMEZARENK  BHEFRF
BE - AEECHERBSCELE
METRENS  SEHREKR
EMAlEesE  Twmaed HRTE
R E TR -

AAREBTHARELRECELE
(AR EABSELENDRE
BRGCELBEMN([EHREELE
MDETRENS ZEHEELE
BAUMARESBENRERS KA
B\Jmﬁﬁﬁf BfEET -EsTE L
MR G EAEBMR2023F3A318H
FRHEERRKAETREZ - UTH
HIEEEEITRENSTEKIENR
SRBANZEREBER-

AREFARSELBLMRERRE
EXBUERNERDERESR
BIBOTH K98

AIEFEABRCELEENLRERRE
EESBMHITRESEHRELER
ﬁt/ﬁfﬁi\ﬁEi"]fﬁi//mf’ﬁi\/ﬁ”ﬁi@1§ﬁﬁE
Bt EEE T HR /165 K30
F - NEFNIREENBOTHR T A
AIHR -

EEBRE BAREBFNIEIEBOT
MHTANERMILEIRESEALEN
MEEE MEFAEER
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

16. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS 16. BT EERRH(ZF
(continued)
(a) Operating Concessions (continued) (a) RBER/FTFEE)
Impairment assessment (continued) B EFF A (E)
The cash flow projections beyond the 5 years periods were SRR RBAKARTHER
extrapolated by using a growth rate as follows: TAEITHERR ¢
2023
Hefei Feifan CGU BIEFALRSELEN —%
Xuancheng CGU SRS EEEN —%
Zero growth rate was assumed for Hefei Feifan CGU and ERFABEELAENREHNR S
Xuancheng CGU based on utilisation of maximum Kitchen EXBEUBREATER  DIREX
Waste processing capacity. AEHNRERE INFERBERE
=
The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections were ERARReRERMABREERNT
as follows:
2023
Hefei Feifan CGU BREFAREELEM 12.45%
Xuancheng CGU EWREELEEMN 12.11%
The discount rates used were pre-tax and reflected specific risk FAMBE R SR AT RE T H4E
relating to the relevant units. FAE AL R R E R b o
The impairment assessment for management consideration in ERECZEEE2023F3H310 4
relation to the operation concessions as at 31 March 2023: LSRR B A RE AT
2023
Hefei Feifan Xuancheng
= E R =
HK$'000 HK$’'000
TFHET FHET
Estimate value-in-use* HEtEREE" 136,867 159,984
Carrying amount of CGUs ReEABSUNERARE
— Operating concession — R 106,540 139,979
Excess HBEE D 30,327 20,005
= The estimated value-in-use was arrived after deducting other assets & HEEREEENREMEE &
including the respective carrying amounts of receivables under RS TR - %
service concession arrangements, property, plant and equipment and R 5 B 5% 4 LA e bl 2 B i 3 R 3R

corporate assets of the above kitchen waste treatment plants. BEEEEMNHEBEREE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

16. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

(a) Operating Concessions (continued)
Impairment assessment (continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the directors of the
Company determined no impairment loss on operation
concessions related to Hefei Feifan CGU and Xuancheng CGU
as the recoverable amount of the assets belonging to Hefei
Feifan CGU and Xuancheng CGU exceeded their carrying
amounts.

(b) Receivables under service concession arrangements

(a)

(b)

16. FETEEERH(F

JESTEE)

EEEE I (2)
MREZE2023F3A31BILFE AR
AEEMETEAEIEANREELSE
NERERBREeEFLBENEBOHLE
HrETERESE BREBRE
EIEABSELEENREHREE
EENMEEMA KL & EHERE
REESHE-

5 AT I

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#T FHB T

Receivables under service concession R e BRI R
arrangements 61,296 63,723
Portion classified as current assets DEARDEENL Y (10,153) (10,502)
Non-current portion MBS 51,143 53,221

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables
under service concession arrangements are as follows:

R AT M % R MR TR (R
HEEIT

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

At beginning of year R E ) 1,442 941
Impairment losses, net BB B FEE 117 581
Exchange realignment X A (33) (80)
At end of year R F R 1,526 1,442

For receivables under service concession arrangements, the
Group applies the simplified approach in measuring ECL, that
is to recognise a loss allowance based on the lifetime ECL at
each reporting date. The Group has applied the loss-rate
method for calculating the ECL of receivables from service
concession arrangements. Under this method, impairment is
calculated using an estimated loss rate and multiplying it by
the outstanding balance at the end of the reporting period.

MR ERTFERBFIEMS
AEBERBEN T AFERRE
EER TAREREAHERR
HEMEEBRERBERE - K
SEERABEXDAFERTR
ERTFRURENTAREES
BeREBEWTTE  BREDRERESR
KRR B R ERUREEER
FTHE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

16. HEFESHERH(E)

FETEE T RRRIE(E)

16. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)
(b) Receivables under service concession arrangements
(continued)
Set out below is the
exposure on the Group's receivables under service concession

(b)

TXHINBEAEEFFRERER
BFERWARIBEERRNER

information about the credit risk

arrangements:

F2024F3H31H

As at 31 March 2024

Loss rate Loss rate
— current — Non-current
portion portion
iR E B iE %
— mENER 5 — FERENE
Gross carrying amount BREA%E(THET)
(HK$'000) 10,255 52,567 62,822
Expected credit losses BHEEBEEEHE
allowance (HK$'000) (F#xT) 102 1,424 1,526
Expected credit loss rate TEEEEEEX 0.99% 2.71%
As at 31 March 2023 202343531
Loss rate Loss rate
— current — Non-current
portion portion Total
EEE E B =
— mEnEk o — FEmEFH 4t
Gross carrying amount BREARE(TET)
(HK$'000) 10,529 54,636 65,165
Expected credit losses TEEEEEEEBER
allowance (HK$'000) (F#ET) 27 1,415 1,442
Expected credit loss rate TEHEEREX 0.26% 2.59%
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

16. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)
(c) Contract assets under service concession arrangements
Xuancheng Plant

16. FETEEERH(F

FCEHETHENEE
ERIEH

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FET

Contract assets under service concession FE AL
arrangements EHNEE 42,703 44,645
Impairment A (2,374) (2,179)
40,329 42,466

Movements in the provision for impairment of contract assets
under service concession arrangements are as follows:

B EEREHA O RERERE
MEBIRMT :

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FHET

At beginning of year R E A 2,179 1,393
Impairment losses, net BEEEFE 293 723
Exchange realignment e X 5 B (98) 63
At end of year RE R 2,374 2,179

Xuancheng Plant was newly established during the year ended
31 March 2022 and the construction was completed during
the year ended 31 March 2023. The plant commenced trial
commercial operation during the year. Management
anticipated the relevant governmental bureau should complete
its inspection and commerce its formal commercial operation
during the year ending 31 March 2025.

For contract assets under service concession arrangements, the
Group applies the simplified approach in measuring ECL, which
is to recognise a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each
reporting date. The Group has applied the loss-rate method
for calculating the ECL of contract assets from service
concession arrangements. Under this method, impairment is
calculated using an estimated loss rate and multiplying it by
the outstanding balance at the end of the reporting period.

TIE B REE2022F3A318 1L
BT R R B 2=2023F3A31H
LtFEERER -RAFE - BH
REERATEE - EEERHAMN
BT EPFI R & = 20253 A31H 1
FEEKREENBRERBARERD
¥gE-

HENBHAKERLHFANEE K
SERNFERREEBRKRAG
£7% AIRE&EHREBREZHE
HEEBEEREBERAL - A&H
ERAEBERXAFERALERR
BHTHANEENTRBEEESE -
RIFE T35 - BETRERE KRR
RfEETBEEFARERERTE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

16. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS 16. A EEEREE(E)
(continued)
(c) Contract assets under service concession arrangements () BrE2ERYeNEE(E)
(continued)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk ATEHINASEREFTEE T
exposure on the Group's contract assets under service AHEENFEERRER

concession arrangements:

As at 31 March 2024 ¥22024%#3H31H
Loss rate Loss rate
— current — Non-current
portion portion
iR E B iE %
— mENER 5 — FERENE
Gross carrying amount BREA%E(THET)
(HK$'000) — 42,703 42,703
Expected credit losses BHEEBEEEHE
allowance (HK$'000) (F#xT) — 2,374 2,374
Expected credit loss rate TEEEEEEX N/A 7 i 5.56%
As at 31 March 2023 202343531
Loss rate Loss rate
— current — Non-current
portion portion Total
EEE E B =
— mEnEk o — FEmEFH 4t
Gross carrying amount BREARE(TET)
(HK$'000) — 44,645 44,645
Expected credit losses TEEEEEEEBER
allowance (HK$'000) (F%&T) — 2,179 2,179
Expected credit loss rate TEHEEREX N/A i@ 4.88%
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17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. HhEREE

Patents
A
HK$'000
FAET
31 March 2024 2024%3H318
Cost at 1 April, 2023, net of accumulated amortisation — #A2023F481H KK A -
Bk Rt # 1,288
Injection from a non-controlling shareholder of a EMBARFERRRTE
subsidiary 39,318
Additions mE 1,049
Amortisation provided during the year (note 8) AR A (M EE8) (491)
Contribution to an associate (note 18) m— R E RN aEE (M sE8) (39,318)
Exchange realignment I 5, 38 B (63)
At 31 March 2024 202493 A31H 1,783
At 31 March 2024: #22024%3A31H :
Cost B AR 3,411
Accumulated amortisation REr#E (1,628)
Net carrying amount BREF 5 1,783
31 March 2023 2023%3H31H
Cost at 1 April, 2022, net of accumulated amortisation 202244818 &K A
=Rl 3 1,971
Amortisation provided during the year (note 8) A E () (533)
Exchange realignment I 5, 38 B (150)
At 31 March 2023 202343 H31H 1,288
At 31 March 2023: #22023%#3A31H :
Cost (DN 2,482
Accumulated amortisation 25T 5 (1,194)
Net carrying amount BRE 5 1,288
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 18. N—RIEEATNIKRE

2024

HK$’000

FHET

Share of net assets 15 FEE 113,785

Exchange realignment b X 58 % 582
Less: unrealised gain on capital contribution by W BERBENEMEE 2

Patented Technologies REHR W= (22,681)

91,686

AU ERBEREEERBEUGEMRERA
R #350,000,0007T (# & 7 #J380,435,000
BRI AA - ZAr (BEERBE) S
BlE R ZER B R EERREB30% K
70% © R IIZE B B A E A BRI R %
BRFEE  FHEERMFETG) °

Shenzhen Huamingsheng and Shanxi Hantang agreed to establish a
company with a registered capital of RMB350,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$380,435,000). Such a company, Hantang
Mingsheng is owned as to 30% and 70% by Shenzhen
Huamingsheng and Hantang Senyuan, respectively. Shenzhen
Huamingsheng made its capital contribution by injection of Patented
Technologies into Hantang Mingsheng, details of which are set out

in note 7(ii).
(a) Details of the Group's associate as at 31 March 2024 are as (a) M2024%3A31H  BEEAEEEKE
follows: NAMERDT :
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered  equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
sEM AL L R ERTEE/ AATEGEERY
& BEMY R A Bkt ETEEH
Xi‘an Hantang Mingsheng Ltd.  PRC/Mainland China RMB350,000,000 30 —  Production and sales of
("Hantang Mingsheng” )@ graphite-based related
anode materials
AL EERBHBRAR A R E B A A K #350,000,0007C AREREEBRMENE
(DEEHAR ) EMHEE
Notes: Bt 3T -
1. The English names of the associate registered in the PRC represents i HRZBEARNEEHEXA

the best efforts made by management of the Company to translate
its Chinese name as it does not have official English name.

2. A limited liability company operating in the PRC. 2.

B EZBERRNEXEZER
RAIEIEE RSB EHE P XM
&AL -

—HARPEEENEREERA -
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18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 18. R—HEZATINI/RE (&)

(b) Summarised financial information of the associate (b) FHBEBEATINMBELHME
Hantang Mingsheng EEYE
2024
HK$’'000
FHET
Revenue N —
Loss from operations K EE (394)
Other comprehensive Income H b 2 UK 5= —
Total comprehensive Income 2EKZERE (394)
Dividend received from the associate HEENRESHRE —
Current assets MEEE 267,444
Non-current assets ERMBEE 175,484
Current liabilities BB E (63.,644)
Non-current liabilities ERBBEE —
Net assets FEE 379,284
Reconciliation to the Group’s investment in an AEBEREE QAR ENHE
associate:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7N 5 [ 1) BT B HE L 30%
Group's share of net assets of the associate AEEDRBERRIZFEE 113,785
Exchange realignment M N A 582
Less: Unrealised gain on capital contribution by B BERENRENMBERAAEEZ
Patented Technologies to the associate RER K= (22,681)

Carrying amount of the associate BEARMNERRSE 91,686
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 Ek B2024F3H31HIFFE

19. INVENTORIES 19. &
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FA& T
Goods arising in environmental protection ARREBEEN Y@
business, at net realisable values: (IR IR FETE) -
Raw materials R A 943 —
Work in progress & 1,035 =
Finished goods X & 6,937 8,067
8,915 8,067
20. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 20 EVEEREWER
LIABILITIES
(a) Contract assets (a) EHEE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FA& T
Related to construction contracts HE PSR & 4 AH H 55,253 36,473
Impairment VERIEN (1,083) (725)
54,170 35,748
Contract assets represent the Group’s right to receive ERNEERAEERETIARR
consideration for work completed but not yet billed because FMAZKEMNTREBIRKRENET -
the rights are conditional upon the satisfaction by the REABEENBEFEPHAEE
customers on the construction work completed by the Group FREEETIRR T WA ?%F—H’F
and the work is pending for the certification by the E MzIELFEPRA &%
customers. The contract assets are transferred to the trade %ﬂﬁkﬁ?ﬁﬂﬂﬂ%(L%%$%H¥
receivables when the rights become unconditional, which is REPYHMEKEETIRENRAMN
typically at the time the Group obtains the certification of the KfE) AHEEEREZE RN
completed construction work from the customers. I8 -
The Group classifies these contract assets under current assets AEERBZECNEENIRERD
because the Group expects to realise them in normal BEBRT DERAASEEHAERE

operating cycle. —REEBMANEREHEE -
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20. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)
(a) Contract assets (continued)
The movements in provision for impairment of contract assets
are as follows:

20 EHEBERESHAER(E)

(a)

RHEE(E)
RREERERENEHNT

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

TER FHTT

At beginning of year R F ) 725 403
impairment loss recognised ERRAEERE 358 322
At end of the year NG 1,083 725

The Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance of contract assets at lifetime ECL.
In view that contract assets have substantially the same risk
characteristic as the trade receivables for the same types of
contracts, the Group has therefore concluded that the
expected loss rates for the trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets. Except
for credit-impaired contract assets which are assessed for ECL
individually, the remaining contract assets are assessed for ECL
collectively.

A summary of the Group’s exposure to credit risk for
contract assets is as follows:

As at 31 March 2024

Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) B 44%8 (T8 L)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHI{ZEEE(THT)
Expected credit loss rate EHEEEEX

Non credit-
impaired

b 5 H 3]
EERE

55,253
1,083
1.96%

AEBMERBTAMBWMELRFINR
BB ERE R REEBER
EANEBEENBERAERK -ERNZTE
RREERRBEENE ZEKHKIA
AAXBHERMREREE  A&E
FUREE 5 EEREN TR EIE
THANEEBEXAEMMESE -
BREEREANEEFEBNEED
FEEEBERIN BRTANEBEENRR
AEFEEEEBR -

REBRANEERAEAINEER
BN T -

#2024%3H31H
Credit
impaired
EHREE
wiEE
— 55,253
— 1,083
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20. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

fra MR K

20 SNEAERSHAERK(E)

(a) Contract assets (continued) (a) EHEEE)
As at 31 March 2023 F2023F3H31H
Non credit- Credit
impaired impaired Total
I 48 38 BEHBREE
FERE BIEE 4aET
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRI 42%8 (T35 7T) 36,473 — 36,473
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHAEEEE (THT) 725 — 725
Expected credit loss rate TEEEEEEX 1.99%
(b) Contract liabilities (b) &#HEE
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
TF#T FET
Contract liabilities arising from: BT IEEELERE R
B
Construction works EETIE 9,430 716
Current portion B D (9,430) (716)
Non-current portion ERBE D — =

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities are as follows:

Construction works
Where discrepancies arise between the progress payments and
the Group's assessment of the stage of completion, contract
liabilities can be arisen.

The increase of contract liabilities was mainly attributable to
the increase in progress billing for a number of sizable
projects undertaken by the Group during the year.

HemaEeBBRFENATH
MR -

BERETE
HEEANREAREE S T ERMT
mzB—BHBREE BAELS
MBE-

AEEAMNBEEMDEZEARA
SEAERETARUEREEHAEIE
e
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20. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Contract liabilities (continued)

20 EHEBERESHAER(E)

(b) &EHEMB/E)

Movements in contract liabilities BB EE2E)
HK$'000
FHT
At 1 April 2022 R2022F481H 2,480
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of EFRNBERRFEVTAEGNAERN
recognising revenue during the year that was WAmMBHEHNERERD
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year (2,480)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing in I 22 T 125 44 A 38 58 U 3 &
advance for construction works BWE B EEN 716
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 72023938318 &2023F4A1H 716
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of EFERNBERRFEVTAEGHNEEDN
recognising revenue during the year that was WAMBHEHEERD
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year (716)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing in B 2 £& T 253 44 A 78 2 Uk 70 m &
advance for construction works BWEHBEEMN 9,430
At 31 March 2024 H20249F3A31H 9,430




21. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

21. ESEKWREREKERES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

Fi#xT FH&T

Trade receivables B 5 EI A 98,954 78,037
Impairment A (2,990) (1,932)
95,964 76,105

Retention receivables EUWRE S 26,664 27,478
impairment A (646) (653)
26,018 26,825

121,982 102,930

Portion classified as current assets DEARDEEMNIT D 110,960 92,431
Non-current portion FEMEN B 11,022 10,499

The Group generally allows a credit period of not exceeding 90 days
for its customers. Interim applications for progress payments on
construction contracts are normally submitted on a monthly basis
and are normally settled within 1 month. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade and retention receivable balances. Trade
and retention receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Retention receivables held by customers arising from the Group's
construction works are settled within a period ranging from 1 to 2
years after the completion of the construction work, as stipulated in
the construction contracts.

Details of the Group’s pledge of trade receivables is set out in
note 28.

AEE-RAFTFRETHBBIORNEER
H- - ARARESONTHERNRAE—
BREARXEMBEARNGEE - AKE 7
SRR U 3 A R MR R e s BRAR PR ) 7S
K EERRAERE SREEESE
i afgn ASELERE S RK
RERERRBSERITHENERRR
HipEEIERIEE - B 5 B UGRARE R
REERTEEB -

EEBARAASENZETENEK
REBETIREEANMIARBETER
RRIE2FNEE -

R B 5 M YRR R R SIS B i
28 °
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21. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 2. BSBRKURERERERES
(continued) (#&
Ageing analysis of trade receivables (excluding retention receivables) RWEBRNE 5 EWFIE (T RIEER
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and RBL)EREZAHRNBRBEEBEHIER
net of provisions, is as follows: BT :

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET FHTT
Within 30 days 30K A 60,269 57,582
31 to 60 days 31260K 12,056 5,316
61 to 90 days 61290K 12,234 1,250
Over 90 days i 390K 11,405 11,957
95,964 76,105
The Group recognised impairment loss based on the accounting AR B AR 1B M 224G PR 51 BY & R ISR R
policy stated in note 4(i)ii). RBEEIE -
Movements in provision for impairment of trade and retention BoRRRERERRESRERENE
receivables are as follows: RN

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHER FAET

At beginning of year REH) 2,585 3,175
Provision/(reversal of) on impairment losses BB EREE  (EE) 1,037 (571)
Exchange realignment PE H % 14 (19)

At end of year RER 3,636 2,585
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TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES
(continued)

Ageing analysis of the trade and retention receivables that are not
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

HEOSRKMRERERERES
(&

W IEE R K E IR BE RENE S EK
RERERRESGERARDT :

2024 2023

HK$’'000 HK$'000

THET FAT

Not past due K 48 B 70,948 68,082
1 to 30 days past due w1 #1230k 12,056 5,315
31 to 90 days past due #Hi312 90K 27,573 17,576
Over 90 days past due 180 BB 390K 11,405 11,957
121,982 102,930

For trade receivables and retention receivables, the Group applies a
simplified approach in measuring ECL, that is to recognise a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date. The Group
has applied the probability of default based on that of
counterparties with similar credit ratings, with adjustment to reflect
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions
through the use of financial market analysis. The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are estimated by grouping the receivables based on shared
credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed for likelihood of
recovery, taking into account the service type, customer type and its
geographical location. The ECL rates are applied to the respective
gross carrying amounts of the receivables.

REZREFERBEREEME @ A%
BERBILNIEATERREEER T
BIREmEAREKBEEBREREEERE
REERE ARBERBEREFRBEN
HFEAAERNEOME  ANBEE™
SO T IABEE - LRBRE TR R YR
AR EA S TER 5 & I 0K RBRAE R 10
RER HEEREEENHRE A H5E
EEM - BTN KB RREEMR RN E
RAARENAERBEEEFHEM -

AEEXRBERFENLBEERRE T
BEDHE BAGFTEREEER L5
Ym SRIE R AT BE M TT R BB AT (G - B R AT
RR#ER EPERREMIEME - B
HEEBERXEAREYFIAR BNEE
A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

21. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 2. BSBRKURERERERES
(continued) (#&
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on TXHEHNEBEAREEZ ZHERFBEER
the Group's trade receivables: B o) & L
As at 31 March 2024 $20245%3H31H
(i)  Construction sector (i) EZEDE
91 days to Over
Trade receivables E S REW I 365 days 365 days
By invoice date BREZAH 91E365K #Bi8365K
Average ECL rate % FHEHEEBEEEY% 1.96% 7.89% N/A
FiEA
Gross carrying amount RmEARE (THT) 53,855 11,710 N/A 65,565
(HK$'000) rER
Expected credit losses EHEEEE(FHT) 1,056 924 N/A 1,980
(HK$'000) FEHR
Loss rate Loss rate
— current — Non-current
Retention receivables FEWREB £ portion portion
B548 3 i
By invoice date BREEZEAH — ENEAER S — FEEDEAE S
Average ECL rate % FHERAEEBEEXY% 1.96% 3.08%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRI #4258 (T4 7T) 15,650 11,014 26,664
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHI{ZEEE(THT) 307 339 646
(i) Environmental sector — Kitchen waste treatment (i) HRIRAE — B IREEHEE
related business %
91 days to Over
Trade receivables B S EWRIE 365 days 365 days
By invoice date BREZEAH 91EF365X  #Bi365%K
Average ECL rate % FHERAEEEEXRY% 0.93% N/A 100%
AiEA
Gross carrying amount RmEARE (FHT) 11,080 N/A 174 11,254
(HK$'000) rER
Expected credit losses BHEEEE(FHT) 103 N/A 174 277
(HK$'000) FER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B S R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

21. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 21. %gﬂgl&%ﬂﬁ&ligllﬂt{%%ﬁ

(continued) (&)
2024%3H318 (&)
(iii) BRIR7EE — FTEER#

As at 31 March 2024 (continued)
(iiij) Environmental sector — New energy materials

Within 91 days to Over
Trade receivables E S EW I 90 days 365 days 365 days
By invoice date BREEZEAH 90X A 91EF365X  #Bi365%K
Average ECL rate % FHEBEHEEBEEE% 3.17% 7.75% N/A
EH
Gross carrying amount FREARE (THET) 21,464 671 N/A 22,135
(HK$'000) FER
Expected credit losses TBHEEBE(TET) 681 52 N/A 733
(HK$'000) FEHR
As at 31 March 2023 #2023%3H31H
Construction sector (i) BEARE
Within 91 days to Over
Trade receivables BoEKMRE 90 days 365 days 365 days Total
By invoice date REBEZEEH 90K 91FE365Kk  HRiB365K Bt
Average ECL rate % FHEHEEBEEE% 1.99% 3.92% N/A
TER
Gross carrying amount EmaemE(FET) 57,400 12,444 N/A 69,844
(HK$'000) TER
Expected credit losses EHREEEE(FHT) 1,142 487 N/A 1,629
(HK$'000) 38 A
Loss rate Loss rate
— current  — Non-current
Retention receivables FERREE portion portion Total
EEx EBEx
By invoice date BREZAMH — BIESER s — FEENERESH 4t
Average ECL rate % FHERAEEBEXRY% 1.99% 2.98%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRE %8 (T8 L) 16,656 10,822 27,478
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHI(ZEEE (T T) 331 322 653
(ii) Environmental sector (i) BRAE
Within 91 days to Over
Trade receivables B S EWRIE 90 days 365 days 365 days Total
By invoice date RBEEH 90k A 91%E365Kk  HiA365K st
Average ECL rate % FHERAEEBEER% 0.63% N/A 100%
38 A
Gross carrying amount BRE4AE(TET) 7,940 N/A 253 8,193
(HK$'000) & R
Expected credit losses EHEEEE (FHT) 50 N/A 253 303
(HK$'000) & H




184 NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A\
A

LR R E R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22. FAFRIE e R HEMEKE
RECEIVABLES I8

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T T T
Prepayments T8 5 I8 25,566 89,373
Deposits and other receivables e & E RN R IE 207,670 183,630
Impairment VERIEN (1,952) (2,041)
231,284 270,962
Portion classified as current portion DERRBE!SHEH D (99,963) (72,792)
Non-current portion ERB D 131,321 198,170

(a)

as follows:

Particulars of prepayment, deposits and other receivables are

(@) FEMHE - B R KR
DT -

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FAT
Non-current FERED
Prepayment of Dunhua Plant project costs LB EIE B K A 78 1+
IR 9,776 9,714
Prepayment of Guoyang Plant project costs & %5 8518 B & A 78 1+
I8 11,276 5,682
Prepayment for plant and machineries* R 5 e M A% TE < SRIEY 4,514 73,977
Deposits of Yixing Plant project costs HAEAMEIEB KA
biog 85,208 88,020
Pledged deposits (note 28(a)) B F L e (W 5E28(a)) 7,173 6,648
Rental deposits Hekse 1,541 1,897
Receivables of Hancheng Plant project costs & ¥ B 5= 18 B Ak A fiE Uk
IR 13,785 14,273
Non-current portion, gross ERB D AT 133,273 200,211
Impairment BB (1,952) (2,041)
Non-current portion, net ERMB B F 131,321 198,170
# Balance as at 31 March 2024 included deposits for acquisition of & R2024F3 A3 A& BIE AR

machineries amounting to approximately HK$3,358,000 (2023:
HK$73,597,000) for Shenzhen Huamingsheng's production lines.

EHBLEERBERENESH
3,358,000/8 7T (20234 : 73,597,000
BT °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22. FERIE ~ e R H it B
RECEIVABLES (continued) I8 (&
Particulars of prepayment, deposits and other receivables are (a) TEMRIE - e RHEMEKRKED
as follows: (continued) FHBEWT (&)
2024 2023
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTHER F& T
Current mE
Receivables of Hancheng project costs B REEEKAE 3,707 12,966
Deposits to relevant government authority 5t S % 18 B [7) 48 B8 B /7 56
for Xuancheng Plant BEENE: 0k 1,087 1,136
Other construction projects deposits Hi@EEEREKR® 11,806 9,374
Cash advances to the subcontractors Mo BEEELHERESBER 22,523 1,892
PRC VAT receivables, net JiE W5 B A E A% R 27,024 21,335
Rental and utility deposits HekKEBEZS 523 464
Tendering deposits wiEZe 3,560 5,727
Receivables from other income H b YA B FE U 5K B 12,165 —
Receivable from consideration share sales* & (& J& % & & U
A 4,480 4,480
Receivable from disposal of a subsidiary & B B A R Y fE UK
IR 2,182 2,281
Others H 10,906 13,137
Current portion, net BNV F 99,963 72,792
* The Group held 18,982,992 shares of the Company maintained by o 7 % B # 518,982,992 8% AN A 7] A%

an agent who is an independent third party to the Group, details of
which are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 23

November 2023.

0 RZERNBAEEBLE=S
RERE EFBHRARABH
B2023F 11 A23H A/ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B RS R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b)

Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date by considering the probability of default and
expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss rate
approach with reference to the historical loss record of the
Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as
appropriate. The financial assets included in the above balance
were categorised in stage 1 and stage 2 at the end of the
reporting period. In calculating the expected credit loss rate,
the Group considers the historical loss rate and adjusts for
forward-looking macroeconomic data.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Long ageing balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
deposits and other receivable balances.

The movements in provision for impairment loss of other
receivables are as follows:

22. EARIE &R H b EKR
I8 (&)

(b)

EEARBRAT RERSAHBEB
ZRELDAIEIDETRED T RE
AEREEAGFRBMEERRE &
h2ZAEENBEBELE B
BREEHFEARRIRE AR K&
HRRKBEREOBER (WER)
REREHR LAEBRANESH
BEIDARBIEBENFEMEER -5
HEHEEBEXR A5EEZE
BEBEBEXLBAEERZBREER
BELAE-

7R 52 B B 0 M 4 B 1 OR (EUE B MR
EMBREZSINEEREGSER
2o RERERNESRASRERE
EHER -AEBYEREZE R
H it & WA S 7 A EE A o
SHEAE R REE -

S f 2K O 1A 1 1 2
m

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

T FHET

At beginning of year R EA] 2,041 —
Provision on impairment loss TR AR B — 2,041
Exchange realignment M 5, 38 B (89) —
At end of year R 1,952 2,041
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B S R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

23. LOAN RECEIVABLES 23. fFEUrE R

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FAT

Loan receivables JE U & 39,967 42,601
Impairment DERIE] (852) (839)
39,115 41,762

Portion classified as current portion DA RE DAY 29,876 19,817
Non-current portion FERENE 9,239 21,945

Included in loan receivables of approximately HK$19,859,000
(approximately RMB18,270,000) at 31 March 2024 was granted to an
independent third party, and is unsecured, bearing interest at 10%
per annum with contractual maturity date not exceeding 12 months
after the reporting period. Another loan receivable of approximately
HK$9,239,000 (approximately RMB8,500,000) at 31 March 2024 was
granted to potential supplier of used-cooking oil; such an amount is
interest free, unsecured with contractual maturity date exceeding 12
months after the reporting period.

The remaining loan receivable of approximately HK$10,869,000
(approximately RMB10,000,000) at 31 March 2024 was granted to a
proposed investee company and is unsecured, bearing interest at
10% per annum with maturity period not exceeding 12 months.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2024, the Group has assessed the
recoverability and the loss allowance based on stage 1 of general
approach.

7202443 H318  #919,859,000/% 7T (4
AR #18,270,0007T) K EWE R AR —%
BUF=FFL AEER RFEHE
0%t EERERNRN R N AmE %
1218 A W @ - B2024%3A310 B — %
E W & 7K #99,239,000/8 JT(H A B ¥
8,500,0007T) 4 M) /& 1E 6% & i 1 & i &%
HoZREARE EBEFAREGOIH
HiBiRIRE #Z 12 A 4K E -

202438318 % T E R E R &
10,869,0005% 7t (4 A R %10,000,0007T)
DET-—HEEREURAA RER
o RFENEI0% S AR TR
1218 A 45 [E -

R2023%F K2024F3A31B  AEEE R
B— M5 N H 10 ERFE (G A) YL | K g
BREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B RS R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

23. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued) 23. BEWER(E
Movements in provision for impairment loss of loan receivables are EREFREBERHENEHOT
as follows:
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA& T
At beginning of year R E ) 839 11,861
Provision for impairment RAE R — 852
Written off T 58 — (11,861)
Exchange realignment PE 5 38 & 13 (13)
At end of year RER 852 839
24. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 24. FEFTRAEE A FRIE
At 31 March 2024, the amount due to a related party is unsecured, B E=2024F3A318 - BN S REA
interest-free and repayable after one year, except for an amount of mEMR 2ERER -—FEREEE K
HK$134,891,000 (2023: HK$160,222,000) due to a related party 134,891,0007% 7t (20234 : 160,222,000/
which is unsecured, repayable after one year and carried with TR EN AR REAEERR AR —
interest rate at 3% per annum. FREEREI%FNETE -
25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. IRERIEEEBY
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT
Cash and bank balances Re RRITEH 37,321 134,540
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEEY 37,321 134,540
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank FRRRITOBEENRITHNE B FRF
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy o RF B KR E o RITARTF N

banks with no recent history of default. PMEE R o B BRI S R 42 SR O SR 1T o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

26 BEHEAREREMRESR

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FA& T

Trade payables B 5 EMN A 144,157 108,798
Retention payables ERNRE2 15,629 14,120
159,786 122,918

Classified as current liabilities nEARSHERE 147,532 118,506
Non-current portion FEM BB P 12,254 4,412

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled
on terms ranging from 30 to 180 days.

Retention payables held by the Group arising from the Group's
construction work are settled with subcontractors within a period
ranging from 1 to 2 years after the completion of the contract work
by the subcontractors, as stipulated in the subcontracting contracts.

Retention payables held by the Group arising from the construction
of plant operated under BOT are settled with constructors within a
period ranging from 1 to 2 years after the completion of the
construction work.

BZREMNHRBEETE  —BRN F302
180K K BAPR M 45058 °

AEBEFRBAEREASEZETENEN
REBE TS H A KMRTAR D A B TK
AHNIRRIZ2FANESHHEE -

AEBMFEFAR B BZRIEBOTA Z H K
FHENREBSDRNEETIREKEKIE
2ENEEEEEL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B RS R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

26. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES 26. B EMRREREARES
(continued) (#&
An ageing analysis of the trade payables (excluding retention RWEARNE ZENFTIE(TREEN
payables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the RBS)ERNFEEZABMNERRTOT -

invoice date, is as follows:

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
Within 30 days 30K A 38,595 25,794
31 to 60 days 31£260K 19,889 24,345
61 to 90 days 61ZE90K 15,046 6,625
Over 90 days i 390K 70,627 52,034
144,157 108,798
27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. Hih B RIEREHER

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
Other payables H b B 5B 81,138 85,010
Accruals et E R 2,113 1,838
83,251 86,848

Included in other payables represented balances due to related HhERRIERE T ER B QRS

companies as follows: 3

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER TATT

Interest bearing at following rates per annum &R LA N F| R 5+ 8

6% 6% — 9,896
5% 5% 5,250 6,000
5,250 15,896

These balances are unsecured and repayable within 1 year. ZEEBEEERRBEAMERESE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B S R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 28. GIRSRITRHEMBEE
BORROWINGS
2023
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity HK$'000 (%) Maturity HK$'000
BRHE (%) )G TiET EUUES) 38R FiET
Current HE
Bank borrowing — RITEE — BER
unsecured (note b) (M &Eb) 3.6-3.85% 2024 5,435 — = =
Other borrowing for MERIEERE
repayment within 1 year M EMEE —
or on demand — BEA (M Fakb)
secured (note a & b) 5.79-6% 2024 34,073 6% 2023 55,533
Other borrowing — HitfgE — BER
unsecured (note b) (M &b) 6-8% 2024 14,500 5% 2023 10,000
54,008 65,533
Non-current kR
Bank borrowing for MEREENRTT
repayment after 1 year BE — BEA
— secured (note a & b) (fis¥akb) 4.5% 2027 16,304 = — —
Other borrowing for MEREBENHM
repayment after 1 year B8 — BEA
— secured (note a & b)  (Kfs¥akb) 5.79-6% 2027 81,922 6% 2027 101,457
98,226 101,457
152,234 166,990
Notes: Bt 3T -

Ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause and based on the maturity
term on this term loan, the Group’s bank and other borrowings are repayable:

RBEEEMRERETGETOTE  RIEZ

HER

R
MEHER - AEBARTREMEERNATE

FEE :
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Within 1 year 16 A" 54,008 65,533
In the 2nd year to 5th year F2FEESF 98,226 101,457
152,234 166,990

191



192 NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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AR B B RS R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

s %= 1- =1
28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 28. AT BMITREMEBE (2
BORROWINGS (continued)
Notes: (continued) MisE : (&)
(a) As at 31 March 2024, bank borrowings totaling HK$16,304,000 (2023: nil) (a) M2024F3A318 - AEBEHBRITEELER
and other borrowings totaling HK$115,995,000 (2023: HK$156,990,000) of 16,304,000/% 7T (2023%F : ) R HM{E E &
the Group were secured by the following assets and the Group's share of %8 £115,995,0007% 7T (20234 : 156,990,000
certain subsidiaries. BIL) HUTEERASERETHEAR
AR E) D BRI 4R
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHT FHET
Carrying values BREE
Pledged deposits (note 22) B F 3 (M 522) 7,173 6,648
Property, plant and equipment (note 14) W - BB R (P EE14) 6,464 35,255
Trade receivables (note 21) B 5 M WRE (H5E21) 7,652 6,754
Operating concession/receivables under services BRI TR R
concession arrangements & 38 154,686 132,870
Investment properties REME 56,413 —
232,388 181,527
(b) As at 31 March 2024, bank borrowings amounted to HK$18,478,000 (2023: (b) M20249F3A318 -+ 8 17 & 18,478,000/
nil) and other borrowings amounted to HK$54,470,000 (2023: 7T (20234 : ) & H 5 554,470,000/ 7T
HK$47,940,000) are guaranteed by certain group’s subsidiaries and the (20234F : 47,940,000/ 7T) f % T A &£ # K}
executive director of the Company, Mr. Zhu Yongjun. BRAIRAABIAITEERBELERER -
() The Group’s bank and other borrowings are denominated in the following (0) REBEMRITREMEEATHEEE
currencies:
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHIT FHET
Hong Kong dollars BT 14,500 35,000
Renminbi AR 137,734 131,990

152,234 166,990
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BONDS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, 2 new bonds are unsecured,
bear interest at 5% per annum and to be matured during the year
ending 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2023, the bonds are unsecured, bear interest at 6%
per annum and to be matured during the year ending 31 March
2025.

PROVISION

Pursuant to the service concession agreements entered into by the
Group, the Group has contractual obligations to maintain kitchen
waste treatment under its operation to a specified level of
serviceability and/or to restore the facilities to a specified condition
before they are handed over to the grantors at the end of the
respective Service Concession Period. These contractual obligations to
maintain or restore the facilities, except for any upgrade element,
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 37, i.e., the
best estimate of the expenditure that would be required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The future
expenditure on these maintenance and restoration costs is
collectively referred to as “major overhaul”. The estimation basis

is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

29.

30.

=k

REBE2024F3A31BIEFERN MEH
BEHEABEER FRHNEAY%  BREZR
202543 A31B ItFEE RN EIH -

#H F20234F3H31H -
R FFEB6%
AIEFEREE-

1%
REAEEFTINSHFEERDHE I8
EEANETHERCEMNEFLREE
R ENRBEKF - RN BRHFEE
RBRERK  EBIRETRT AR
REEEZHEMRE - BREMARTE
Sh MEREERBNANEENRRE
BETEANFITRER R E - AHR R
EHRETREEBHAAN DA RER
it BRARSFHERBERANARK H
BEAIKRE] - REEERFERS LNE
BERRERT X EE -

ZEBHFEEE
A B 202593 A31

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$'000

T#T FAET

At 1 April ®4H1H 6,352 6,901
Utilised during the year FREEFH (815) (690)
Provision for the year FREE 777 730
Exchange realignment PE H % (238) (589)
At 31 March M3A31H 6,076 6,352
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e SR M
For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{ 2202443 /531H 1 F/Z

31. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The movements in deferred tax liabilities/(assets) during the year are
as follows:

31.

EEHIEEE
FRN - REREEE (EE)NZHMN
T

Temporary
Depreciation differences Fair value Losses
allowances in related to adjustment Expected  available for
excess of service  Provision for arising from  credit loss of offsetting
related concession major Deemed investment financial against future
depreciation revenue overhauls interest properties assets taxable profits Total
BREHE REAMEH TEFERR
BARERE  EHEEAN EEZATE SHEEN EZHRAN
HAERE ERER XERE R BE EHEEHER 5 @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TAEL TR TR TAL TR TR
At 1 April 2022 #2022%481A 8241 13,719 (1,724) - - (1,203) (3.273) 15,760
Deferred tax (credited)/charged ~ ER(GIABZER)/
to the statement of profit or ERRERAKRMEL
loss during the year HE (2,965) 1,045 — — — (341) 3,249 988
Exchange realignment ERAE - (1,154) 137 - - 57 - (960)
At 31 March 2023 and R2023%3A310 R
1 April 2023 202354518 5276 13,610 (1,587) - - (1,487) (24) 15,788
Deferred tax (credited)/charged £ A (G ABEX)/
to the statement of profit or BEGEXRNBRELT
loss during the year HIE (2,851) 2,610 - (770) 1,314 385 (203) (285)
Exchange realignment A AR - (333) 69 - 85 (420) — (599)
At 31 March 2024 2024534318 2425 15,887 (1518) (770) 1,399 (2.292) (227) 14,904

At 31 March 2024, the Group had tax losses arising in Hong Kong
of HK$1,375,000 (2023: HK$150,000), subject to the agreement by
the respective taxation authorities, that were available indefinitely
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose. The Group also had tax losses arising in
Mainland China of HK$53,736,000 (2023: HK$58,860,000) that will
be expired in five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets had not been recognised in respect of the losses
of HK$53,736,000 (2023: HK$58,860,000) due to unpredictability of
future taxable profit streams.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. A
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The
Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China.

MR2024F3A3108  AEBEREBELEM
T E5181,375,000/% 7T (20234 : 150,000/
o) SR EKESEZEENARN
RRERB AT - EBFSHBEERE
EBE - AEBETRPBRAEERBEEB
853,736,000/ JT (20234 : 58,860,000/
JC) - AR R ERBUE A SR AF
A JE R o B A B DA TEDR) SR 7 8 5] B s 1 2R
JR o #I0 E $£53,736,000/8 7T (20234 ¢
58,860,000 7T) W B IEERIE L H &
E °

REBHBEEEMSTE - R E AL
MINE R EAINEIRE EH TR A I B AR
W10% B o i P Bl A it SN R B &
FRERDERER ZMET ARG EL - BRI
AREMENHRE - AEENERRER
5%3%10% ° B - NREBARKHERA
b R SZ B B B X B 3 K B9 BR B A A TR 4D
M o
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B mRM T
For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued) 31. BEBIEEE (&
During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024, no PRC R E £20234F F2024F3A318 IFFE
withholding income tax has been provided since the parent entities A& A R B S35 6 B M B A R 5 B
are able to control the timing of distributions from their subsidiaries M B ETANERTE 5 REZEFR
and are not expected to distribute these retained earnings in near BEN - B I & 512 o B TE P S B
future. 1o
As at 31 March 2024, deferred income tax liabilities of 202453 A31H » RSB & K gt A BB
HK$7,642,000 (2023: HK$6,124,000) have not been recognized for A 776,419,000/ 7T (20234 : 6,124,0007%
the withholding tax that would be payable on unremitted earnings TT) B R BE & ) PR - A TR 0B B SRR T
of PRC subsidiaries of the Group amounting to HK$76,419,000 Fr 1§ # & f{&7,642,000/% 7t (20234 :
(2023: HK$61,242,000). The Group does not have the intention to 6,124,20278 7T) o A & E £ 7] 18 & K 2K T
distribute the respective unremitted profits in the foreseeable future. ORS8RI RE L& -
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of AN &) [A) H AR BRR A5 IR B 3 A B A A AT
dividends by the Company to its shareholders. FRER -
SHARE CAPITAL 32. g%
Shares % 15
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Authorised: VETE
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 2,000,000,0000% & % [l {&
0. 1B TH E @A 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully: BEITRAR :
1,606,132,134 (2023: 1,507,194,134) ordinary  1,606,132,1340% (20234 :
shares of HK$0.1 each 1,507,194,134%) & i%
H{H0.178 TTHY & 3B AR 160,613 150,719
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NEW CONCEPTS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B RS R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

32. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Shares (continued)
A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share capital is
as follows:

32.

BF (&)
R (&)
ARARIBFTRANEEHII AT -

ordinary shares

Number of Nominal value of
ordinary shares

LERYE TEREE
Notes HK$'000
B &3 FE T
At 31 March 2022 2022563 A31H 954,022,134 95,402
Employee share options exercised EEBITRZ BERE 33 3,000,000 300
Other issues at cash during the year FANHMBR ST
(note a) (M 5ta) 550,172,000 55,017
At 31 March 2023 2023438318 1,507,194,134 150,719
Employee share options exercised EEBEITR Z EARE 33 10,430,000 1,043
Debt conversion rights exercised (note b) & 1718 2 & #5 & 3 4
(M 5Fb) 39 30,872,000 3,087
Other issues at cash during the year FRNHEMBR BT
(note ¢) (B 5Ec) 57,636,000 5,764
At 31 March 2024 M2024F3A31H 1,606,132,134 160,613

Notes: B3 -

a) On 21 April 2022, 28 October 2022, 2 December 2022 and 2 March 2023, a) 7202294 A218 « 20224 10A28H - 2022
the Company issued 185,748,000, 129,624,000, 98,000,000 and F12H28 &20235F3A28 * KRR HFINE
136,800,000 shares at price HK$0.4 per share, HK$0.27 per share, f%0.4% T - BA%0.277 T - B A%0.385/5 7T &
HK$0.385 per share and HK$0.38 per share respectively. f%0.387% 7T ) f& 1% 3% 17185,748,000%

129,624,0000% - 98,000,0008% % 136,800,000
RAL ©

b) On 12 July 2023 and 30 November 2023, the convertible bonds holders b) 202378128 K2023411A308 « ]
converted 15,000,000 and 15,872,000 shares at prices of HK$0.20 per REFEFE A DRI F%0.20% T %0.637%8
share and HK$0.63 per share, respectively. 7T H {8 1% & #215,000,0008% .15,872,0008%

&7 ©

o) On 5 October 2023, the Company issued 57,636,000 shares at a price of o] 202310858 * & A A LA & #R0.537% 7T
HK$0.53 per share. 9 {E 1% 3£ 1757,636,0008% I 15 ©

d) The new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects. d) MRHES HFHERE RN ZAHRSHAL -

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options

issued under

the scheme are included in note 33 to the

consolidated financial statements.

AR BB R T &) AR IR AT 8

1217 EY

BRENFBEINARAMBHERRME

33°
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20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme
Company’s directors, including independent non-executive directors,
other employees of the Group, consultants of the Group, suppliers

include the

of goods or services to the Group, customers of the Group, the
Company'’s shareholders, and any non-controlling shareholder in the
Company’s subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 26
August 2014 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent,
upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time. The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company is issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the

shareholder or an

date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 7
days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of
the share options granted
commences after a vesting period and ends on a date which is not

later than 10 years from the date of offer of the share options.

is determinable by the directors,

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated
guotation sheets on the date of offer of the share options; (ii) the
average of the closing prices of the Company’s shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal

in the Stock Exchange’s daily

value of the Company’s shares on the date of offer.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

33. EBIRRESTE

ARREWR— AR RET S ([T 8))
EERMBAKEKRNZEFLHAERNAE
RBEERHEBROER - ZAEWEE
R2EEBEARANER(REBILIFNR
TEE) AEEEMWEE FAEEXN
A BAKEREEMIRBOKER -
TEBEP ARARREEAERRNER
B0 (7] SEFE BRI IR o 3% 5T 8120148
H26H &2 BRIFWBUEHER] - BRI
REZBEFI0FANER -

B AFRBEZ R LR RITEBER
RETERURBNROEE  RZTF
BBAERARRREMEBNHEBETR
MI0%H B - ZAtEMBEREERZH
H A 218 A B 1T (6 R AR i B R
BTN RRBRNEE  ERNARBNE
AERNCETRODMNI% - M —F&
HEBBZREAERE  NARBRAE
EEGRRERALAE -

MARREE BERTBRABHIETERE
Y ENT BB AR L ERE ARG
BYIERITEETOEEBE - o MR
EfA121E B B A M AR R BAX R 5k 7B
UHERITESIHENEWHEAR LD
BREBAAR M AREMNE TR
MHI0.1%  HBE (ERARRQ ARG RE
i B Hi &9 Y T (B 5t &) # 185,000,000
T BIZER R RS FESIREE B ALE -

REBRENZHTNEELN R HEFT
RN AR ARABRNSE KB
THRHEARE CREBRENTESR
MEFET RNE-—HBHEFAG R
ENBBREZNEBR0FNR T4
= o

BEENTEERESEE  BETEIRN
NTHEFMESE  (RBREZQAE
Il XA A RERARA R B MR UK
e (NVREZ2H B B RER S A
R PTE B MERABA QR RSO FHK
mE: RN BLHOBEHNARFRME
-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. BEBRHESTEI (&)

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options under the Scheme were outstanding
during the year:

PR A A TR A AMEUR R R AR
REERROERF -

FAN R TRITEMOBRENT

2024 2023

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise  Number of exercise  Number of
price options price options

o F n#EF S
T#EE BREXE TRE BREHA

HK$ HK$
per share '000 per share ‘000
SRET T & BRE T T
At beginning of year REA) 0.44 40,248 0.42 33,648
Granted during the year FARE 0.65 135,500 0.50 10,800
Exercised during the year FANITEE 0.42 (10,430) 0.42 (3,000)
Lapsed during the year FAKRM 0.51 (9.218) 0.42 —

N/A N/A

Forfeit during the year FRRU ~EHR ~#ERA 0.42 (1,200)
At end of year RER 0.62 156,100 0.44 40,248




024 plxEEEER)ERAT 199

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2024

Number of options

R ERE

‘000
¥t

Exercise price*

TE®E

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

33. R8I (=)
BT AR R 1718 60 B IR 0 7748 (B R AT
EEmT

20244

Exercise period

THEH

2 (2022) 6,250 0.42 19 April 2022 to 18 April 2024
2(20224F) 202254198 £20245%4H18H
3 (2022) 10,500 0.42 19 April 2023 to 18 April 2024
3(20224F) 20235F4H 190 £20245F4H18H
4 (2023) 2,500 0.50 13 December 2022 to 12 December 2024
4(2023%) 20225128 13H £2024512H8 128
5 (2023) 1,150 0.50 Note a
5(2023%) Fizta
6 (2023) 700 0.50 Note b
6(2023%) Fit5Eb
1 (2024) 47,584 0.65 17 August 2024 to 16 August 2027
1(20244) 202458H17H £202748HA16H
2 (2024) 43,708 0.65 Note c
2(2024%) PisEc
3 (2024) 43,708 0.65 Note d
3(2024%) F&Ed
156,100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

33. BRHESHE(F)

2023 20235
Batch Number of options Exercise price*  Exercise period
LN AR A TEEr T H
‘000
T
1 5,248 0.42 19 April 2021 to 18 April 2023
2021F4H19H £2023F4H18H
2 12,100 0.42 19 April 2022 to 18 April 2024
20229F 4 H19H £2024%F4 A 18H
3 12,100 0.42 19 April 2023 to 18 April 2024
2023F4H19H £2024%4H18H
4 2,700 0.50 13 December 2022 to 12 December 2024
202212 A13H £2024%12H12H
5 6,700 0.50 2023 (note a)
20234 (Mi&ta)
6 1,400 0.50 2023 (note b)
20234 (fEb)
40,248
Notes: k=3

()

From the vesting date but in any case, not later than 31 December 2023
with validity period for 2 years from vesting date.

From the vesting date but in any case, not later than 31 July 2024 with
validity period for 2 year from vesting date.

From the vesting date but in any case, not later than 31 December 2024
with validity period for 3 years from vesting date.

From the vesting date but in any case, not later than 31 December 2025
with validity period for 3 years from vesting date.

As at 31 March 2024, the number of share options exercisable is 20,400,000
shares (2023: 20,048,000 shares).

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share
capital.

M5B B HIE - MR N T IB R 2023F 12
A31B - BREAAEEBHEMF -

TR B B AR - 1 R 20 ] TIB 10202447
RA31E BB ARBEAREME -

REE B HIE - RN TIB R 20244F 12
A31B  BRAREEBHE=F -

5B B HIE - MR N B R 2025F 12
A31B BRHARBRYPR=F-

MR2024F3A318 - AJITEMEREHSE A
20,400,0008% A% 5 (20234 : 20,048,0008%
BE15) o

BRENTEEIS R R BEITAR
EARBBRAHBEMBUBE SR HE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(a)

2022 Share option

On 19 April 2021, the Company granted share options to
certain directors, employees and consultants to subscribe for a
total of 46,492,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the
share capital of the Company under the Scheme. The exercise
price of each option is HK$0.42 per share. 16,892,000 options
will vest immediately on the 19 April 2021 with validity period
1"); 14,800,000
options will vest 1 year after the date of grant with validity
period of 2 vyears from vesting date (”“Batch 2") and
remaining 14,800,000 options will vest 2 years after such date
of grant (“Batch 3").

of 2 vyears from vesting date (“Batch

The fair value of the share options of respective Batches, were
HK$3,080,000 (approximately HK$0.18 per option),
HK$3,230,000 (HK$0.22 per option)) and HK$3,550,000
(HK$0.24 per option) respectively, of which the Group has not
recognised any share option expense (2023: HK$1,654,000)
during the year.

During the year, 10,430,000 (2023: 3,000,000) share options
for Batches 1, 2 and 3 with the fair value of approximately
HK$2,181,000 (2023: HK$547,000) have been exercised, and
no share options for both Batch 1, Batch 2 and Batch 3
(2023: 200,000, 500,000 and 500,000 share options for Batch
1, Batch 2 and Batch 3) with no fair value (2023:
HK$266,000) have been forfeited.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

33. KSRt &I (&)

(a)

2022 PR R ST 8

R2021F4 8198 » R BREZE
ElmIdrEF EERBHRLE
BE URBARARAF A H
46,492,000% & X I 1E0.107%8 T &) &
BR BNERENTEERER
0.427% JT ° 16,892,0001) B A% 4 7
2021 F4R 198 ERE - WEARR
B AR A2EE AR ([E180]):
14,800,00017 & A& # & RN 1 A H
“B—FRNEB TAARBBEABRR
AR MEFKBA(E2]) KRBT
14,800,00017 B8 M e A %2t B R 8
M F AN ([E380]) -

EMHERENONLAFTED A
3,080,000/ 7t (& 17 B AR # 4901875
JC) ~ 3,230,000/ JT (& h B W& #
0.227% Jt) %3,550,000/% Jt (& 15 B8
fRH#E0.24%E L) EFRAFE - &K
5B IR R AR X (2023
£ : 1,654,000/ 7T) °

RAREE - $H1 - 2K%3#610,430,000
5 (20234F : 3,000,00017) B B% #E
(2 F{E #92,181,0005 7T (20234 :
547,000/ 7t)) B 175 & F1it -

E14t - 28t & 33#£200,00017
500,00017 }%500,00017 B A% #£) (A
F B A& T (20234 : 266,000/ 7))
B8 U -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SR M
For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{ 2202443 /531H 1 F/Z

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(a)

2022 Share option (continued)

The grant dated fair values were calculated using Binomial
Option Pricing model. The inputs into the model were as
follows:

33.

on 19 April 2021

RSt EI ()

(a)

Options granted
Options granted on 19 April 2021

20225 FE R HEST B (2)
REBSORAFEA BB
FEEEBAGHE ZENNE ABED
—|T:

Options granted
on 1 April 2021

(vest 1 year (vest 2 year

(vest after grant date) after grant date)

immediately) (Note) (Note)

2021#4A198  12202144R1H

2021548198 12 H Y R R 1 RHBRERE

RHMEBRE (RUEBENMEE ((FHBEH225E

(ENEFERB) 55 8) (M &E) 55 E) (Kt eE)

Grant date share price A HR G ES HK$0.42 HK$0.42 HK$0.42
0.42% 7T 0.427% 7T 0.42% 7T

Exercise price TR (E HK$0.42 HK$0.42 HK$0.42
0.42% 7T 0.427% 7T 0.42%8 7T

Expected life T8 & F 5 2 years 3 years 3 years
2% 3% 34

Expected volatility T8 B 18 103.41% 100.10% 100.10%
Expected dividend yield (%) JEHIR% B & (%) 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate (%) & & b F & (%) 0.95% 0.283% 0.283%

Note:

Share options are exercisable when the grantees retain employment in the
Group until the end of the vesting period.

The expected volatility was based on the historical volatility (by
reference to the weighted average remaining life of the share
options), adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility
by reference to publicly available information. Expected
dividends were based on historical dividends. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair
value estimate.

The expected life of the options is not necessarily indicative of
the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

BT

BRETNBBHEHEAMARADAR
BRAEENERTITE-

TR HRIR 08 DA R SEOR R (8 2 BRI A
MHETFHRGER) SER  WRIE
D5 AT A5 B B B R RO 08 B9 (AT R
HEHIEHRE - FHHMRBRBHE
RERER - THHARRKRNED
AHAVFEGFELEEATE -

HABREFH T - EERE A8
HER T EER o 78 B 1R & BRE
LEEARRNERESNER N
RAURRERER -

AEATERTEZEEREBR
BHEMSE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b)

2023 Share option

On 13 December 2022, the Company granted share options to
certain Directors and employees to subscribe for a total of
10,800,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the share
capital of the Company under the Scheme. The exercise price
of each option is HK$0.50 per share. 2,700,000 options will
vest immediately on 13 December 2022 with validity period of
2 years from vesting date (“Batch 4"); 6,700,000 options will
vest upon achieving the relevant performance targets but in
any case not later than 31 December 2023 with validity period
of 2 years from vesting date, i.e. 18 April 2022 (“Batch 5")
and remaining 1,400,000 options will vest upon achieving the
relevant performance targets but in any case not later than 31
July 2024 with validity period of 2 years from vesting date,
i.e. 18 April 2023 (“Batch 6").

The fair value of the share options of respective Batches, were
HK$519,000 (approximately HK$0.19 per option),
HK$1,666,000 (HK$0.25 per option) and HK$413,000
(HK$0.30 per option) respectively, of which the Group has
recognised share option expense of HK$119,000 (2023:
HK$648,000) during the year.

During the year, no share options for 2023 Share Option have
been exercised, lapsed or forfeited.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

33. KSRt &I (&)

(b)

2023 PR RR ST 8

2022612 A138 » KARQBIRIEZET
ElMBLrEERIEERLBARE - N
R AR F AP A ££10,800,0008%
FRAEAENE TR LB - 55
B ¥ m 1T EE A E IR050% T o
2,700,00017 % f% #E 722022412 H13
AVREB  WAHRRBHEHRTH
2F B ER (544 ]): 6,700,00017 B
BRESHRESRBEEBRE(EE
A0 A N OB R2023%F12A318)
B WEMEB A (8120224718
H) T 929 B 3 (T340 ) R &4
T~1,400,00017 B8 A% # 1 73 i BUAE BE
¥EBRE(EEROATER2024
F7RINA)GE L EMBAEBEAH
(BN2023F4A18H) BEFHI M F B K
HA([5E6ft]) o

R EE R AE A9 R F B 5 Bl A519,000
B L(F D BB R 4901958 o)
1,666,000/ 7T (& 17 M8 % #0.25% 7T)
§413,000% 7T(& 7 IR #0308
L E R R AN F E R E
B W R B AR B 119,000 TT
(20234 : 648,000 7T) °

R A Z - 1 T n]20234F B8 A% 4
WATIE « R IR »
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e SR M
For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{ 2202443 /531H 1 F/Z

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b)

2023 Share option (continued)

The grant dated fair values were calculated using Binomial
Option Pricing model. The inputs into the model were as
follows:

33. BBliRtERTE (&)

(b)

2023 BE R HEST B (2)
REBSORAFEA BB
FEEEBAGHE ZENNE ABED
—|T:

Options granted Options granted Options granted

on 13 December on 13 December on 31 December

2022 (Batch 4) 2022 (Batch 5) 2022 (Batch 6)

#2022%12A 20225 12A 20225128

138 R FE 138 R HBHE MR

IR HE (554dt) % 4 (55%L) B% #E (5E61t)

Grant date share price T H ARG B HK$0.50 HK$0.50 HK$0.50

0.50/8 7T 0.50/8 7T 0.507%8 7T

Exercise price T1E(E HK$0.50 HK$0.50 HK$0.50

0.50/% JT 0.507% 7T 0.50% 7T

Expected life TEETFH 2 years 3.05 years 3.63 years

26 3.05%F 3.63%F

Expected volatility 8 B 18 91.25% 89.85% 99.12%

Expected dividend yield (%) J&HiR% B & (%) 0% 0% 0%

Risk-free interest rate (%) & & B 5 & (%) 4.344% 3.899% 3.762%
The expected volatility was based on the historical volatility (by T8 HA R 1R DA SE R R (A0 2 PR B R 4

reference to the weighted average remaining life of the share
options), adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility
by reference to publicly available information. Expected
dividends were based on historical dividends. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair

value estimate.

The expected life of the options is not necessarily indicative of
the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

MHETFHFGEDR) BER - WRIE
INGRIECE-RE¥ P N YRR CIS
HBBELAE - HHRBINBHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(c)

2024 Share option

On 17 August 2023, the Company granted share options to
certain Directors, employees, and 3 service providers of the
group to subscribe for a total of 135,500,000 ordinary shares
in the share capital of the Company under the Scheme. The
HK$0.65 per share.
48,084,000 options with vesting period of 1 year; and will vest

exercise price of each option is

on 17 August 2024 with validity period of 3 years from
vesting date (“Batch 7"); 43,708,000 options will vest upon
achieving the relevant performance targets but in any case not
later than 31 December 2024 with validity period of 3 years
and remaining 43,708,000
options will vest upon achieving the relevant performance

from vesting date (“Batch 8");

targets but in any case not later than 31 December 2025 with
validity period of 3 years from vesting date (“Batch 9”).

The fair value of the share options of respective Batches, were
HK$16,374,000 (approximately HK$0.34 per option),
HK$15,925,000 (HK$0.36 per option) and HK$17,775,000
(HK$0.41 per option) respectively, of which the Group has
recognised share option expense of HK$9,869,000 during the
year.

During the year, no share options for 2024 Share Option have
been exercised and lapsed. However, 500,000 share options
were forfeited due to the resignation of a non-executive
director.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

33. KSRt &I (&)

(c)

2024 PR RR ST 8

R2023F8F17H * R BRIEZE
BmAEEBLES BB R3IBR
BHEBELDBRE URBAQ
7 % A& & $#£135,500,0008% & 5@
B-BHERENTEEAER
0.6578 7T ° 48,084,00017 B8 A% # » 53
B B1F ;I #5 202468 F17H
BB WEAARAREERHBHN3F
B EI([%780]) + 43,708,00017 §&
IR R IZE SRR 248 B 1R1% (&
A0 ] OB 2024412 8318) 8
B WEEHREEAHRHNFE
B ([5E8#t ) LA & £ 43,708,000
MERESNETEEXERZ%
(M /2 5% 0 (1) 1 1B 7R20254F 12 A 31
REE EEHEEBHRTMN3
FEUH ([t ]) -

EHERENQDFESD A A
16,374,0007% 7T (& 17 B8 A% 4 490.34
7 JT) ~ 15,925,000 JT (& 19 B A%
#0.36787T) &17,775,000% 7T (& 17
BREOCMEBIL)  EFRAFE
N [E B AR B A% 4 7 29,869,000
BT e

R A Z - 1 8 T ] 20244 B8 A% 4
WATE SR > AT - 15 IEH
1TE E BB © 500,00017 BE AR 1 1% 08
&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SR M
For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{ 2202443 /531H 1 F/Z

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(c)

2024 Share option (continued)
The grant dated fair values were calculated using Binomial
Option Pricing model. The inputs into the model were as

33. BBliRtERTE (&)

(c)

2024 BE R HESTEI (2)
REBSORAFEA BB
FEEEBAGHE ZENNE ABED

follows:

Options granted

on 17 August
2023 (Batch 7)

T

Options granted
on 17 August
2023 (Batch 8)

Options granted
on 17 August
2023 (Batch 9)

#2023%FE8A17H  2023%FE8H17H  122023%F8H17H

12 H SRR E BHBERE 2R RS R

(5874HL) (558#t) (5E9Mit)

Grant date share price T H ARG B HK$0.65 HK$0.65 HK$0.65

0.65/%8 7T 0.657%8 7T 0.65/% T

Exercise price T1E(E HK$0.65 HK$0.65 HK$0.65

0.65/8 7T 0.65/% 7T 0.65% 7T

Expected life TEETFH 4.0 years 4.37 years 5.38 years

4.0 4.37%F 5.38%F

Expected volatility 8 B 18 97.066% 95.797% 90.332%

Expected dividend yield (%) J&HiR% B & (%) 0% 0% 0%

Risk-free interest rate (%) % & B 5 & (%) 4.025% 4.012% 3.985%
The expected volatility was based on the historical volatility (by T8 HA R 1R DA SE R R (A0 2 PR B R 4

reference to the weighted average remaining life of the share
options), adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility
by reference to publicly available information. Expected
dividends were based on historical dividends. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair

value estimate.

The expected life of the options is not necessarily indicative of
the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

MHETFHFGEDR) BER - WRIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B S R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

2 L = =
33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. RERR#ESTEI (&)
Share option movement tables EREEZHR
The following table disclose details of movements of the Company’s TREBERAFEHESREEHELR
2022 Share Options held by directors and employees during the FR2022F HREZ B 2 515 ¢
year:
Vested and
Outstanding ~ exercisable
Subscription  Qutstanding at at
price per at 1 April 31 March 31 March
Date of grant  Vesting period Exercisable period Share 2023 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed Forfeited 2024 2024
20235 20245 #0245
4A1R 38318 3A318E
BHAH SRE [ 3 BRAEE  HROE BRE BiTE ki3] BAR BRl HEAGE BBRAMGHE
HK$
BT
Directors
j
19/4/2021 Vest upon date of grant (Batch 1) 19/4/2021-18/4/2023 042 3,000,000 — (2,000,000) —  (1,000,000) — — —
19/412021 RRELAHEE (F18) 19/4/2021-18/4/2023
19/4/2022-18/4/2024 (Batch 2) 19/4/2022-18/4/2024 042 3,000,000 — — — = — 3,000,000 3,000,000
19/42022-18/412024 (%24t) 19/4/2022-18/412024
19/4/2023-18/4/2024 (Batch 2) 19/4/2023-18/4/2024 042 3,000,000 - - - - — 3,000,000 3,000,000
19/4/2023-18/4/2024 (524) 19/4/2023-18/4/2024
9,000,000 —  (2,000,000) —  (1,000,000) — 6,000,000 6,000,000
Employees
&8
19/412021 Vest upon date of grant (Batch 1) 19/4/2021-18/4/2023 042 1,748,000 —  (1,700,000) — (48,000) = = -
19/4/2021 REHBHER (E18) 19/42021-18/4/2023
19/4/2022-18/4/2024 (Batch 2) 19/4/2022-18/4/2024 042 7,100,000 —  (4,490,000) —  (360,000) — 2,250,000 2,250,000
19/412022-18/4/2024 (524t 19/4/2022-18/412024
19/4/2023-18/4/2024 (Batch 3) 19/4/202318/4/2024 042 7,100,000 —  (1,240,000) —  (360,000) — 5500000 5,500,000
19/4/2023-18/4/2024 (5£34) 19/4/202318/4/2024
15,948,000 —  (7,430,000) —  (768,000) — 7,750,000 7,750,000
Consultants
B
19/4/2021 Vest upon date of grant 19/4/2021-18/4/2023 0.42 500,000 — — — (500,000) — — —
(Note €) (Batch 1)
19/4/2021 R B HB R (i e) (E18) 19/42021-18/4/2023
19/4/2022-18/4/2024 (Batch 2) 19/4/2022-18/4/2024 042 2,000,000 —  (1,000,000) - - — 1,000,000 1,000,000
19/4/2022-18/4/2024 (5624%) 19/4/2022-18/412024
19/4/2023-18/4/2024 (Batch 3) 19/4/2023-18/4/2024 042 2,000,000 = = = — — 2,000,000 2,000,000
19/4/2023-18/4/2024 (5£34) 19/42023-18/412024
4,500,000 —  (1,000,000) —  (500,000) — 3,000,000 3,000,000
29,448,000 —  (10,430,000) —  (2,268,000) — 16,750,000 16,750,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

: L = =
33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. RERR#ERTEl(2)
Share option movement tables (continued) BREZHR(E)
Details of movement of the share options granted under the 2023 RIE2023F IEREA IR BN EREZ S
Share Option Scheme are set out as follows: SEEERIIAT
Vested and
Subscription  Outstanding Granted Exercised Cancelled Forfeited  Outstanding  exercisable
price per at 1 April  during the  during the  during the Lapsed during ~ During the ~ at 31 March  at 31 March
Date of grant  Vesting period Exercisable period Share 2023 Year Year Year the Year Year 2024 2024
120235 R0245F  R2024F
4A18 3A31A 3A31HE
REAH GBH TEH SHRABE BATE FEEREH AEEROR AEECHEE FFERAM AEEDEN HATR BBRAUTE
HK$
B
Directors
s
13/12/2022 Vest upon date of grant (Batch 4) 131212022~ 0.50 1,100,000 — — — — — 1,100,000 1,100,000
121212024
131212022 WL B85 E (F48t) 131212022~
1211212024
1,100,000 — - — - — 1,100,000 1,100,000
Employees
&8
13/12/2022 Vest upon date of grant (Batch 4) 13/1212022- 0.50 1,600,000 — — — — — 1,600,000 1,600,000
1211212024
131212022 WL A58 (Fa8t) 13112/2022-
1211212024
Note ¢ (Batch 5) 0.50 5,900,000 — - — (4,950,000 — 950,000 950,000
Wit (#54)
Note d (Batch 6) 0.50 600,000 = S — (300,000) — 300,000 —
Mistd (E68t)
8,100,000 = = — (5,250,000 = 2,850,000 2,550,000
Consultants
L]
131212022 Notes ¢ & e (Batch 5) 31122023~ 0.50 800,000 — — — (800,000 — - —
301212025
131202022 MigEcke(£54) 31/12/2023-
30/12/2025
Notes d & e (Batch 6) 31/712024-30/7/2026 0.50 800,000 = = - (400,000) = 400,000 —
Wit Re ($£64t) 31/7/2024-3017/2026
1,600,000 — — — (1,200,000 — 400,000 —

10,800,000 = = —  (6,450,000) — 4,350,000 3,650,000




2024 F R AIEEE(ER)EBRATF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fra MR K

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Share option movement tables (continued)
Details of movement of the share options granted under the 2024
Share Option Scheme are set out as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

33. MRlix#EEH &I (&)
WRESDE ()

RIB2024F BREF SR LNBREZS

FEHIMT

Vested and
Subscription Outstanding Granted Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed Forfeited Outstanding exercisable
price per  at 1 April during the during the  during the  during the  During the at 31 March at 31 March
Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period Share 2023 Year Year Year Year Year 2024 2024
R2023% K024 2024
4A1H 3A31H  3A31HE
REBH EEH M SRAME HATHE FEEERL FEREAR FEECHE XERCKY FEEERE  HEATE BERITHE
HK$
E
Directors
s
17/8/2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary of date 17/8/2024-16/8/2027 0.65 - 6,064,000 - — - (500,000) 5,564,000 -
of grant (Batch 1)
17/8/2023 ERBRUABIAEEE (£13) 17/8/2024-16/8/2027
Note a (Batch 2) 0.65 - 2,968,000 - — - - 2,968,000 -
Mista (%21
Note b (Batch 3) 0.65 — 2,968,000 - - - — 2,968,000 -
Wb (5634)
— 12,000,000 - - - (500,000 11,500,000 -
Employees
L]
17/8/2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary of date 17/8/2024-16/8/2027 0.65 — 38,104,000 = = - — 38,104,000 -
of grant (Batch 1)
17/8/2023 ERBRUABIAEEE (£14) 17/8/2024-16/8/2027
Note a (Batch 2) 0.65 — 36,948,000 - = - — 36,948,000 -
Wista (%2
Note b (Batch 3) 0.65 — 36,948,000 - - - — 36,948,000 -
Wi sEb (%34)
— 112,000,000 - - - — 112,000,000 -
Consultants
BH
17/8/2023 Vested upon 1st anniversary of date 17/8/2024-16/8/2027 0.65 — 3,916,000 — — — — 3,916,000 —
of grant (Batch 1)
17/8/2023 ERBUASHIAEEE (£14) 17/8/2024-16/8/2027
Note a (Batch 2) 0.65 - 3,792,000 = — = = 3,792,000 -
Mia (F2it)
Note b (Batch 3) 0.65 — 3,792,000 - - - — 3,792,000 -
M (F34t)
— 11,500,000 - - - — 11,500,000 -
— 135,500,000 - - - (500,000) 135,000,000 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Share option movement tables (continued)
Notes:

a. The options shall be vested in any case not later than 31 December 2024
with a validity period of 3 years from the respective vesting dates.

b. The exercise of the options is subject to Performance Targets that must be
achieved by the grantees. The options shall be vested in any case not later
than 31 December 2025 with a validity period of 3 years from the
respective vesting dates.

C The exercise of the options is subject to Performance Targets that must be
achieved by the grantees. The options shall be vested in any case not later
than 31 December 2023 with a validity period of 2 years from the
respective vesting dates. The Performance Targets referred in notes 2 and 3
above include (i) fulfillment of various performance targets in relation to the
performance of Hefei Feifan and Xuancheng Plants; and obtain the
Construction Licence and Business Registration License for Guoyang and
Dunhua Plants within the time periods as determined by the Board;or (ii)
performance appraisal of the grantees, taking into account certain
qualitative and quantitative performance indicators. If (i) a grantee’s
performance targets/appraisals result before a vesting period (the
“Performance Grading”) is graded as level A, the portion of options
granted to such grantee will be fully vested during the relevant vesting
period; (ii) if the Performance Grading is level B, C or D, a portion of the
options will be vested during the relevant vesting period; and (iii) if the
Performance Grading is below level D, no options will be vested during the
relevant vesting period.

d. The exercise of the options is subject to certain conditions that must be
achieved by the grantees. The options shall be vested in any case not later
than 31 July 2024 with a validity period of 2 years from the respective
vesting dates.

e. These are options previously granted to employees but were re-appointed as
consultants upon their retirements during the Year.

33.

R ST El ()

RBREZ2EHER (D)
CEE
o RIS R 16 0 5B 302024

12A318 - BB AS B FEQ HE3F -

BRENITEZRNARAMSRERNE

2025F12A31H B ASERE B HRE
3% o

EREONTEIRRARADBERNE
BER BRENGEEHERUMNTFER
2023F12A318 - ARHASEREBHE
2F o FXMFE2RIFMIEMELE B IZEIE
WEREEEFEALRSHEEXEFHANS
BREEZ VTEEFESETNRRARE
AELBILEENRIHAELEESD
&SGRt A T E MM T 2 2 EEIZEE
BANBITHEETZ - WE)ERAREE
HATMEEEIE TEER ([RETHRD %
T AAL - B ZRE AERO LD B E
BREESERNEERE  ()H5EEET
W AB - CDAR - B B8 AR A% 7O B BE 55 B
HNERE R s 2ETRIEADHR
EEMERBEEXNEEGEENNEGE -

EREONTEIRRARADBERNS
T - BRENEEHEROATFER
2024F7A318 - AR AT ERE AR
26 o

ZERPEFNCARERYL EZFER
RAFEREREEHZEIREM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein

for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 93 to 94 of the financial
statements.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the share capital of New
Concepts Foundation Limited acquired by the Company
pursuant to a group reorganisation in August 2014.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments in
note 4(o) to the financial statements. The amount will either
be transferred to the share premium account when the related
options are exercised or be transferred to accumulated loss
should the related options expire or be forfeited.

Conversion option reserve

Conversion option reserve represents amount of proceeds on
issue of convertible bonds notes relating to the equity
component (i.e. option to convert the debt into share capital).

Exchange fluctuation reserve

Exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign currency
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations.

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

34. &

AEEAFERBEFENFRESRELE
MEHNAMBHRREIBEMANERE
BnEPKRED -

N

(a) EfHERE
AU REBIEARRRN2014F8 A 1R
SEEHANENRIZHBEBRAA
PR

(b) FERRMEREE
BREFREEERERAVHERRW
AE4(0) A TE LA RR 0 /5 2 B S B9 5R0R
RAMEGSHRRE-— TRl 2K
HERITEBERENDFE - ZK
BN ERAEREETEREES
P 10 Ot {8 Bk 3k 74 A B B A A HR i =
R B R E R EIR -

() MiRtERE
MR REEITEEERS Y (B
EHERRRANBERE) BRNA
BMRESHASRESHE -

(d) ERKSHE
EARBRFEREERREINEEEE
BMRAEENAAINEERLZH
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

35. LEASES LIABILITIES 35. HEEGR
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee) HEFH(EBRBEAN MM
The Group leases a number of office premises and factory in the REBREEMEREERERE THA
jurisdictions from which it operates. In those jurisdictions the EMERTIH - RZERVEER  WEM
periodic rent of property leases is fixed over the lease term. As at 31 EREHAREES EE - R202453
March 2024, the rent for the office premises are fixed with lease A318 - AEWENMEE R2-35F (2023
term ranging from 2 to 3 years (2023: 2 to 3 years). F2-3F)MEBRNEE -
Leases liabilities HEaRE
Future lease payments are due as follows: RRBEERNZTOEBEBERLAT

Future lease

payments Interest Present value

RRBEE R £ R{E

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

31 March 2024 2024%3A31H TER TER TER
Not later than 1 year TEM1F 5,957 555 5,402
1-2 years 1-24F 4,004 149 3,855
9,961 704 9,257

Future lease

payments Interest Present value
KRBEEMK AP R1E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31 March 2023 202343H31H FET THE T T T
Not later than 1 year TEME 5,174 116 5,058
1-2 years 1-24F 3,837 71 3,766
2-3 years g 4,815 30 4,785
13,826 217 13,609

The present value of future lease payments is analysed as: RREENKORESTAT
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAT
Current liabilities mENEE 5,402 5,058
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 3,855 8,551
9,257 13,609




35.

36.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

LEASES LIABILITIES (continued)

Leases liabilities (continued)

35. ifﬂ BE(ZE
3-2 4¢ ),

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Short term lease expense MEMEER X 4,955 5,304

Low value lease expense KEEEHEEMX 85 49

Lease payment HERK 5,953 3,722

Total cash outflow for leases HERS AL EE 10,993 9,075

The incremental borrowing rate is 8.5% (2023: 8.5%). 8 EEF R A85% (20234 : 85%) °
PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 36. EEE X IERESRNIERSE

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS Fff /B8 22 5]
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non- REBREERFEREROMNE QTG
controlling interests are set out below: BT

Percentage of equity interest held by non-

controlling interests:
Hefei Feifan (note (a))
Shenzhen Huamingsheng (note (b))

FEERME SR P O B D

AREIER (K 3E@)) 0%
R I 2= B B (P 7E(b) ) 49%

2023

40%
49%

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information

TRIR LB 7 B 4B, P SLBA SR

of the above subsidiaries since the acquisition/establishment. BB ERE -
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to non- DEEEFZEREZNFERN
controlling interests: m AL (EE) -
Hefei Feifan GBI 1,263 3,355
Shenzhen Huamingsheng N ZE B s 27,940 (1,260)
Accumulated balances of non-controlling FEERERNRE W
interests at the reporting date: REtE
Hefei Feifan (note (a)) A REIFER (K 7Ea)) — 43,463
Shenzhen Huamingsheng 7 I B B 62,946 (1,260)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E202443/H31H i F/&

36. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

36. ¥

B

gij_cilﬂi"éﬂﬂgﬁﬂ"]iliéiﬁ

AE ()

(continued)
Hefei Feifan Shenzhen Huamingsheng
SEF R YIS
2024 2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T#&T T#&T FET
Revenue I'ON — 42,357 42,626 24
Cost of sales FicR= DN — — (27,419) —
Other income H A — — 58,815 —
Total expenses, net HHEZFE — (33,969) (17,001) (2,664)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEREF(EE) — 8,388 57,021 (2,640)
Total comprehensive income FA2EYELE
for the year — (513) 54,726 (2,572)
Current assets MEEE — 56,183 46,539 7,136
Non-current assets FEMBEE — 162,217 166,261 87,925
Current liabilities mENEE — (103,388) (81,595) (49,363)
Non-current liabilities EmEBAEE — (6,352) (2,744) (8,551)
Net cash flows from/(used in) &2 EEFE, (FA)
operating activities WIRemEFHE — 2,537 (9,703) (3,589)
Net cash flows from/(used in)  REEBFRE, (FTA)
investing activities MREREFE — — 3,037 (74,751)
Net cash flows from financing EIEEBEANR S
activities mEFR — 175 5,036 83,150
Net increase in cash and cash B & KIR&EE YN
equivalent P — 2,712 1,630 4,810
Notes: Bk
a) During the year, the Group acquired the remaining 40% shares from the a) RAFENRN - NEE 241,847,000 70 (49 A
non-controlling shareholder during the year for HK$41,847,000 [ #38,500,0007T) M FE R IR R BB 82 T
(approximately RMB38,500,000), of which HK$10,326,000 (approximately 40% KI 1D - H 710,326,000/ 7T (49 AR
RMB9,500,000) and HK$3,261,000 (approximately RMB3,000,000) were paid 9,500,0007T) }3,261,000% T(4 A R #
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024, respectively, and the 3,000,0007T) 7 Bl 7 B £2023F3A318 IE
remaining amount of HK$28,260,000 (approximately RMB26,000,000) were FEREBE2024F3A31B LFE XM - £
included in other payables and accrual. Therefore, the Hefei Feifan became T X 1828,260,0007% 7T (49 A R #26,000,000
the wholly owned subsidiary of the Group during the year. T AEMBENREBERESER - Bt -
BREARAFERANEENZENER
ﬁj °
b) Shenzhen Huamingsheng was established pursuant to an agreement entered b) AN ZE R B T R IR — 19 202211 B AT L

into in November 2022. Total registered capital of Shenzhen Huamingsheng
was RMB68,600,000 where the Group and another shareholder of
Shenzhen Huamingsheng agreed to make capital contribution to Shenzhen
Huamingsheng of RMB34,986,000 and RMB33,614,000, respectively.
Shenzhen Huamingsheng is owned as to 51% and 49% by the Group and
another shareholder, respectively. Pursuant to such an agreement, the
Group and other shareholder shall contribute its relevant capital in full
within 18 months upon the completion of the business registration of
Shenzhen Huamingsheng. During the year, the Group completed its capital
contribution of RMB34,986,000 while the another shareholder has made its
capital contribution to Shenzhen Huamingsheng by providing Patented
Technologies.

B ER o RYIZABOHAEMERAA
R %68,600,0007T * MANEE Kk %S — & 7
ZHBEREBEARIEZABSEEA
R #34,986,0007T & A K #33,614,0007T °
FYNERABESNEAAEEEFN1% RS —
ZREEFA9% - RIFFBHE - AEER
SRR ERNRYERABETXEEERT
BISEARNREEAEEES -RAFE
A AEEEB TKEE AR 34,986,000
TC B — &R AIE B R B R BT R
JERBEEE -
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

FEBHSRERME

METHELENERED

37.

Amount
due to
related Bank and Lease Convertible
parties other loans liabilities Bond bonds
FEfRES  SRITREM
EL] = HESR &% TRERES
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THERT THERT THERT THERT THERT
At 1 April 2023 #2023F4F1H 190,222 166,990 13,609 20,000 2,376
Changes from financing cash flows: RERGRES
Proceeds from issuance of bonds BITESFMENE - — — 17,761 —
Net bank and other borrowings RITREMEEFE — 59,462 — — —
Repayment of bank and other BERTREMEE
borrowings — (68,352) — — —
Capital element of lease liabilities HEABRRMEARR S
payments — — (5,143) — —
Interest element of lease liabilities HEABERFNFEBS
payments - - (810) — —
Interest paid B & - (9,724) — (1,350) (51)
Repayment for in amounts due to BEEMNEY A
related parties (25,331) — — — —
Total changes from financing cash flows BiER &R EE B AHE (25,331) (18,614) (5,953) 16,411 (51)
Other charges: Hw&ER:
Finance cost B A 5,205 9,724 810 1,350 51
Transfer to other payable ERZHMENRE (5,205) - — - -
Gain on a lease modification HEBH K= — - (69) — -
Decrease due to the AR EBE SRS
lease modification — — (5,156) — —
Inception of new leases MEERS - — 6,417 - -
Liability component on MR EH LD
initial recognition — — — — 1,612
Redemption of convertible bonds B Rk ES — — — — (806)
Debt conversion rights exercised TEERERE - - - - (3,182)
Foreign exchange movements HNE E B — (5,866) (401) — —
At 31 March 2024 "202493HA31H 164,891 152,234 9,257 37,761 —
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

37. FEBERERME(E)

METHELENARSY (B

(continued)
Amount
due to
related Bank and Lease Convertible
parties other loans liabilities Bond bonds
JE A5 BA T 5 RATREA
;A E HEERE &% AR ES
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T FET FET T
At 1 April 2022 202294 A1H 200,222 73,720 4,659 — 2,376
Changes from financing cash flows: MEREREZD
Proceeds from issue of bonds BITEHFMBHRE — — — 20,000 —
Net bank and other borrowings RITREMEEFSE — 101,787 — — —
Capital element of HEEERNROERLS
lease liabilities payments — — (3,475) — —
Interest element of HEEERNKOF RS
lease liabilities payments — — (247) — —
Interest paid EERELYSS — (5,885) — 917) (225)
Decrease in amounts due to R 1 T Bk 75 KB R
related parties (10,000) — — — —
Total change from financing cash flows BER & REEHHEE (10,000) 95,902 (3,722) 19,083 (225)
Other charge: Hin B :
Finance cost FBEA 5,519 5,885 247 917 225
Transfer to other payable EBREHEMENRE (5.519) — — — -
Inception of new lease HHEERR — — 12,425 — —
Foreign exchange movements HNE # B = (8,517) = = =
At 31 March 2023 #202343HA31H 190,222 166,990 13,609 20,000 2,376




38.

39.

20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

fra MR K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

38.

RAERE
RIS R - I MmN R PO R
BrSABENT

Indemnities given to a financial institution for
performance bonds issued in relation to
construction contracts undertaken by the RIEBERE

Group

RAREEAENEZEAD
BHBEARKAYBEHE

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT TATT
44,649 36,924

Based on the assessment of the management, the chance of
reimbursement is limited.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The Company issued a 6% convertible bonds with a principal
amount of HK3,000,000 in June 2021. The convertible bonds is
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The bond matures by 3 years
from the issue date at their principal amount or can be converted
into ordinary shares of the Company at the holder’s option at the
fixed rate of HK$0.20 per share. The convertible bonds is fully
exercised on 6 July 2023.

The Company entered into a convertible bonds subscription
agreement on 13 September 2023 for issuing 5% convertible bonds
with an aggregate principal amount of approximately
HK$20,000,000. The convertible bonds is denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. The bond matures by 2 years from the issue date at its
principal amount or can be converted into ordinary shares of the
Company at the holders’ option at the fixed rate of HK$0.63 per
share.

During the vyear, the Company issued convertible bonds with
principal of HK$20,000,000. HK$10,000,000 of which were
converted into shares in November 2023 and remaining principal of
HK$10,000,000 was redeemed prior to the reporting period.

The fair values of the liability component and the equity conversion
component were determined at the issuance of the convertible
bonds. The fair value of the liability component, included in non-
current financial liabilities, was calculated using a market interest
rate for an equivalent non-convertible bonds. The residual amount,
representing the value of the equity conversion component, is
included in shareholders’ equity.

39.

EREEENG EEREAR-

o ¥ j% f& 5

A QA R2021F68 H# T A& B A
3,000,000/ 7T K96% ] 2 % (& 5 o Al ik
BEHEABITEE - EHFIE T A BE3F
NIEEARS B (A miEEARER
BT ERTRO208 TERAARANR LB
% o AT #2 A% {25 72202347 A6 B E R & 1T
i o

RN B R202359 8138 5T 32 Al #2 & & %
REBB UBTASLENA
20,000,000/% JT #15% ] # i & 55 o Al 2 %
EHEUBTE EHFRBTHBHR2F
NIZERNSERE (A mFaARER
B EEBEFR063BTHEHBAARQR LR

B e

RAFEARN A2 BEBTAEA
20,000,000/ 7T &) AT 2 iR & %F - H
10,000,000 JT & 720236 11 A #1125
5 # T &K 410,000,000 T B 1 4 5
AIEE D o

BEMNS RREERIESOAFERET
AR EFRHREE - BEHO WA FER
AFERBEHEE - T EMRFH AR 7
BREFEO TSN KRFE o AREEBRE S
BE R FEF ARRER -
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39. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 39. AR B (F)
The convertible bonds recognised in the consolidated statement of RiFE VM BRARBERNTRRESTE
financial position is calculated as follows: FIEWMT

Group and Company
AEEREXAT
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHET

Equity component of convertible bonds R ESNESRD S

based
At 1 April R4A18 624 624
Equity component of convertible bonds issued 74 R % 17 H) A] #2 A% (E H &Y

during the year BB 18,386 —
Redemption of convertible bonds g O] Al 2 R (B 5 (9,193) —
Debt conversion rights exercised T AT R A (9,817) —

Equity component of convertible bond issued at 73 A31H 2178y 7] #2 i &

31 March FHIEm D — 624
Liability component BfEHs
At 1 April R4A1H 2,376 2,376
Liability component on the initial recognition  F4F A #7144 W R Y & 75 58
during the year 1,612 —
Interest expense (note 9) B X (K sE9) 51 225
Interest paid EERRAES (51) (225)
Redemption of convertible bonds BB O r] ] R A 5 (806) —
Debt conversion rights exercised T EBE R (3,182) —
Liability component at 31 March MRIAEWMEB D — 2,376
Interest expense on the convertible bonds is calculated using the ATMRESFHTERIRAERREE
effective interest method by applying the effective interest rate of H O HABEHdDRAI5% (2023F : 15%)

15% (2023: 15%) to the liability component. FE R E -



40. COMMITMENTS

20245 FH AIXKEE(EZER)AERAA

NCﬂESTOTHECONSOUDATH)HNANGALSWHEMENTS
KRB B R MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024 Ek B2024F3H31HIFFE

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the

reporting period:

iR

AEBNREMREATEARALE :

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHET

Capital commitments for the Guoyang BOT 85 BBOTIE B 898 AR A ¥
project 1,792 1,730
Capital commitments for the Yixing project BEAIEE KB R RE 124,191 =
125,983 1,730

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

BBt X 5

In addition to the balances and transactions detailed elsewhere (a) BZESEEVBHREREMBYF
in these consolidated financial statements, the Group had the WEBRRZ SN REBRFEARNR
following material transactions with related parties during the BB FETUTERRS
year:
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#T FAET
Related companies*: Bzl NS
Interest expenses MEFHEZ 5,205 5,519
e The related companies are controlled by Mr. Chu Shu Cheong, a key * ZEEMAAAARAQAFTEETREA
management personnel of the Company. BARB B LREES -
The above transactions were entered into based on terms MZ S HIRBEEI N EERE
mutually agreed between the relevant parties. B IEFRET S ©
Compensation of key management personnel of the (b) XEBEFTEZEASHHM

(b)
Group

Remuneration of key management personnel of the Group,
including directors’ remuneration as disclosed in note 10 to
the consolidated financial statements, is as follows:

AEEETRE

EAENFHH(BREK

A 85 REM 10K B M0 F 5 B)
m :

219

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTER FH T

Short term employee benefits HEEERET 9,154 7,836

Post-employment benefits BER 2R A 72 51

Equity-settled share option expense LA E R B AR 995 605
Total compensation paid to key ENEZETEABHMH

management personnel 4 10,221 8,492
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42. HFEHESHLEMIA
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are CREEREMABLATEDBREER
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models ReREMBEIMHNAREEEXNEE -
based on discounted cash flow analysis. The directors of the KRABEERE R E MR TP AEH
Company consider that the carrying amounts of the financial assets KAAENEREERSRBENREEA
and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the HENFERSE -

consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBEPR SESRTANEESEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: ™~

2024 20245

Financial assets EHEE

Financial assets

at amortised cots

RE B ATEN
SHEE
HKS$’000
FHET
Trade and retention receivables ZZRWBHIERERRE 2 121,982
Receivables under service concession arrangements FEFR LT HE T A E IR IE 61,296

Financial assets included in deposits and other receivables &t A% 4 K E b fE U 3R 18 &Y 4 R/t
BE 178,381
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBASEFEBY 37,321
Loan receivables JE W E 3R 39,115
438,095

Financial liabilities EHERE

Financial liabilities

at amortised cost

RS AT EN

LRIEE

HK$°'000

FHET

Trade and retention payables EoRNREREMNRE 2 159,786
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals =+ A E fth &~ Z B & =1 & B K

TREE 75,518

Amounts due to related parties JE 15 B Bt U5 SRIE 164,891

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FERITRAMEER 152,234

Bonds EE2 37,761

590,190
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42. HENESHEMIR (&)
(continued)
2023 20234
Financial assets PHEE

Financial assets
at amortised cots

R AT EN
TREE
HK$'000
FHET
Trade and retention receivables ZZRWHRIERERRE & 102,930
Receivables under service concession arrangements FRET A R BE T MY FE IR IE 63,723
Financial assets included in deposits and other receivables &t A3% 4 K H b g U X TE £ £ &b
BE 160,254
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEED 134,540
Loan receivables JEUWE R 41,762
503,209
Financial liabilities EHEE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
BB ARG 2R
CREE
HK$'000
F# T
Trade and retention payables ZE2RNREREMRE £ 122,918
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals & A E {th fE <t Z0IB K fE = B R B
TRIBE 77,862
Amounts due to related parties JE 1<F BA Bt 7 3R 1B 160,222
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings AERRITRAMEER 166,990
Convertible bonds MRk ES 2,376
Bonds EE2 20,000

550,368
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43.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments, other than derivatives,
comprise cash and cash equivalents and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to finance the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade and retention receivables,
contract assets, loan receivables and receivables and contract assets
under service concession arrangements, financial assets included in
deposits and other receivables, loan receivables, trade and retention
receivables. in trade and
payables, other payables and accruals, amounts due to related
parties, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
liability component of convertible bond, which mainly arise directly

Financial liabilities included retention

bonds and

from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The board of directors reviews and agrees on the policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest-rate risk mainly arises from amounts due to
related parties, interest-bearing other borrowings, bonds and
convertible bond as disclosed in notes 24, 28, 29 and 39.

Amounts due to related parties, interest-bearing other borrowings,
liability component of convertible bonds and bonds were issued at
fixed rates which expose the Group to interest-rate risk. The Group
has no cash flow interest-rate risk as there are no borrowings which
bear floating interest rates. The Group has not used any financial
instruments to hedge potential fluctuations in interest rates. The
Group mitigates this risk by closely monitoring the movements in
interest rates and reviewing its available credit facilities and their
utilisation regularly.

43. BEEGEEEHERBEK

AEENEESMTAEBTETARIN G

FRENRSEEWURGTERTREAM

BE ZESHMIENFTERENALE
EEEEE ASKEEEMZHESBEE

&Zétufﬁﬂﬁﬂ 2 5 I WURR B JE AR B
T ARNEE BREFRARSFEEHE
?%#J@EH&ZMIE&E' MEE StARENRE
MEYHIENEREE BREX B5
EURHRERERFES -SBRBESAR

ZENFELENRES  EMENRIE
NEFTER - BB IR R RRT
REMESR - ﬁ%&—ﬁﬁﬂxﬂ%ZEij
D ITREAKEZEEEREL -

AEEERTAMELENTIERR R EX

Rk - SNERR  EERRNEREE SR
ReoEETRIMBEFBEREZSAR
RYBER - BB o
) 3 a1 b
AREBHN R EREEHREMNE24 28
20K 39FT IR R MO JE AT A B 7 5R0R - AT R H
WEE ExRAsRkEs-

FERTRERE D FOR - St B HMEER - AR
BHrzaEHs REFNEE B XRET
G'EZJK;'%%%f'J“RHMC’ZKEIIEEEQ
mENERR FXEEENTEFE

1 0 5 B L1
=R FEKEEPERFIELD Im
HRNETAEEREREDAER A

EH AR -
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43. iR EGEEEERBE (&)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in the interest rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax (through the impact
on floating rate borrowings and equity).

R E M (E)
TREINEMAEMBEES TR ZBER
T AEBZBRBEINER, (B18)(EETF
ERERESZEE)BMNERAELRALZ
REEPIHEE -

Increase/
(decrease) in

Increase/ profit/(loss)

(decrease) In before tax and

percentage equity

BrBiaTEE R,

Eatb#Em, (B548) R fEis

(i) Wi GE )

HK$’'000

FAET

As at 31 March 2024 120243 A31H 0.5% (496)
(0.5%) 496

As at 31 March 2023 2023F3A31H 0.5% (495)
(0.5%) 495

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and PRC with most of the
transactions denominated and settled in HK$, Renminbi (“RMB"),
which are the functional currencies of respective group companies.
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk primarily arises from
certain financial instruments which are denominated in United States
dollars (“US$"), which are currencies other than the functional
currency.

The Group has no significant foreign currency risk because the Hong
Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar, the Group's
exposure to foreign currency risk in respect of the assets and
liabilities denominated in United States dollars is considered to be
minimal. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to
hedge against its foreign currency risk. The Group mitigates this risk
by closely monitoring the movements in foreign exchange rates.

S5 L B
AEBTIEREARTELLEER  BX
BORXRSZAMBEERRNEERET
RARETARBDHAELREE A& H
mH eI ERBREERBAET([ET])
(AThee B AN ER) FTENETERT
B

MRETTEETTAS  BLIAK TR ENE
ERBEEHNIIMNERRBERSMAR
B MAKRELYEEANINERR - NEE
WEEBITE SR T AR HIMNERR - &
SEEBEYERIIEEREE RESF
7R L B
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43.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group mainly transacts with creditworthy third parties.
Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group's other financial assets, which comprise
financial assets included in cash and cash equivalents, arises from
default of the counterparties, with a maximum exposure equal to
the carrying amounts of these instruments.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain
concentrations of credit risk as 54% (2023: 37%) and 92% (2023:
73%) of the Group’s trade and retention receivables were due from
the Group’s largest debtor and the 5 largest debtors, respectively.

A detail analysis on the Group's credit policy, deposits and other
receivables, loan receivables, and credit risk arising from trade and
retention receivables, contract assets, receivables and contract assets
under service concession arrangements are set out in note 22, 23,
21, 20(a), 16(b) and 16(c) respectively.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is
mainly based on past due information unless other information is
available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 March 2024.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.

43. M RGEEEHERKE (&)

EEE R
AEBTEREBARNES FRAR
5 - R B RERES - T
AEBFEBHEERRY TEX-

AEBEEMEREE (BRAARE R
%%E%E’J%%ﬂﬁ%)ﬁ’ﬂ%%ﬂ o =
FHEYD BREARENZETANKE
TR

R EHR BN A% E K54% (2023
HF37% ) 292% (20234 : 73% ) & 5 JE
WHERERREED R ARKAEERN

BEAROREBA #EERRE —TH
SPRE-

ERAEENEERR R REMEW
HIE -~ R EFRIA M E 5 1 WRIE R W

REBEL GHEE FOLEETHEK
HEMGHEEEENEERRNFMAY
Moo Bl # R M 22 023021 20() ¢
16(b) K. 16(c) °

B KB P & R PEEx
TERHENBEAEBEERR ZEEEXR
MEERBZEARB(EEXZREAT
AN (BRIEBEMEFTBZR ARG
HENAEBER) EE) MR2024F3A
BSTHZFRBESE -
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

2024 F R AIEEE(ER)EBRATF

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) BEXEMBREEREE(Z)
As at 31 March 2024 202453531
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 B
EH
EERE Y ENEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FE1PEER F2PEEE SE3MEEE kA E @t
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
TER TER FTERT TER TER
Trade and retention 2 5 WA R
receivables* EWRE & * — — — 121,982 121,982
Receivables under service R BT
concession arrangements* JE U 3k 18 — — — 61,296 61,296
Contract assets* AR EE — — — 54,170 54,170
Contract assets under service $FHFEEELTHEY
concession arrangements* BE* — — — 40,329 40,329
Financial assets included in AR © & H M FE Uk
deposits and other RERESHEE
receivables
— Normal** — IEE** 176,512 — — — 176,512
— Doubtful** — R — 2,182 — — 2,182
Cash and cash equivalents e hBEEEYD
— Not yet past due — 18K 180 Bf 37,321 — — — 37,321
Loan receivables FEU & R
— Not yet past due — 18K #1 Bf 39,115 — — — 39,115
252,948 2,182 — 277,777 532,907

225
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

43.

MBEESEEEERBR (&

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) RXERRERMEE (&)
As at 31 March 2023 202338318
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A
78 B
EEEE >HEHEEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Tota
FRER FAMRER FE3EE  BWEFE a5
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FAET FAET FET FAET
Trade and retention E 5 WA R
receivables* FEUWIRE & * — — — 102,930 102,930
Receivables under service FET ISR B
concession arrangements* JFEE U 3% T * — — — 63,723 63,723
Contract assets* AR EE — — — 35,748 35,748
Contract assets under service FEFE&&E LT HE
concession arrangements* AHEE — — — 42,466 42,466
Financial assets included in AR S &H i FE IR
deposits and other RERNESREE
receivables
— Normal** —= B s 160,254 — — — 160,254
— Doubtful** — R — — — — —
Cash and cash equivalents RehBEEEYD
— Not yet past due — R E A 134,540 — — — 134,540
Loan receivables FEU & K
— Not yet past due — R A 41,762 — — — 41,762
336,556 — — 244,867 581,423
3 For trade and retention receivables, contract assets and receivables and e RAEEERBEEETRENHE S EK

FERERRBES ANEE  AREF
KERTHEBRBRENEENS  ER
BEEENERSIRGEMBRE
Bt 5£21 ~ 20(a) ~ 16(b) K2 16(c)# & °

contract assets under service concession arrangements to which the Group
applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on the
provision matrix is disclosed in notes 21, 20(a), 16(b) and 16(c), to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

FABRNREREGEKRENSREE
RABHABEHBETEMEERN T
RUARGEERBBREEN  WEEEERR
RIEF]-BA EREENEEERERR
RIRF]

T The credit quality of the financial assets included in deposits and other *x
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and
there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality
of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in
meeting financial obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group's
exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the
maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group monitors its
risk of a shortage of funds by considering the maturities of both its
financial liabilities and financial assets.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the wuse of bank and other
borrowings. The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents to meet its liquidity requirements. The maturity profile of
the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period,
based on the contractual undiscounted payment, is as follows:
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E20244F3/31H 1F F/Z

43.

HEEREREERBE ()

& & E BE
nBELRREAEERE D RERMNNE
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AEENSRABENE HRBRN KD
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2024

No fixed terms

of repayment/

Total on demand/
Carrying undiscounted less than Beyond
amount cash flow 1year 1to5 years 5 years
BEE
ERE/
KERRE BRER/
R &3 REBHE 1R 1ZE55E A5
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT TERT FTERT FTERT TERT
Trade and retention payables BEIHRNRERENRES 159,786 159,786 147,532 12,254 -
Financial liabilities included in other FEAE AN FRIE K E R B
payables and accruals femaE 75,518 75,518 75,518 - -
Amounts due to related parties P& BB 5 RROB 164,891 170,535 3,763 166,772 -
Interest-bearing bank and other SFERITREMBEE (i)
borrowings (note) 152,234 168,430 59,364 109,066 —
Bonds &7 37,761 38,535 38,535 — —
Lease liabilities HEAE 9,257 9,961 5,957 4,004 —
599,447 622,765 330,669 292,096 —
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43. i EMEEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REIELEM (E)

2023

No fixed terms
of repayment/

Total on demand/
Carrying  undiscounted less than Beyond
amount cash flow 1 year 1to 5 years 5 years
EEE
ERm/
REBRHE S RER/
FHSHE mE e 1R 1E55 HilsE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Trade and retention payables ZEORNREREMRES 122,918 122,918 118,506 4,412 —
Financial liabilities included in other SFAEMENRERESER
payables and accruals A= N=R 77,862 77,862 77,862 — —
Amounts due to related parties FEA RN 5 ROB 190,222 199,835 9,600 190,235 —
Interest-bearing bank and other FFERITREMEE (F5E)
borrowings (note) 166,990 171,890 68,070 103,820 —
Convertible bonds AR ES 2,376 3,440 3,440 — —
Bonds &5 20,000 22,472 350 22,122 —
Lease liabilities HEAE 13,609 13,826 5,174 8,652 —
593,977 612,243 283,002 329,241 —
Note: B 5
Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors did not believe that the loans BE MG  HEFRARSERTERREH
would be called in their entirety within 12 months from the end of the reporting K#E121 AR W%&%%( g ARAZEERHRR
period, and they considered that the loans would be repaid in accordance with the EXpaEAEEERHEE FHETEEEE K
maturity dates as set out in the loan agreements. This evaluation was made SENGE U BREI AR BNEEHBRR - T
considering: the consolidated financial position of the Group at the date of FEENFHRFAESERBEERINAEIEHE
approval of the consolidated financial statements; the lack of events of default; e
and the fact that the Group had made all previously scheduled repayments on
time.
In accordance with the terms of the loans which contained a repayment on RBERR ERFBFIREREZEBRCNERIE
demand clause, the maturity profile of those loans as at the end of the reporting F o ZEFERERESHRMRN R ERARHE
period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows: T
Within 1 year or
on demand 1 to 5 years Total
—ERFHREKR —E&RF @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FE T
As at 31 March 2024 MR202443A31H 9,500 — 9,500

As at 31 March 2023 202343 H31H — — —
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43. M EIGEEEERBEK (&
AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management EXER
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to AEREAEEMNTZEEERERNER
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and SELCEMEE N THEBERMNELRL
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to continue to provide T DQEERBRRIBHER RS HEMER
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. NG YE
The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital REEBGT BRI REBEERNERE
structure and strives to maintain a sound capital position and makes BMAO®FBENERRR I EELEAM
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic NHEZEREREENRREHFARER
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To EE - AEELGEERARTEEE ALK
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may return BATHIR AR AR ERERE - REZE
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made 202493 A318 &2023F3A31H IEFE -
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during AEBEBTEEANER BORIBEFTHE
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023. o
Capital of the Group comprises all components of shareholders’ AEEMNEABERRERNAEILS
equity.
The directors review the capital structure regularly. As part of this EETHRTELAEE RIRTR - EF
review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks CEEECRAREZBEERNIBENER
associated with class of capital. Based on recommendations of the o REBEZEZFNERZ ASBBEZTH
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through ARBITHENEERFEH L EERE
a new share issue as well as issue of new debts or repayment of BN AE 1 o PA20244 20234 3H31H K
existing debts. The net debts-to-equity ratios as at 31 March 2024 BB FREEERLENAT
and 2023 were as follows:
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FH& T
Total debts BERHHEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 9,257 13,609
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SERTRAMER 152,234 166,990
Convertible bonds AR E 5 — 2,376
Bonds &5 37.761 20,000
Amount due to related parties JE 1<F BA Bk 5 FRIE 164,891 190,222
Less: cash and cash equivalents HWoREMREEEY (37,321) (134,540)
Net debts B % 326,822 258,657
Equity attributable to owners of the Company $EBR ARG A AR 399,251 359,377
Net debts-to-equity ratio B FRE X 81.86% 71.97%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

AR A S EAE TP E A R AE RN
B D06 B A AR E R o
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 44. A A SN BEKAE

COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the QBRI E B R 8 # AR R R & B
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: ™~
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#IT FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERHEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHABARIZEE 390 390
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TENRRIE - e RH M ER
RIE 197 155
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG S 418,831 411,332
Cash and cash equivalents BehIRaEED 2,479 3,132
Total current assets mMEEEBE 421,507 414,619
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals EMENRELEGTER 3,539 5,500
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR NGRS 66,844 83,530
Interest-bearing borrowings FREEBE — 5,000
Convertible bonds Al 2 j% 1 5 — 2,376
Total current liabilities VEIR=REELE-C 70,383 96,406
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 351,124 318,213
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #&EERREERE 351,514 318,603
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FHREEE
Bonds E% 37,761 20,000
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EFEEEEE 37,761 20,000
NET ASSET BEE 313,753 298,603
EQUITY S
Share capital % 75 160,613 150,719
Reserves (note) i 5 (B 5E) 153,140 147,884
Total equity B 313,753 298,603
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 44. A A SN BIRKRRET (&)

45.

46.

COMPANY (continued)

Notes:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

BaE

ARBFEHEHENT

Share Convention
premium Share option option  Accumulated
account reserve reserve losses Total
% # id2 (E AR FERR BRIREREE RitisE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2022 202294 A18 587,205 5,579 624 (575,060) 18,348
Loss for the year and total FABERFRNEE
comprehensive income W as 4858
for the year — — — (16,964) (16,964)
Issue of shares BITRG 143,238 — — — 143,238
Share issued upon exercise TEEHFERERD
on debt conversion rights BT — 2,302 — - 2,302
Lapse of share options B % 4 2K K — (266) — 266 —
Issue of share upon exercise ITEEREREITRG
of shares options 1,507 (547) — — 960
At 31 March 2023 and M202343A31H &
1 April 2023 2023%F4A1H 731,950 7,068 624 (591,758) 147,884
Loss for the year and total FABEBLEFRNEE
comprehensive income LON-E
for the year — — — (41,870) (41,870)
Issue of shares BTG 24,512 — — — 24,512
Issue of equity-settled BITAEREENE
share options fi% #E — 9,988 — — 9,988
Lapse and forfeit of R R M S B OB W BB
share options % 4 — (368) — 368 —
Equity component of convertible FAEZITAIRRES
bonds issued during the year B #E 2 B — — 18,386 — 18,386
Redemption of convertible bonds & [2] AT £ j% & % — — (9,193) — (9,193)
Debt conversion rights exercised 1T {# {& 75 &2 # 4 9,912 — (9,817) — 95
Issue of share upon exercise of 7715 B f% i 18 21T IR 1
shares options 5,519 (2,181) — — 3,338
At 31 March 2024 72024434318 771,893 14,507 — (633,260) 153,140
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION 45. ERFBREX S

During the year, there is a major non-cash transaction which is the
contribution of Patented Technologies to an associate as capital
contribution. After the elimination, the non-cash gain recognised
should be RMB48,179,000 (equivalent to HK$52,946,000), details of
which are set out in note 7(ii).

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 21 June 2024.

46.

RAFE + AR BT —H B A E
BHERABEQNAIENEZIFEESR
oMtk EHEAMNERSUEERSA
R %48,179,0007T (#8 & 752,946,000/
TC) ¢ 1B ER B FETG) e

it B RS ER IR
EAMBHMRN2024F6 21 EEES
HEfE T 3% RE T 2 o
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEHBEME

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A31BLFE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#&x F& T F& T F&T FET
RESULTS ES
Revenue WA 628,236 545,189 654,851 591,523 837,168
Profit/(loss) before tax BE AR T (EE) 31,784 (14,706) 29,169 (66,845) (339,059)
Income tax credit/(expense)  FFEFi % (5 s%) 277 (4,016) (12,084) 3,240 26,605
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF (BB 32,061 (18,722) 17,085 (63,605)  (312,454)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRHF (BB B
attributable to: B
— Owners of the Company — ARQAREA A 2,863 (20,797) 5,504 (54,998) (295,679)
— Non-controlling interests — — FE#Z B 4 25 29,198 2,075 11,581 (8,607) (16,775)
32,061 (18,722) 17,085 (63,605) (312,454)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Total assets BEBE 1,104,069 1,032,996 812,604 1,083,365 1,302,100
Total liabilities BERE (637,590) (626,992) (573,159) (947,700) (1,147,875)
Net assets BEFE 466,479 406,004 239,445 135,665 154,225
Equity attributable to: EmEBER
— Owners of the Company — ARQAHEAE A 399,251 359,377 191,040 100,477 110,304
— Non-controlling interests — — FEZ AR 25 67,228 46,627 48,405 35,188 43,921
466,479 406,004 239,445 135,665 154,225
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